
 

Nillumbik Shire Council 

Annual Report 2017-2018 



 

2 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Year at a glance 

COUNCIL PLAN GOAL – ENGAGED, CONNECTED COMMUNITIES 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Adopted Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021, 
developed an action plan to support its 
implementation, and commenced 
implementation. 

Developed the ‘Participate Nillumbik’ online 
engagement portal which was launched during 
the community engagement process to develop 
a design for the Eltham North Playground 
rebuild. 

The Eltham Community and Reception Centre 
was re-opened following an extensive internal 
refurbishment of this facility. 

Established the first LGBTI working group, 
celebrated IDAHOBIT (17 May) and launched a 
grant program to support LGBTI community 
groups. 

CHALLENGES 

A high reliance on grants and external funding 
to resource community programs. 

Commonwealth Government is introducing 
significant reforms to aged care services across 
the country which impacts Council service 
delivery. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

Commence preparation of the 2050 
Shire/Community Plan, building on the 
development of other key strategies. 

Review Council’s community transport service 
so older residents in remote townships and rural 
areas have improved access. 

Deliver the Hurstbridge streetscape 
enhancements. 

Progress the development of an integrated 
community infrastructure plan. 

COUNCIL PLAN GOAL – ACTIVE & CREATIVE PEOPLE 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Continued implementation of the Recreation 
Trails Strategy, including completion of the 
Cherry Tree Road trail, progressing the Diamond 
Creek Trail through approval of Planning 
Scheme Amendment C107 and securing some 
funding towards the trail’s extension. 

Commenced detailed concept planning for 
various sports facilities, including Diamond 
Creek netball, Eltham Central community/sports 
hub and sportsground, Marngrook Oval pavilion, 
and the Diamond Valley Sports and Fitness 
Centre. 

Developed and adopted Arts and Culture Plan 
2018-2022 and commenced implementation of 
the first-year actions. 

 

Progressed delivery of the Eltham Leisure 
Centre aquatics redevelopment and stadium 
upgrade, and finalised upgrades to the health 
and fitness facility. 
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CHALLENGES 

Many community infrastructure projects are 
reliant on being successful in achieving 
significant external funding. 

The volume of capital works and compressed 
timeframes due to grant funding obligations. 

An arson attack on the Eltham North Adventure 
Playground has required the unplanned use of 
resources and additional funding. 

Redevelopment of Diamond Creek Netball 
pavilion has been delayed due to an objection 
from Melbourne Water on risk of flooding 
grounds. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

Commence review and update of the Open 
Space and Recreation Strategy. 

Commence works to implement the Plenty Park 
Masterplan. 

Open the Eltham Leisure Centre aquatic facilities 
to the public in September. 

 

Expected completion of the Eltham North and 
Research sporting pavilions, Eltham North 
Adventure Playground rebuild, Civic Drive 
precinct community facilities, as well as 
progress design of the Diamond Valley Sports 
and Fitness Centre redevelopment. 

COUNCIL PLAN GOAL – SAFE & HEALTHY ENVIRONMENTS 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Endorsed the program and associated 
timeframes for the Green Wedge Management 
Plan. 

Adopted the Domestic Animal Management 
Plan 2017-2021 and implemented first-year 
actions of the plan. 

Delivered new footpaths in Yarrambat, Wattle 
Glen, Research, and Hurstbridge. 

 

CHALLENGES 

Ensuring that the Fire Mitigation Strategy in 
development reflects a truly comprehensive 
approach to fire mitigation and allows for 
community consultation. 

 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

Following wider community engagement and 
consultation, adopt a new Green Wedge 
Management Plan. 

Review and update the Domestic Wastewater 
Management Plan and continue to advocate to 
Yarra Valley Water for prioritisation and 
extensions to the sewer network, including 
current Eltham South proposal. 

Review the graffiti management removal policy 
and service contract. 

Complete detailed design for the Operations 
Centre Masterplan. 

COUNCIL PLAN GOAL – A PROSPEROUS ECONOMY 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Completed streetscape works at Panton Hill. Progressed the review of Eltham & Diamond 
Creek Structure Plans.  
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Adopted and commenced an implementation 
plan for the St Andrews township. 

Completed the Diamond Creek streetscape 
beautification plan. 

CHALLENGES 

Implementation/delivery of many township and 
strategic plans are contingent on external funds. 

The proposed amendment to the Yarrambat 
Township Plan was slated for re-scoping 
following advice given by the office of the 
Minister for Planning. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

Adopt a new Nillumbik Economic Development 
Strategy and create a set of indicators to 
measure success. 

Develop a new Hurstbridge township plan. 

Begin community engagement in late 
July/August for both Diamond Creek and Eltham 
Activity Centres review.  

Explore the development of the former Eltham 
Shire offices and adjacent land, and undertake 
public realm improvements to support the 
activity centre plans. 

COUNCIL PLAN GOAL – RESPONSIBLE LEADERSHIP 

ACHIEVEMENTS 

Delivered a zero rate increase in 2017-2018. 

 

Progress towards having a fleet of low emission 
vehicles. 

Commenced developing the Customer 
Experience Strategy, including implementing 
enhancements to online payment processes for 
customers. 

A major restructure of the organisation ensuring 
the necessary skills to deliver the Council Plan 
2017-2021. 

CHALLENGES 

Contingency planning has commenced around 
the anticipated introduction of the Local 
Government Bill 2018. 

Advocacy on key issues ahead of the 2018 
Victorian state election. 

THE YEAR AHEAD 

Ensure that residential rate increases are at 
least 0.25 per cent below the legislated rate cap 
in 2019-2020. 

Seek authorisation from Minister for Planning to 
commence a planning scheme amendment to 
rezone 14 Council-owned properties to Public 
Park and Recreation Zone. 

Ramp up advocacy on key issues ahead of the 
2019 Commonwealth election. 

Building organisational capability in community 
engagement and customer service. Taking 
innovative approaches to improving efficiency. 
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About the annual report 

Nillumbik Shire Council’s Annual Report 2017-2018 is an important part of Council’s commitment 
to open and accountable governance.  

The report informs our community and stakeholders – including residents, ratepayers, businesses, 
visitors, prospective staff, government agencies and other interested groups – and reflects 
Council’s commitment to making Nillumbik a better place for current and future generations. 

The Annual Report is a thorough overview of the Council’s performance in the 2017-2018 financial 
year against the five strategic objectives set out in the Council Plan 2017-2021 and Budget 2017-
2018. 

The report details Council’s operations and performance during the financial year consistent with 
the State Government’s Local Government Performance Reporting Framework (LGPRF), which 
came into effect on 1 July 2014. 

The report highlights achievements and challenges in key operational areas and provides 
comprehensive corporate governance information as well as audited financial statements. 

It includes issues impacting the sustainability of Nillumbik and our organisation, and our financial 
and sustainability performance. 

The report also includes statutory reporting and legislative information, and fulfils Council’s 
statutory responsibilities under the Local Government Act 1989 and other legislation. The previous 
annual report was published in September 2017. 

 

Council offices 

Civic Drive Greensborough VIC 3088 

Telephone 03 9433 3111 

Fax 03 9433 3777 

nillumbik@nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

www.facebook.com/nillumbikcouncil  

@nillumbikshire  

PO Box 476 Greensborough VIC 3088 

  

mailto:nillumbik@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/
http://www.facebook.com/nillumbikcouncil
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The structure of this report 

This report is divided into four broad sections:  

1. An overview of Nillumbik Shire Council and the community we serve (pages 2-59)  
2. Our performance against the five strategic objectives of the Council Plan 2017-2021 (pages 60-

104) 
3. Corporate information and statutory reporting (pages 105-135) 
4. Financial and performance statements (pages 136-201). 

How to obtain a copy of this Annual Report 

Additional copies of this Annual Report can be obtained by:  

1. Logging onto the publications section of Council’s website: www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au  
2. Telephoning Customer Service on 9433 3111 
3. Sending an email to nillumbik@nillumbik.vic.gov.au  
4. Writing to Nillumbik Shire Council, PO Box 476 Greensborough VIC 3088. 

Nillumbik welcomes your feedback and ideas about this report. If you want to provide feedback or 
would like more information on any matters contained in this report, please contact the 
Organisational Performance department on 9433 3111 or email nillumbik@nillumbik.vic.gov.au. 

  

http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/
mailto:nillumbik@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
mailto:nillumbik@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
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Snapshot of the Shire 

The Shire of Nillumbik is known as the Green Wedge Shire and covers an area of 432 square 
kilometres 25 kilometres north east of Melbourne. 

Nillumbik has a population of 64,720 people who enjoy a healthy, safe, family-friendly lifestyle 
within close-knit communities. 

Nillumbik is a collection of townships, each with its own unique identity and heritage, including 
the tiny villages of Smiths Gully, Watsons Creek, Arthurs Creek, Strathewen, Panton Hill, Christmas 
Hills, Kangaroo Ground and St Andrews, as well as the very rural township of Hurstbridge. 

The major activity centres are Eltham, Diamond Creek and Hurstbridge. Our townships offer 
residents and visitors distinctive village-style shopping, access to professional services and public 
transport, and places to meet and socialise. Striking mud-brick buildings and award-winning 
wineries complement the Shire’s unique and diverse landscape. Residents feel connected to their 
local townships and have a strong sense of community. The community values and wants to 
enhance the Green Wedge with its history and diversity, its open spaces, bushland environment 
and artistic heritage.  

Council and private landholders work collaboratively to act as custodians of the Green Wedge. 

The Shire of Nillumbik has a relatively healthy and affluent community which lives largely in family 
units in single-dwelling properties. 

Our community has a high rate of employment with 95.7 per cent of our residents employed 
either full or part time. Of those, 76 per cent drive their car to work. More than 85 per cent of our 
residents own or are purchasing their home. 

Profile in brief 

Area: 431.94 square kilometres 

Total population: 64,720 

Rateable properties: 23,383 

Percentage of population aged 0-17 years: 24.2 per cent 

Percentage of population aged 60 years and over: 19.8 per cent 

High income households ($2,500 per week or more): 35 per cent 

Low income households (less than $650 per week): 9.9 per cent 

Couples with children: 47 per cent 

Couples without children: 24.7 per cent 

Medium and high-density housing: 6.5 per cent 

Households with a mortgage: 47.8 per cent 

Households renting: 9.3 per cent 

People speaking a language other than English at home: 9 per cent 

University qualification (Bachelor or higher): 28.4 per cent 

Unemployment: 4.3 per cent 

People who travelled to work by car (either as driver or passenger): 80 per cent 
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Mayor’s message 

I’m proud to have led a team of Councillors who have continued to drive positive change within 
Nillumbik. A Council that has put ratepayers first, continued to deliver our low rating strategy, 
reduce the debt burden, deliver on a number of much-needed community infrastructure projects 
and upgrades, and drive a customer first and customer service culture.  

First year of new Council Plan 2017-2021 

Our four-year Council Plan is an ambitious plan for our Shire. A plan the organisation has been 
working on relentlessly in order to realise our vision of Australia’s most liveable Shire. The Council 
Plan has five key strategic objectives that we believe will help us – in collaboration with the 
community – reach our vision. They include:  

         Engaged and connected communities 

         Active and creative people 

         Safe and healthy environments 

         A prosperous economy 

         Responsible leadership. 

I congratulate and thank the dedicated staff who continue to deliver on the 117 priority actions in 
the Council Plan. 

There were a number of highlights in the 2017-2018 financial year.  

Financial 

Council delivered a zero rates rise. This was a first for Nillumbik and the only Council in Victoria to 
do so. We were proud to have delivered this achievement and, as a result, have gained huge 
respect from councils around the state. Through strong and responsible financial management, we 
achieved this while managing to increase the services we provide to the community. We also 
continued to deliver on a large debt reduction program – a burden left by previous councils. 

Green Wedge Management Plan 

I have been humbled by the response to the priority given to the increased and thorough 
community engagement and consultation. The Green Wedge Management Plan Review project 
has commenced, with the endorsement of a four-stage community engagement process. This will 
be the largest community consultation ever undertaken by Nillumbik Shire Council. We look 
forward to watching the Community Panel, represented by about 40 randomly and independently 
selected residents from the Shire, make recommendations to Council on updating the Green 
Wedge Management Plan. 

Community engagement 

We successfully implemented a new online engagement tool for the community – ‘Participate 
Nillumbik’ – which was used on several community engagement projects. The platform has been 
used to undertake significant community engagement on a number of key projects, including 
North East Link Advocacy, Building Nillumbik, Eltham North Adventure Playground redevelopment, 
Green Wedge Management Plan Review and Hurstbridge Open Space Precinct Master Plan. 
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More than 100,000 participants engaged with the Arts and Cultural Development program, with 
the year heralding an exciting new era for this sector with the adoption of the Arts and Cultural 
Plan 2018-2022. 

Capital works and infrastructure 

Capital works and infrastructure programs remain a focus for Council, with new footpaths in 
Yarrambat, Wattle Glen, Research, and Hurstbridge, and completed streetscape beautification 
works at Panton Hill and Diamond Creek. The delivery of the Eltham Leisure Centre aquatics 
redevelopment is also imminent.  

We have commenced detailed concept planning for various sports facilities, including Diamond 
Creek netball, Eltham Central community/sports hub and sportsground, Marngrook Oval pavilion 
and the Diamond Valley Sports and Fitness Centre. 

Throughout the year, our advocacy has secured more than $8 million from various State 
Government infrastructure funds to contribute towards more than $18 million of investment in 
nine community infrastructure priorities to support greater participation in a range of recreation 
pursuits, particularly for women and girls. 

Council has endorsed a program and timeframes to deliver the Diamond Creek Trail extension for 
completion by mid-2020, subject to securing external funding. An advocacy campaign was 
developed to support this initiative which resulted in securing $4 million from the State 
Government to fund sections of the Diamond Creek Trail.  

Support has been provided to the Diamond Creek Men’s Shed to improve their facility, and the 
Eltham Men’s Shed has moved into their new home located at the previous Wattletree Road pre-
school site.  

CEO changes 

We accepted the resignation of CEO Mark Stoermer in June 2018. Mark was widely praised for his 
hands-on leadership style and focused the organisation on continuous improvement. Mark led the 
team to embed a cultural change and was integral in the organisation’s transition to focus on 
innovation. Mark has moved to tropical north Queensland and taken on the role of CEO at the 
Douglas Shire Council. We thank Mark for his dedication to the organisation and to our 
community, and wish him every success in his new role. 

Council has appointed Carl Cowie as the new CEO commencing October 2018. Carl comes to 
Nillumbik from the CEO role at Mornington Peninsula Shire Council. Carl was born in Scotland and 
has an MBA as well as qualifications in economics and finance. His international experience ranges 
from healthcare, facilities management, transport, manufacturing and construction project 
management, and managing large diverse workforces and budgets. We look forward to Carl’s 
arrival and the stability and leadership he will offer the organisation and wider community.  

I am proud of the great things this Council has achieved and what we have to look forward to in 
the coming years. 

I thank my fellow councillors and council officers for their hard work and dedication that has gone 
into helping ensure we deliver for our community. It is an exciting time to live in our Shire and I 
look forward to playing our part in making Nillumbik Australia’s most liveable Shire. 
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Cr Peter Clarke 

Mayor 
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CEO’s message 

This Annual Report represents the first year of delivery of the Council Plan 2017-2021. I am 
pleased that Council has been able to deliver another strong financial result, outperforming 
budget expectations by $9 million, whilst delivering a zero per cent rate increase. However, 
Council’s financial sustainability continues to require active management year-on-year. The 
challenge remains to source alternate funding streams to maintain Council’s infrastructure 
portfolio to meet the future needs of the community. 

Consultation and engagement 

Improved communication and community engagement continue to be some of the biggest 
priorities for Council. An example of this is the engagement phase of the Green Wedge 
Management Plan which has and will continue to provide many opportunities for the community 
to share their thoughts and experiences about the green wedge. Recruitment started in June for 
the innovative Community Panel, which began meeting in August 2018 and will make 
recommendations to Council that will help to form the draft Green Wedge Management Plan. 

In addition, Council has run sessions on the Hurstbridge Streetscape Master Plan, the Hurstbridge 
Open Space Precinct Plan, the Graysharps Road Master Plan, the Diamond Creek Activity Centre 
Plan, Eltham precincts 3 and 4, Eltham North Adventure Playground and several road sealing 
projects involving special charge schemes.  

Two significant plans involving consultation and engagement were completed and launched this 
year: the Health and Wellbeing Plan (2017-2021) and the Arts and Culture Plan (2018-2022). 

Annual community survey 

The results from the 2018 Annual Community Survey of 500 randomly selected Nillumbik 
households showed an overall increase in satisfaction with Council. Residents rate our core 
services as excellent and are largely happier with these services than in the previous year. In 
particular, customer satisfaction improved across all measures, and the public indicated that 
Council is headed in the right direction. 

Customer experience 

A current priority focus for Council is Customer Experience. ‘Customer Experience’ can be defined 
as the ongoing interaction between Council and our customers throughout the duration of our 
relationship. Positive Customer Experience now extends beyond traditional customer or provider 
transactions (for example, applying for a planning permit or paying rates). Today, it is about the 
entire experience our customers have with us. 

Council recently received results from a study on customer service in which we were benchmarked 
against other councils across Australia. Nillumbik scored the highest in Australia on ease of doing 
business and highest in Victoria on overall satisfaction. The study provides insights into specific 
actions which can be taken to improve scores further.  

As an organisation, we have the aspiration of a customer first culture, where we continuously seek 
to improve, innovate and generate tangible improvements or outcomes for our customers across 
the business. A big focus for our organisation is to align Customer Experience with the customer 
delivery functions of the organisation. Council will be undertaking further work to ensure we listen 
and adapt to the way we interact with our customers to ensure the experiences we deliver are 
positive, solutions-focused, respectful, accessible, and add value. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Customer
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Customer_relationship_management
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Gender equity 

I have been incredibly proud to provide leadership and support to Council’s Gender Equity 
Working Group. This is hugely important work and while we have made a great start, we have a 
very long way to go as an organisation and a community. You might have seen our garbage truck 
carrying an eye-catching sticker to support Council’s advocacy in this space. It is hoped the stickers 
will be rolled out on more trucks. The messaging on the truck is part of a wider Gender Equity 
campaign for Council which includes the ‘16 Days of Activism against gender-based violence’ 
campaign. This campaign will continue to be a priority for Council as we work with the community 
to make Nillumbik safer and an equal place for all. 

The year ahead 

Much of the first-year delivery of the Council Plan 2017-2021 has involved the scoping and 
planning of key projects and actions. The second year will focus more on the actual delivery of key 
projects and actions. The adopted Annual Plan 2018-2019 contains 51 priority actions to deliver. In 
partnership with Council and the community, there is a lot of work for the administration to do. 
Some key headlines to look forward to in the next year include: 

 Progress the development of an integrated community infrastructure plan 

 Finalise Hurstbridge streetscape design and develop a new Hurstbridge township plan 

 Commence the review and update of the Open Space and Recreation Strategy 

 Start works to implement the Plenty Park Masterplan 

 Following the wider community engagement and consultation, adopt a new Green Wedge 

Management Plan 

 Adopt a new Nillumbik Economic Development Strategy and create a set of indicators to 

measure success 

 Begin community engagement in late July for the review of both Diamond Creek and Eltham 

Activity Centres  

 Ensure that residential rates increases are at least 0.25 per cent below the legislated rate cap 

in 2019-2020. 

All this while delivering quality services that meet the needs and expectations of our community. 

Thank you and good-bye 

I will be leaving Nillumbik in early September to move up north and take up the role of CEO at 
Douglas Shire Council. This has been a long-term ambition of mine, as I own a house there. This 
role came up and I felt I could not pass up the opportunity, as vacancies in this area are rare. As I 
complete my time at Nillumbik Shire Council, I would like to thank the Councillors for supporting 
me. The Council Plan 2017-2021 includes a big agenda to deliver. However, the Councillors have 
been highly engaged and provided a clear direction. A CEO could not ask for any more. 

I would also like to thank the staff for their professionalism and hard work throughout a time of 
significant organisational change. It has been an honour and a pleasure to work with such talented 
and dedicated people. Given the number of staff within Council’s administration, it is truly 
amazing what this organisation is able to deliver. I am incredibly proud of this year’s 
achievements, and I am confident that the staff will continue their hard work into the future and 
play an important role in realising Council’s vision of Nillumbik being Australia's most liveable 
Shire. 
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It has been a genuine pleasure to serve as the CEO of Nillumbik Shire Council, and I wish the 
community, Councillors and the administration all the very best. 

 

 

Mark Stoermer 

Chief Executive Officer 
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Financial summary 

Council’s financial sustainability continues to require active management year-on-year. The 
challenge remains to source alternate funding streams to maintain Council’s infrastructure 
portfolio to meet the future needs of the community.  

Overview 

Financial sustainability is a challenge for all councils, and sound financial planning is a cornerstone 
of good governance. 

Council achieved an operating surplus of $16.56 million in 2017-2018. This strong result exceeds 
the adopted budgeted surplus of $7.1 million. The positive result is driven primarily by 
contributions received during the year comprising monetary developer contributions and non-
monetary contributions in the form of assets. The result is buoyed by active management of 
operational expenditure across Council where actual spend overall is reflective of the adopted 
budget. 

Council has continued to improve on a past strong cash position ending the year with $46.7 
million. The funds are held in short-term investments in compliance with the Local Government 
Act 1989. Of the total cash balance, $36.49 million or 78 per cent is held for a specific purpose, 
restricting the use of these funds.  

The overall debt position of Council continues to improve. No new borrowings were taken out 
during the year and the existing loan portfolio is diminishing. Council foresees no risk in its ability 
to service the existing loans and does not expect to take out any new loans. 

The balance sheet illustrates a strengthening financial position through the growth in net assets. 
This growth is largely promoted through the continued work undertaken on Council’s extensive 
property and infrastructure portfolio totalling $922 million. The ongoing work has seen Council 
maintain, improve and expand facilities for the community.  

The healthy financial position continues to be seen when measuring Council’s ability to meet its 
short-term financial obligations. The liquidity ratio result indicates Council has sufficient levels of 
cash to cover short-term financial obligations. This ratio is considered important in the assessment 
of Council being able to continue operations from a financial perspective. 

 2018 

$’000 

2017 

$’000 

Surplus 16,557 15,922 

Cash 46,670 37,910 

Debt 12,736 13,460 

Net Assets 951,601 776,063 

Liquidity 3.37* 3.53 

*estimated result at time of publishing 

The overall financial outlook of Council for the 2017-2018 year has shown a positive result and 
places Council in a strong position to continue financially sustainable operations into the future.   
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Major capital works 

Project name Description Budget Progress 

Civic Drive Precinct 
upgrade 

 

Upgrade of the community facilities at Civic 
Drive including passive spaces and Outdoor 
Performance Centre. 

Proposed works include: 

 Levelling of southern space, installation 

of irrigation system and planting of new 

grass 

 Construction of path network 

 Installation of new playground and 

exercise equipment in the northern 

space adjacent to Outdoor performance 

centre 

 Installation of new irrigation system and 

planting of trees 

 Construction of new half-court 

basketball court in front of Outdoor 

Performance Centre and path network 

around space. 

Total budget: 

$1,285,000 

Council: 

$335,000 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

$950,000 

 

- Project documentation completed in May 

2017 

- Permits obtained in early August 

- Commenced construction in October 2017 

- Site designer engaged in April 2018 

- Design work completed in July 2018 

- Tender for works closed in July 2018 

- Contractor appointed in August 2018 

- Construction expected to commence in 

September 2018 

- Project completion estimated to be in 

December 2018. 

Diamond Creek 
Netball Pavilion 
redevelopment 

 

Redevelopment of the Diamond Creek 
Netball Pavilion and expansion of the car 
park. 

Redevelopment program includes: 

 Demolish existing pavilion and construct 
a new larger pavilion compliant to 

Total budget: 

$3,106,025 

Council: 

$200,000 

- Initial concept design completed in October 

2017 

- Invited tenders in January 2018 

- Appointed contractor in February 2018 

- Concept design endorsed in April 2018 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

Netball Victoria facility standards and 
agreed club requirements 

 A new social / community space 

 Modification and expansion of the 
existing car park. 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

$2,826,025 

DC Netball Association 
contribution: 

$80,000 

- Detailed design work delayed due to 

objection from Melbourne Water to 

redevelopment 

- State government funding withheld due to 

project uncertainty. 

Diamond Creek Trail 
extension 

This project extends Diamond Creek Trail 
eight kilometres from Diamond Creek to 
Hurstbridge. 

The recreation trail will be suitable for 
horse riders, cyclists and pedestrians. 

Extending the trail – one of the highest 
priority trail infrastructure projects in the 
region – will expand the network with 
connections to trails through the Shire’s 
Artisan Hills and Melbourne CBD via the 
Yarra Main Trail. 

(Total cost): 

$11,000,000 

Council: 

$4,000,000  

State Government Active 
Transport Fund: 

$4,000,000 

Funding shortfall: 

$3,000,000 

- Planning Scheme Amendment gazetted in 
December 2017 

- Council secured $4 million in the 2018 State 
budget 

- Council was unsuccessful in securing a 
Growing Suburbs Fund grant in the 2017 
round 

- Resubmitted an application in the 2018 
round 

- Council advocated to State and Federal 
Governments for funding. 

- Officers undertook preliminary work to 
commence the land acquisition process. 

Diamond Valley 
Sports & Fitness 
Centre 
redevelopment 

This project will redevelop the Centre into a 
modern, responsibly designed, fit-for-
purpose, accessible facility that meets the 
standards of Council, the Victorian 
Government and peak sporting bodies. 

 

Total budget: 

$6,500,000 

Council: 

$4,000,000 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

- Project plan and grant submissions 

completed in 2017 

- Concept plans completed in June 2018 

- Detailed designs for Stage 1A completed in 

June 2018 

- Commenced Stage 1A construction in August 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

Redevelopment program includes: 

Stage 1A : 

- Priority Works (lift from ground level to 
court level)  

Stage 1B: 

- Mid-level change room upgrade / 
refurbishment  

Stage 2: 

- New, larger entrance off the existing car 
park, including reception, foyer and café 

- New athlete/referee change facilities and 
increased storage 

- Improved accessible facilities to assist with 
pedestrian traffic flow 

- Improved basketball administration and 
social space 

- Improved first aid facilities 

- Court compliance works to court five. 

$2,500,000 2018 

- Project completion expected by end of 2020. 

Edendale Farm works 

 
The construction of a new kiosk, nursery 
point of sale and teaching shelters at 
Edendale Farm. 

Revised scope of works includes the 
construction of: 

 A nursery/shed 

Total budget: 

$895,000 

Council: 

$395,000 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

- Commenced project in December 2017 

- Works completed by August 2018. 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

 Additional amenities 

 Additional teaching shelters 

 A kiosk and deck area. 

$500,000 

 

Eltham Central 
Pavilion 
redevelopment 

 

Redevelopment of the Eltham Central 
Pavilion. 

Redevelopment program includes: 

 Demolish and reconstruct the existing 

change rooms 

 Extension and internal refurbishment of 

the existing social / community space. 

Total budget: 

$3,652,000 

Council: 

$2,452,000 

Growing Suburbs Funding: 

$1,200,000 

 

- Invited tender in early February 2018 

- Architects appointed late February 2018 

- Concept Plan completed April 2018 

- Application for planning permit submitted in 

late April 2018 

- Planning permit granted in August 2018 

- Invited tenders for construction in July-

August 2018 

- Construction tender expected to be awarded 

in September 2018. 

Eltham Leisure Centre 

redevelopment 

Major redevelopment of the Eltham Leisure 
Centre, with a new state-of-the-art aquatic 
facility incorporating: 

 A 25m x 15m pool, leisure water/learn 
to swim pool and a warm water program 
pool 

 Associated concourse and spectator 
areas 

 Sauna, steam room and spa facilities 

 Necessary amenities and change areas 

 Ancillary spaces such as first aid facilities 
and storage areas 

Total budget: 

$20,200,000 

Council: 

$13,400,000 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

$3,800,000 

Community Facility Funding 
Program (Better Pools): 

$3,000,000 

 

- Architects appointed in June 2015 

- Contract was awarded in August 2016 

- Demolition completed in October 2016 

- Construction commenced in November 2016 

- Official opening planned for 22 September 

2018. 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

 Integration with existing food and 
beverage / wet Lounge areas 

 Other rooms such as plant rooms, 
balance tank areas and consulting 
rooms. 

The centre’s gymnasium was upgraded 
earlier in 2018 and is now open around-the-
clock. 

Eltham Lower Park 
change rooms 
redevelopment 
 

The redevelopment of four change rooms 
to achieve a female friendly facility. 

Four unisex change rooms, construct 
shower cubicles, unisex toilet cubicles 
including ambulant facilities, introduction of 
accessible change facility and development 
of an umpires change room. 

 

Total budget: 

$275,500 

Council: 

$103,000 

Sport and Recreation 
Victoria funding: 

$100,000 

Club contributions: 

$72,500 

- Request for quote completed in March 2018 

- Contractor appointed in June 2018 

- Preliminary design completed and signed off 

in July 2018 

- Detailed designs completed in August 2018 

- Completion of construction expected in 

March 2019. 

Eltham North 
Adventure 
Playground rebuild 
 

The Eltham North Adventure Playground 
was destroyed by fire on 16 December 
2017. The purpose of this project is for 
Council to rebuild this iconic and much 
loved community asset. 

Redevelopment program includes: 

 Demolish the destroyed playground and 

Total budget: 

$907,573 

Council: 

$150,000 

State government grant: 

$50,000 

- Site demolition completed in January 2018 

- Initial community engagement & 

consultation in March 2018 

- Invited tenders for design and construction 

in April 2018 

- Appointed contractor in May 2018 

- Concept design approved in June 2018 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

make the site safe 

 Rebuild the playground like-for-like 

 Design process to include community 

feedback and consultation prior to 

construction 

 Build to standards and make accessible 

 Develop funding strategy, including 

fundraising, insurance, donations and 

in-kind 

 Consider traffic and car parking 

requirements. 

Bendigo Bank contribution: 

$16,444 

Insurance settlement: 

$691,129 

 

- Car park works commenced in July 2018 

- Construction of main playground 

commenced in August 2018. 

Eltham North Reserve 
Pavilion upgrade 

 

Upgrade of the existing pavilion and hall 
facilities for the soccer club, cricket club, 
scouts and community hall. 

Proposed works include: the demolition of 
the existing sports pavilion, the 
construction of new pavilion facilities, 
modifications to the scout storage areas, 
and improvements to the foyer, kitchen and 
toilets that service the community hall. 
Some car parking will need to be reinstated 
as part of the project. 

Total budget: 

$4,696,416 

Council:  

$2,026,416 

State Government Election 
Commitment: 

$2,000,000 

Club contributions: 

$520,000 

Other: 

$150,000 

(Note: the $520,000 club 
contribution will offset 

- Activity schedule and schematic plans 

completed in December 2017 

- Tender documentation completed in March 

2018 

- Contractor appointed in June 2018 

- Construction commenced in August 2018 

- Completion expected in late August 2018. 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

Council's contribution if the 
entire amount of 
$4,696,416 is not required) 

Marngrook Oval 
Pavilion development 

 

Development of a new pavilion to provide a 
new home for female and junior-focussed 
seasonal sporting clubs. 

Sports pavilion to include four change 
rooms, storage, public toilets, first aid 
room, umpires room and kiosk. 

Total budget: 

$1,626,908 

Council: 

$1,210,258 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

$416,650 

 

- Completed initial concept design in October 

2017 

- Invited tenders in January 2018 

- Appointed contractor in February 2018 

- Concept design approved in April 2018 

- Detailed design completed in late June 2018 

- Invited tenders for construction in July 2018 

- Construction contractor appointed in late 

August. 

Research Park 
Pavilion 
redevelopment 

The pavilion requires redevelopment to 
improve building accessibility and to meet 
current building standards in relation to 
universal design and sporting association 
standards. 

The new change facilities will also cater for 
the increasing number of female members 
playing cricket and football at the clubs and 
encourage more females to participate in 
sport. 

Upgrading the social rooms will provide a 
new meeting space for wider community 
use. 

Total budget: 

$3,035,000 

Council: 

$1,925,000 

Sporting Clubs: 

$160,000 

Sports and Recreation 
Victoria Female Friendly 
Facilities Grant: 

$100,000 

Government Election 
Commitment: 

- Concept design signed off in July 2017 

- Detailed design work signed off in December 
2017 

- Contract awarded in May 2018 

- Preliminary works commenced in July 2018 

- Construction is estimated to be completed in 

March 2019. 
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Project name Description Budget Progress 

$200,000 

Growing Suburbs Fund: 

$650,000 

Susan Street Reserve 
Pavilion upgrade 

 

The Susan Street Reserve Pavilion female-
friendly facilities upgrade will redevelop the 
existing change rooms to create two female 
friendly change rooms with ambulant 
access, reconfigure referee change room to 
include female friendly cubicles and 
upgrade public toilets to be female-friendly, 
accessible and safe. 

The scope of works include: 

• Redevelopment of existing change-rooms 
to create two female-friendly change rooms 
with ambulant accessibility 

• Reconfiguration of referee change room 
to include female-friendly cubicles 

• Public toilets to be designed to be female-
friendly, contemporary accessibility, safety 
and comfort 

• Facilities designed according to Universal 
Design and Ecologically Sustainable 
Development specifications. 

Total budget: 

$315,000 

Council: 

$95,000 

Sport and Recreation 
Victoria funding: $100,000 

Club contributions: 

$80,000 

Other funding for disability 
access work: 

$40,000 

 

- Request for tender completed  in March 

2018 

- Contractor appointed in June 2018 

- Preliminary designs completed and signed 

off in July 2018 

- Detailed design scheduled completed in early 

September 2018 

- Project completion expected in late March 

2019. 

Wattle Glen Pavilion 
extension 

Extension of the existing Wattle Glen 
Pavilion to provide female-friendly change 
facilities. 

Total budget: 

$750,000 

- Contract awarded in November 2017 

- Preliminary works commenced in March 



 

25 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Project name Description Budget Progress 

Construct a new player change facility 
adjacent to the existing pavilion.  

The player change facility will include: two 
female-friendly change facilities and 
amenities, umpire change facilities, 
accessible change facilities, first aid and 
club storage. 

The player change facility will connect into 
the existing pavilion's deck. 

Council: 

$650,000 

Sports and Recreation 
Victoria Female Friendly 
Facilities Grant: 

$100,000 

 

2018 

- Construction is estimated to be completed in 
November 2018 

- Handover is estimated to be in December 

2018. 

 

  



 

26 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Sustainability initiatives 

Environmental sustainability 

Community Bank Stadium – renewable energy innovation 

Community Bank Stadium (CBS) is about to undergo an innovative renewable energy upgrade, 
thanks to a $234,000 New Energy Jobs Fund Grant awarded during 2017-2018. Council support has 
boosted the budget to $442,023. 

Installation of 99.96 kW of rooftop solar PV, 106 Kwh of Lithium Ion batteries and Council’s first 
electric vehicle charging station will be completed in the first half of 2018-2019. 

The solar PV system is anticipated to generate about 146,000 kWh per year (146 MWh/yr.) toward 
electricity requirements and supplying up to 75 per cent of the stadium’s peak demand. The 
batteries alone are anticipated to contribute 23,900 kWh per year (23.9 MWh/yr.). 

Overall reduction in grid demand will be around 49 per cent, with electricity bill cost savings 
calculated to be at least $640,340 over the life of the system. 

CBS is also an Emergency Relief Centre and, in the event of an emergency, the electrical system 
will continue operating during grid failure. This unique islanding capacity is generating much 
interest among other councils and businesses across the region. 

Leading the way with green cars 

Council has entered into a 12-month pilot program with Hyundai Australia as part of a wider Low 
Emissions Fleet Assessment Project. Council now has three Hyundai Ioniq Hybrid vehicles that are 
used as pool vehicles. 

These vehicles are powered by a combination of unleaded fuel and an on-board battery pack that 
charges itself when coasting down hills or braking. Early fuel consumption reports show a fuel 
economy of around 5 litres per 100 km. 

Business energy efficiency 

More than 30 food businesses are participating in Council’s Enabling Business Energy Efficiency 
program which assists local restaurants and cafes to improve the energy efficiency of their 
business. 

This project is funded by Sustainability Victoria and aims to help businesses help themselves.  

Eight workshops have been run to train business owners in how to save on their power bills, with 
two businesses already taking steps which will save them $6,000 per year by making small 
changes. Following the workshops, participants receive support in their businesses to help them 
identify opportunities to save. 

Rivers to Ranges Peri-Urban Weed Management Partnership Initiative 

This initiative, with $572,385 of funding from the Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning (DELWP) over four years, is a regional collaboration led by Nillumbik Council with other 
councils in the region (Whittlesea and Manningham) and other government and private land 
managers. 

The aim of this partnership is to reduce the threat of weeds to key biodiversity assets on public 
land and improve habitat corridor function at a landscape scale between the Yarra River corridor 



 

27 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

and Kinglake Ranges. There is strong engagement with residents across the region, particularly 
through Landcare, to encourage and enable complementary weed control and biodiversity 
protection. 

In addition to the core funding, this collaboration has leveraged significant additional funding and 
resources for the protection of biodiversity across the region. 

Conservation futures – threat reduction 

This 2017-2018 biodiversity protection and enhancement project received funding of $125,000 
from the Department of Environment, Land Water and Planning and is led by Nillumbik Council 
with partners including the Nillumbik Landcare Network, Trust for Nature, and Parks Victoria. The 
focus is on ground works to assist in the conservation of nine key threatened species in Nillumbik 
and surroundings. These species include Brush-tailed Phascogale, Slender-tailed Dunnart, Eltham 
Copper Butterfly, Round-leaf, Pomaderris, Matted Flax-lily, Clover Glycine, Rosella Spider Orchid, 
Charming Spider Orchid and Wine-lipped Spider Orchid. The project provides funding to public 
land managers, Landcare groups and land owners to achieve 1,450 hectares of fox control, 370 
hectares of weed control, fencing important vegetation and enhancement plantings.  

Land management incentives 

Council provides grants to private land owners and community groups for land management 
activities, including erosion control, biodiversity fencing, rabbit control, weed control, 
revegetation and other land protection projects. In addition, Council provides rate rebates to 
promote sustainable agricultural practices (Sustainable Agriculture Rebate) and for private land 
owners with Trust for Nature covenants on their property. 

The following table shows the type of incentive and the number provided for the past two years: 

Incentive Measure 2016-17 2017-18 

Land Management Incentive Program 
grants 

No of grants to individuals or community 
groups 

67 61 

Value of grants $99,162 $92,748 

Sustainable Agriculture Rebate 

 

No of agricultural businesses receiving 
the rebate 

48 48 

Value of rebate $47,167 $47,167 

Trust for Nature Covenant Rebate 

 

No of properties receiving the rebate 54 54 

Value of rebate $16,405 $16,405 

 

Social sustainability 

Volunteering 
Volunteering is at the heart of community-building. It encourages people to be responsible and 
active citizens and provides them with an environment where they can be engaged and make a 
difference. Additionally, research supports the concept that high levels of volunteering equate 
with higher levels of general health and wellbeing within the community. 
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The opportunities for volunteering in Nillumbik are vast, including volunteering with the Country 
Fire Authority (CFA) or State Emergency Services (SES), participating in activities with Landcare 
groups, to mentoring learner drivers through the L2P Learner Driver Program, being a member of 
a theatre group or engaging with the broader community through the involvement with 
community and farmers’ markets. 

The Shire of Nillumbik has traditionally had, and continues to have, high volunteer and civic 
participation rates. The 2016 Census showed that 24 per cent of Nillumbik residents volunteered 
in the previous 12 months compared to 19.2 per cent for Victoria and 19 per cent nationally. 
Nillumbik also rates relatively high in community indicators in the areas of community 
connectedness and general health.  

Each year, through the thousands of hours volunteers contribute to the Nillumbik community, we 
know that social connectedness is enhanced and quality of life outcomes are improved. 

Female participation in sport  
Council secured more than $8 million from the Victorian State Government's Growing Suburbs 
Fund, Community Sports Infrastructure Fund and Female Friendly Facilities Fund towards more 
than $18 million investment in nine community infrastructure priorities to support greater 
participation in a range of recreation pursuits, particularly by women and girls. Cross-government 
investment delivers: 

 Upgrades to sportsground lighting at Eltham Central Oval, Eltham and Marngrook Oval, 
Diamond Creek 

 Improvements to sports pavilions at Eltham Lower Park, Eltham Central Oval and Susan Street 
Reserve, Eltham and redevelopment of the netball pavilion at Diamond Creek Reserve, and 
development of a new pavilion at Marngrook Oval, Diamond Creek 

 Improved pedestrian connections in Diamond Creek with a pedestrian crossing on VicTrack 
land 

 Priority access and compliance upgrade works at Diamond Valley Sports and Fitness Centre. 

Council actively campaigned to State Government to continue the Growing Suburbs Fund, 
resulting in the announcement of a further $50 million investment into Interface Councils in the 
2018 State budget. Advocacy to the Federal Government to reinstate Council's eligibility to the 
Building Better Regions Fund has been positively received, and Council awaits the release of the 
funding guidelines for the next round in mid-2018. 

Council continues to seek State Government investment in community infrastructure with 
applications lodged or under development for more than $10 million in State Government funding 
through the Growing Suburbs Fund, Community Sports Infrastructure Fund, Better Indoor 
Stadiums Fund and Female Friendly Facilities Fund towards: 

 Redevelopment of the Greensborough Hockey Club pavilion, Plenty War Memorial Park, Plenty 

 Extension of Diamond Creek Trail between Diamond Creek and Hurstbridge 

 Development of a regional playspace in Diamond Creek 

 Streetscape upgrades in Hurstbridge and Kangaroo Ground 

 Redevelopment of Eltham North Adventure Playground 

 3-court extension at Diamond Valley Sports and Fitness Centre, Greensborough to better 
service the region 

 Upgrade to sportsground lighting at Eltham Lower Park. 
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Financial sustainability 

Nillumbik Council continues to honour its commitment to keep rates low. In 2017-2018 there was 
no rate rise. In the 2018-2019 budget, a rate rise of only 1.9 per cent has been adopted along with 
no change to the waste management charge for residents. 

The approach to financial sustainability is further reflected by no impact to service delivery while 
Council continues to explore internal efficiencies and enhance effectiveness through collaborative 
initiatives.  

The extensive property and infrastructure portfolio Council oversees requires a strong financial 
focus year-on-year. The continued progress on the capital works program without taking out 
borrowings demonstrates Council’s commitment to deliver and maintain this portfolio to service 
community needs. 
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About Council 

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1989, Council’s role is to provide good governance 
and leadership for the Nillumbik community through advocacy, decision-making and action. 

Nillumbik Shire Council has an obligation to achieve the most benefits from all available resources 
for its community and has pledged to do this in a sustainable manner. 

How councils operate 

In Victoria, there are 79 councils representing around 6.4 million people (Source: ABS 3101.0, 
March 2018). Councils consist of an elected arm (between five and 12 councillors elected by the 
community) and an operational arm (council staff).  

An elected council sets the overall direction for the municipality through long-term planning. It 
adopts a strategic view of the future it wishes to achieve for its community and makes plans and 
policies to achieve this.  

A council then ensures this is achieved through its monitoring and reporting processes. The 
operational or administrative arm is responsible for implementing council decisions.  

Council officers also provide advice and expertise that help a council to form policy decisions, 
deliver services, and implement and manage systems. For all these functions, they are accountable 
to the council through the chief executive officer.  

About councillors 

In Victoria, councillors are elected every four years to represent their communities. They receive 
an allowance to assist them to exercise their responsibilities and are expected to behave in 
accordance with the council’s code of conduct.  

As an individual, a councillor is expected to represent the interests of residents and ratepayers. 
This means providing community leadership and guidance, and improving communication 
between the community and council. 

A councillor can only make decisions as a member of ‘the council’ at formally constituted council 
meetings. Actions occur after a majority vote decision of the council or of a formally delegated 
committee. 

As an individual, neither the mayor nor councillors have the authority to act or make decisions on 
behalf of the council or its staff. 

At the completion of counting at the general election in 2016, the following candidates were 
declared elected for a four-year term: 

Blue Lake Ward – Grant Brooker 
Phone: 0427 207 819 

Grant.Brooker@nillumbik.vic.gov.au 

Bunjil Ward – Karen Egan 
Phone: 0408 058 899 

Karen.Egan@nillumbik.vic.gov.au   

Edendale Ward – John Dumaresq 
Phone: 0439 556 733 

John. Dumaresq@nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

Ellis Ward – Peter Perkins 
Phone: 0437 455 064 

Peter.Perkins@nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

mailto:Grant.Brooker@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
mailto:Karen.Egan@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
mailto:John.%20Dumaresq@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
mailto:Peter.Perkins@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
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Sugarloaf Ward – Jane Ashton 
Phone: 0409 177 500 

Jane.Ashton@nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

Swipers Gully Ward – Bruce Ranken 
Phone 0402 384 006 

Bruce.Ranken@nillumbik.vic.gov.au 

Wingrove Ward – Peter Clarke 
Phone: 0401 100 141 

Peter.Clarke@nillumbik.vic.gov.au  

 
 
 

  

mailto:Jane.Ashton@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
mailto:Bruce.Ranken@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
mailto:Peter.Clarke@nillumbik.vic.gov.au
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Councillors 

 

Cr Peter Clarke (Mayor) – Wingrove Ward 

Chair Finance and Governance Portfolio 

Elected 2016 

An Eltham resident for 26 years, Cr Peter Clarke came to Nillumbik with 
experience as a former Councillor at Melbourne City (2006-2012) and 
Heidelberg (1981-1989). 

Since being elected in 2016, Cr Clarke has served as Mayor and Wingrove 
Ward Councillor, as well as board member of the Yarra Plenty Regional 
Library service. 

Cr Clarke is an architect and has also served as Chair of the Yarra Plenty 
Library, is a previous Board Member of the Austin Hospital and other 
government and community groups, including VicUrban, Places Victoria, 
Rotary and YMCA to name a few. 

 

Cr Karen Egan (Deputy Mayor) – Bunjil Ward 

Chair Economic Development and Marketing Portfolio 

Elected 2016 

Cr Karen Egan has been a resident in Nillumbik for the past 28 years and 
joined Council to represent landowners in the rural parts of the Shire, as 
well as in urban areas, with honesty and transparency, and proper 
consultation prior to decision making. 

Cr Egan is determined to resolve community concerns around adequate 
fire preparation within the Shire. 

Cr Egan has five children and is a fine-art photographer, as well as the 
owner of an organic, healthy food franchise with her eldest daughter. 

 

Cr Grant Brooker – Blue Lake Ward 

Chair Environment and Sustainability Portfolio 

Elected 2016 

Cr Grant Brooker was a founding member of the Friends of Apollo 
Parkways (FoAP) and has been a resident there with his family for the past 
19 years. 

Cr Brooker is an independent Councillor whose focus in the next two years 
will be financial accountability, environmental sustainability and decision-
making based on these two core principals. 
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Cr John Dumaresq – Edendale Ward 

Chair Infrastructure Portfolio 

Elected 2016 

Cr Dumaresq is a determined advocate for open and responsive local 
government. 

As an Edendale resident, Cr Dumaresq has served his community for many 
years as a member of sporting groups, charities and advisory committees. 
He is passionate about preserving the beautiful Green Wedge while being 
a rational voice on development. 

Cr Dumaresq and his partner live in Edendale with their two daughters. Cr 
Dumaresq is currently working in the construction industry. 

 

Cr Peter Perkins – Ellis Ward 

Chair Planning Portfolio 

Elected 2010, re-elected 2012, 2016 

First elected to Council in 2010, Cr Perkins was re-elected to the Ellis Ward 
in 2016. 

While he has delivered for Diamond Creek over the past eight years, he 
believes more needs to be done. Projects he would like to see in his ward 
include an upgraded community centre, a library, a redeveloped local 
swimming pool, a regional playground and improved connectivity and an 
easing of traffic congestion. 

Cr Perkins is a firefighter for the Metropolitan Fire Brigade and has more 
than 25 years' community service as a member of the Diamond Creek 
CFA, including 10 years as Captain. 

 

Cr Jane Ashton – Sugarloaf Ward 

Chair Community Services Portfolio 

Elected 2016 

Living in Nillumbik for the past 25 years, Cr Ashton loves being part of a 
dynamic rural community. 

Cr Ashton is proud of the work Council and the community has done over 
the last 18 months with regard to Preventing Violence Against Women, 
working on Positive Ageing and Inclusivity within Nillumbik; working with 
rural residents and improving the townships; and supporting social 
connectedness and local arts programs. 

Cr Ashton hopes that all rural residents are included in future decisions 
with regard to living and working in Nillumbik’s Green Wedge, and that 
everybody’s contribution to preserving the social, economic and 
environmental values we all enjoy is acknowledged. 
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Cr Bruce Ranken – Swipers Gully Ward 

Chair Social Infrastructure Portfolio 

Elected 2016  

Cr Bruce Ranken is an Eltham resident who enjoys the community feel of 
Eltham along with the semi-rural townships located throughout the region 
and the many beautiful walking trails. 

As Chair of the Social Infrastructure portfolio, Cr Ranken is committed to 
delivering community infrastructure that meets community needs, and 
improves the community’s quality of life.  

Cr Ranken’s focus for the next two years concerns common sense decision 
making, protecting neighbourhood character and amenity, and delivering 
infrastructure projects on time and on budget. 
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About Nillumbik 

Location 

The Shire of Nillumbik covers an area of 432 square kilometres. At its south-western gateway, 
Nillumbik is located less than 25 kilometres north-east of Melbourne and has the Yarra River as its 
southern boundary. It extends 29 kilometres to Kinglake National Park in the north/north-east and 
stretches approximately 20 kilometres from the Plenty River and Yan Yean Road in the west and to 
Christmas Hills and the Yarra escarpment in the east. 

Population 

Nillumbik has a population of 64,720 people (Source: ABS 3101.0) who enjoy a healthy, safe, 
family-friendly lifestyle within close-knit communities. 

More than 24 per cent of Nillumbik’s residents are aged 0-17 years, and more than 19 per cent are 
aged 60 years and over. Our community has a high rate of employment with 95.7 per cent of our 
residents employed either full or part time. Some 80 per cent of workers travel to their place of 
employment by car, either as a driver or passenger. 

Households 

The Shire of Nillumbik has a relatively healthy and affluent community which lives largely in family 
units in detached dwelling properties. 

In Nillumbik in 2016, 47 per cent of total families were couples with children compared to 33.5 per 
cent for Greater Melbourne, and 9.2 per cent were one-parent families compared to 10.1 per cent 
for Greater Melbourne. 

There was a lower proportion of lone person households (13.8 per cent compared to 22 per cent 
in Greater Melbourne) and a similar proportion of couples without children (24.7 per cent) 
compared to 22.9 per cent in Greater Melbourne.  

Analysis of the types of dwellings in Nillumbik Shire in 2016 shows that 93 per cent of all dwellings 
were separate houses; 6.4 per cent were medium density dwellings, and 0.1 per cent were high 
density dwellings, compared with 66.1 per cent, 22.9 per cent, and 10.1 per cent in the Greater 
Melbourne respectively (Source: Census 2016). 

The Green Wedge Shire  

The Shire of Nillumbik is renowned as the Green Wedge Shire or the ‘lungs of Melbourne’. The 
term Green Wedge is used by the State Government to describe non-urban areas that surround 
metropolitan Melbourne, outside the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). The Nillumbik Green Wedge 
covers 91 per cent of the total area of the Shire. Kinglake National Park, reserve and bushland, 
together with lifestyle properties, hobby farms, orchards, wineries and broad acre farms all make 
up this unique landscape. 

Nillumbik is a collection of townships, each with its own unique identity and heritage: the tiny 
villages of Smiths Gully, Watsons Creek, Arthurs Creek, Strathewen, Panton Hill, Christmas Hills, 
Kangaroo Ground and St Andrews, as well as the very rural township of Hurstbridge. The major 
activity centres are Eltham and Diamond Creek. Our townships offer residents and visitors 
distinctive village-style shopping, access to professional services and public transport, and places 
to meet and socialise. Striking mud-brick buildings and award-winning wineries complement the 
Shire’s unique and diverse landscape. Residents feel connected to their local townships and have a 
strong sense of community. The community values and wants to enhance the Green Wedge with 
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its history and diversity, its open spaces, bushland environment and artistic heritage. 

Council and private landholders work collaboratively to act as custodians of the Green Wedge. 

Aboriginal heritage 

The area now comprising the Shire of Nillumbik was roamed for centuries by the Wurundjeri-
willam clan of the Woi wurrung speaking people. The Wurundjeri people called our region 
“Nillumbik”, meaning “shallow earth” – a name later used by the Europeans who settled here. 

Nillumbik Shire Council has made a strong commitment to reconciliation with the Wurundjeri 
people of the Kulin nation. This commitment has been demonstrated through the development of 
Council’s Policy Commitment to Reconciliation with Indigenous Australians 1998, and the 
Nillumbik Shire Council Reconciliation Charter adopted in 2008. 

A formal acknowledgement statement is read at the beginning of each Council meeting and other 
public events to respect and give recognition to the culture, language and practices of the 
traditional owners of the land now known as the Shire of Nillumbik. 

Environment  

Nillumbik’s natural environment is characterised by steep ridges and gentle sloping hills enclosing 
plains and flats. The south is dominated by lowland hills while further north the Shire’s boundary is 
framed by the mountains of the Kinglake Ranges. 

Remnant of open grassy woodland, with relatively shallow soils dominated by long-leafed and red 
box eucalypts and occasional stands of ironbark still remain on the hillsides, ridge tops and along 
the creeks. The fertile soils of an old volcano at Kangaroo Ground offer rich farming land. The 
Arthurs Creek and Strathewen areas have seen a long history of orchards and quality cattle 
farming, yet still retain many stands of ancient eucalypts and a wide variety of fauna and flora. 

The Yarra River flows majestically through Nillumbik, around the special rural conservation living 
zone of the Bend of Islands, onto Warrandyte, Research and Eltham, providing bushland and flood 
plain environments. 

Despite clearing by European settlers, Nillumbik retains large areas of native vegetation on public 
and private land and sites of national, state and regional significance for their fauna. Three major 
creeks – Diamond Creek, Arthurs Creek and Watsons Creek – run through the Shire and Nillumbik 
also contains significant natural wetlands. 

Nillumbik’s Green Wedge is host to a number of state and national parks and Council also 
manages a number of important environmental reserves. 

Employment and education 

In 2016, there were 42 jobs available locally per 100 employed residents. This has not changed 
since 2006. Due to Nillumbik’s distance from the CBD, it has a low population density and a lack of 
commercial development. This results in fewer local opportunities for increased economic 
sustainability relative to more rapid urbanising neighbouring local government areas. 
 
Nillumbik residents are well educated with 68.2 per cent holding tertiary qualifications compared 
to the Victorian average of 65.7 per cent. However, with few local jobs, over 70 per cent of 
employed residents work outside the Shire. 
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Artistic heritage  

Nillumbik is an arts-rich environment. The creative life of the community is highly-valued and large 
numbers of artists live and work here in the quiet beauty of our landscape. Nillumbik’s existing 
artist communities – such as Butterfly Studio, Dunmoochin, Baldessin Studios, and Montsalvat – 
and the strength of artistic traditions commencing from the early Australian Impressionist painters 
through to current practice in contemporary arts, are showcased at local, regional and 
international forums. The Shire also has a strong performing arts community.  

Active lifestyles  

Nillumbik has a higher level of participation in sport and recreation activities than the State and 
National averages.  

Walking for recreation is the most popular activity, followed by aerobics/fitness, swimming, 
cycling and running. Horse riding and bike riding are also popular recreational activities. 
Nillumbik’s participation in more structured sports such as tennis, golf, football and netball are all 
higher than the State and National averages, and the Shire is experiencing unprecedented growth 
in women’s participation in sport.  

This is a snapshot of the Shire of Nillumbik. More detailed information is available on Council’s 
website www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au.  

  

http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/
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Our people 

Organisational structure 

Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO has 
responsibility for the day-to-day management of operations in accordance with the strategic 
directions of the Council Plan. Three Directors, five Executive Managers and the CEO form the 
Executive Management Team (EMT) and lead the organisation. Details of the CEO and the senior 
officers reporting to the CEO are set out below. 

 

Mark Stoermer 

Chief Executive Officer 

Mark joined Nillumbik as Chief Executive Officer in March 2017. 

A hands-on leader who builds strong performing teams through 
coaching, mentoring, collaboration, clear goal setting and bringing 
out the best in people, Mark is an executive well versed in multiple 
strategy development techniques who understands the financial 
drivers of businesses and industries.  

He is an experienced Lean thinker who regularly applies continuous 
improvement techniques to all types of problems and opportunities 
and is a person whom stakeholders can trust to deliver business 
results with the highest level of governance and ethics 

Mark has held a number of senior positions in both the public and 
private sectors, most notably as the Executive Director of Corporate 
Services at Box Hill Institute, Director Corporate Business at the City 
of Melbourne and as CEO of Fordham Group Melbourne. 

Mark holds a number of degrees including: an MBA Finance (New 
York University), a BA Honours (University of California at Berkeley), 
and is currently completing his CPA accreditation. 

 

Adrian Cully 

Director Business and Strategy 

Adrian commenced his career with Nillumbik Shire Council, nearly 
20 years ago, as Coordinator Public Health Services and then 
progressed into a number of different managerial roles over this 
time. Due to Adrian’s past successes, and also for his enthusiasm 
and passion for the future, he was successful in obtaining the role of 
Director Business & Strategy in January 2018. 

One of Adrian’s attributes in his successful career has been his 
extremely effective stakeholder management. Adrian has the 
capability to relate to people on all levels regardless of whether he 
is advocating for a major project or meeting a local community 
group.  

Adrian’s particular strengths are in team leadership, change 
management, strategic planning, project management and business 
development. Adrian takes pride in the team he works with and the 
heights they rise to in achieving their objectives. 
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Hjalmar Philipp 

Director Sustainability and Place 

Multi-disciplined in engineering, environment and economics, 
Hjalmar brings a wealth of global experience and expertise to 
Nillumbik as Director Sustainability and Place. His diverse career has 
encompassed enterprise change management, engineering, 
planning and sustainability responsibilities in industries as diverse as 
oil and gas, engineering and professional consulting. Hjalmar has led 
a variety of projects with a strong focus on service improvements, 
established cultures with a continuous improvement focus, and 
driven improved performance across the service industries he has 
operated in. 

Hjalmar’s expertise has been demonstrated through significant 
environmental and engineering projects in a number of sectors, 
including water utilities, energy, government (federal, state and 
local), banking and finance, mining and others. 

 

Matt Kelleher  

Director Services and Planning 

Matt joined Nillumbik in August 2017 as Director Services and 
Planning, responsible for leading Council’s customer facing service 
delivery.  

With more than 16 years’ experience as a senior leader in the local 
government sector, Matt’s expertise spans a broad range of 
disciplines in planning, strategy, regulation, economic growth, 
human resources and organisational development. Before joining 
Nillumbik, Matt was the interim Director City Planning and 
Community Services at Bayside City Council. 

Matt has a strong track record of delivering on a range of complex 
strategic projects, with strong community and stakeholder 
engagement supporting his ability to make a positive difference for 
the community. Experience in service reviews and strong leadership 
in strategy, change and transformation have enabled Matt to build 
high performing teams and deliver improved services and results for 
customers and stakeholders.  

Matt’s experience across a range of urban planning, community 
liveability, service performance and organisational capability 
projects supports his focus on positioning the organisation 
effectively for strategic challenges in the external environment. 
Matt holds an MBA along with tertiary qualifications in Urban 
Planning (Bachelor of Applied Science - Planning) and Change 
Management (Prosci). 
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Mitch Grayson 

Chief of Staff to the Mayor and Councillors 

Mitch joined Nillumbik Shire Council in July 2017. He has worked in 
some of the most issues-rich and fast-paced places in Australia – 
from newsrooms, political offices to boardrooms. A sought-after 
communications specialist, Mitch has been a trusted advisor and 
confidante to top government leaders with equally strong 
performance in employee management, mentoring and being the 
“go-to” person in organisations. 
 

 

Vince Lombardi 

Executive Manager Finance 

Vince Lombardi is a finance executive with over 10 years’ 
experience across public, private and not-for-profit sectors. He has 
led national finance teams and worked across Europe. Vince brings 
a wealth of expertise to Council with particular strengths in process 
improvement, financial strategy and long-term budgetary oversight. 
Vince has completed an MBA with Griffith University, is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants Australia and New 
Zealand and holds Bachelor Degrees in Commerce and Arts. 
 

 

Blaga Naumoski 

Executive Manager Governance 

Blaga has over 15 years’ experience in the highly regulated local and 
state government sectors. Her leadership roles have included a 
range of discipline areas, each demanding expertise and knowledge 
in law, governance, corporate records management, freedom of 
information, information privacy and change management. Blaga 
joined Nillumbik in February 2018 from Darebin City Council where 
she was most recently the Manager of Governance and Corporate 
Information. 
 

 

Jeremy Livingston 

Executive Manager Organisational Performance 

Bringing over 20 years’ experience in local government, Jeremy is an 
experienced leader who works collaboratively across organisations 
to achieve outstanding customer-centric outcomes for the 
community. Currently leading business strategy and business 
improvement initiatives, Jeremy demonstrates a passion for 
innovation and continuous improvement. Joining Nillumbik in 2004, 
Jeremy held managerial positions in planning, building and health 
before commencing his current role in February 2018. 
 



 

41 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

 

Suzy Ellingsen 

Executive Manager People, Culture and Innovation 

As a business consultant/coach, Suzy provides technology and 
organisational development consulting services, leadership 
coaching and development to the organisation. She has led a 
number of change projects in the technology and organisation 
development space across Council. She brings over thirty years of 
corporate executive, operational and human resource experience to 
her role. 
 

 

Organisational chart 

 

Our workforce 

Following the 2016 local council election, a newly elected group of councillors expressed a strong 
desire to create a new direction for Council which was reflected in their Council Plan. A new CEO 
was appointed in early 2017 with a mandate to deliver on this vision. The organisation undertook 
a large-scale change program which involved changes to structure, reporting relationships and role 
design. The aims were to remove barriers to delivery, better align functions and skills, improve 
performance and productivity, reduce hierarchy and invest in priority services and projects. Key 
initiatives which ran throughout the change period promoted continuous improvement and 
innovation. Investment into community engagement was also a priority and a number of key 
projects were heavily invested in to ensure a partnership approach was undertaken with our 
community. These focus areas were developed and realised throughout the 2017-2018 year.   
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A healthy organisational culture has been maintained throughout the year, with the ability to 
retain and attract key talent into the organisation and ensure delivery of the Council Plan. During 
this period a new Enterprise Agreement was successfully negotiated with reasonable wage 
increases relative to the sector. There were no matters raised with the Fair Work Commission and 
no protected disclosures reported.  The workforce currently comprises 323 full time equivalent 
positions, a headcount of 467, with turnover comfortably within industry averages.  

Equivalent full-time positions 

 
Employment type/gender 

Business and 
Strategy 

Services and 
Planning 

Sustainability 
and Place Corporate 

 
Total 

  EFT EFT EFT EFT EFT 

Permanent Full Time – Female 20.00 17.00 7.00 18.00 62 

Permanent Full Time – Male 7.00 19.00 96.00 17.00 139 

Permanent Part Time – Female 7.91 34.24 7.86 8.57 58.58 

Permanent Part Time – Male 1.30 4.75 3.79 2.40 12.24 

Temporary Full Time – Female 1.00 5.00 1.00 6.00 13 

Temporary Full Time – Male 1.00 1.00 3.00 3.00 8 

Temporary Part Time – Female 7.43 10.37 4.76 1.90 24.46 

Temporary Part Time – Male 2.40 0.84 1.37 0.40 5.01 

Casual – Female 0.02 0.32 0.12 0.00 0.46 

Casual – Male 0.00 0.07 0.04 0.01 0.12 

Total 48.06 92.59 124.94 57.28 322.87 

 

 

 

  

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

120.00

Business and
Strategy

Services and
Planning

Sustainability
and Place

Corporate

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

St
af

f 
(F

TE
) 

Permanent Full Time - Female

Permanent Full Time - Male

Permanent Part Time - Female

Permanent Part Time - Male

Temporary Full Time - Female

Temporary Full Time - Male

Temporary Part Time - Female

Temporary Part Time - Male

Casual - Female

Casual - Male



 

43 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Employment classification and gender 

Employment 
Classification 

 
Female 

 
Male 

 
Total 

  EFT EFT EFT 

Band Not Applicable 23.36 48.40 71.76 

Band 1 4.81 4.21 9.02 

Band 2 3.81 0.00 3.81 

Band 3 1.73 42.01 43.74 

Band 4 27.87 11.01 38.88 

Band 5 35.41 20.91 56.32 

Band 6 42.78 28.58 71.36 

Band 7 11.58 9.24 20.82 

Band 8 1.00 0.01 1.01 

Nurses 6.15 0.00 6.15 

Total 158.5 164.37 322.87 

 

 
 
Note: ‘Band Not Applicable’ includes annualised and contract staff 
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Workforce vision, mission, values and behaviours 

The way we work together and provide services to the Nillumbik community is guided by a culture 
reflected in Nillumbik’s Organisation Capability and Culture Strategy (OCCS) vision and our values. 
Our workforce vision is to “Listen, Adapt, Deliver… Relentless in the pursuit of excellence; where 
our customers come first, we are one and we are smart, efficient and agile.” 

All employees are asked and expected to embrace our vision and make a genuine commitment 
and contribution to the organisation’s values and behaviours.  

Our vision is underpinned by our values of: 

 Do our best 

 Support and cooperate 

 Take responsibility 

 Respect each other 

 Foster energy and camaraderie. 

To continue to evolve our culture and alignment in the work that we do, a mission statement is 
being developed to complement our vision and explain how we conduct our services, and what 
our aims or future looks like. A mission statement will help to show our community what we do 
and what makes us stand out, and it also helps our people to understand how our contributions fit 
into Council’s overall objectives. 

Additionally, we have commenced a project to review our values which engages our staff in a 
process to understand “what are the values and behaviours that are important to us at Nillumbik”. 
Our work to develop a mission statement and the review of our values will have a lasting impact 
on how we work, and on our team and organisational culture. 

Employee code of conduct  

Council’s Employee Code of Conduct was developed in accordance with requirements from the 
Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) to foster an environment of good governance and provide 
professional and personal guidelines for all employees, Council representatives, volunteers and 
contractors.   

The Employee Code of Conduct meets Council’s statutory requirements for a Code under the Act 
and also provides a framework for employees to work in the best interests of the Nillumbik 
community. 

The Code of Conduct is an important document that must be adhered to by all employees (full-
time, part-time, temporary and casual), Council representatives, volunteers and contractors 
undertaking work for Council. The Code of Conduct has been reviewed to include expectations 
when working with children as required by the Child Safe Standards. Compliance with the Code of 
Conduct is mandatory. 

Organisation capability and culture 

The Organisation Capability and Culture Strategy (OCCS) complements the Council Plan 2017-2021 
and provides a high-level representation of the drivers for change and priority outcomes for 
delivering services which are in line with current and future community needs. 
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The strategy supports the organisation in achieving its vision and more specifically it aims to 
manage the pace of change by focusing on what matters. It details two-year rolling action plans 
intended to build capability and to effectively deliver on our desired outcomes.  

During the 2017-2018 year, work progressed on a number of priorities including: 

 Improving services and providing the best workforce to deliver the Council Plan 

 Developing core principles and practices that support structured community engagement 

 Embedding continuous improvement capabilities and driving innovation. 
 
As the organisation continued to embrace change throughout the year with realigned functions 
and focus to better deliver on the challenges of the modern future and community expectations, 
the OCCS program of works strategically supported our commitment to “Listen, Adapt, Deliver”. 

Continuous improvement and innovation 

Continuous Improvement and Innovation (CI&I) is a focus area under our OCCS Program. The 
object of the program is to embed CI&I into our business by: 

 Building a culture of collaboration, proactive problem solving and innovation across the 
organisation 

 Building organisational capability in improvement and innovation 

 Improving our services to make them easier for our customers. 

During 2017-2018, a cross-functional CI&I program team developed a framework and 
methodology, delivered a number of pilot programs to improve our online services and online 
information, and designed and rolled out an organisation-wide development program. The 
program is underpinned by Lean Thinking, Agile Delivery and Human Centred Design 
methodologies. Major components of the development program included: 

 11 CI&I awareness training sessions have been held, with 210 staff attending (including 
leaders). Ninety-six per cent of participants believed the session was valuable to them and 94 
per cent are confident they can apply the knowledge and skills covered in the training session 

 CI&I Champions program delivered with 14 participants working through a full continuous 
improvement cycle 

 Visual management and practice (including short ‘huddles’ to better communicate, collaborate 
and trach priorities) used on a weekly basis with EMT, managers and a number of teams 

 The creation of the Northern Region Council CI&I group (Nillumbik, Banyule, Darebin, 
Moreland, Hume, Whittlesea) that meets every six weeks to share ideas, resources and 
develop capabilities. 

Learning and development  

This year saw our staff build their capability in a number of key areas, which were aligned to our 
OCCS. Our learning calendar featured training offerings in such areas as community engagement, 
continuous improvement and innovation, customer service and project management.  

A targeted group of fifty-seven staff participated in a Community Engagement Essentials course, 
facilitated by the International Association of Public Participation (IAP2), and eighty-six staff have 
attended a Customer First program, which will be rolled out to the rest of the organisation in the 
coming year.  
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A total of 210 staff have undertaken Continuous Improvement and Innovation Awareness training, 
with 14 staff having completed a Champions Program. 

Project Management (PM) continued to feature in our training offerings, and this year our project 
management capability building saw a focus on the reporting requirements and expectations of 
our Major Project Owners. A new project management reporting dashboard was developed and 
implemented, ensuring greater consistency with reporting across all our major projects. 

Working together – Enterprise Agreement 

Approximately 96 per cent of employees at Nillumbik are covered by an enterprise agreement, 
with the majority of employees covered by Nillumbik Shire Council Enterprise Agreement No. 7, 
which expired on 30 June 2017. A complete review of the structure of the agreement was 
undertaken with a view to simplifying the agreement and providing ease of access to information 
for staff. All parties endorsed Nillumbik Shire Council Enterprise Agreement No. 8, which was put 
to a vote. Ninety per cent of staff were in favour of the new agreement. The agreement has been 
lodged with the Fair Work Commission and is awaiting approval.  

Recognising our people  

During the year, Council acknowledged the continuous service of 33 staff from across the 
organisation, who were recognised for achieving service milestones of between 10 and 40 years. 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

  

 

 

Equal opportunity, gender equity and LGBTI  

Nillumbik is an equal opportunity employer. Each year, the Equal Opportunity Committee 
develops and implements an equal opportunity program that is designed to eliminate 
discrimination and promote equal opportunity for women and persons in designated groups in 
relation to employment matters. 

A range of indicators are developed which are used to measure the effectiveness of the equal 
opportunity program. This internally focussed program is complemented by the work undertaken 
by both the Gender Equity Working Group and the LGBTI group, whose priorities extend beyond 
the organisation to have impact on the broader Nillumbik community. 

The indicators determined by Council’s Equal Opportunity Committee to measure the 
effectiveness of the program for the 2017-2018 financial year centred primarily around satisfying 
the statutory requirements outlined in the Local Government Act 1989 (relating to areas such as 

2017-2018 Years of 
Service Milestones 

Number of Employees 

10 Years 15 

15 Years 9 

20 Years 4 

30 years 3 

35 Years 1 

40 Years 1 
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committee meeting frequency, reporting and reviewing key statistics), in addition to the roll out, 
review and reporting of related training programs. 

Demographic data was analysed by the committee at the start of the year to determine if there 
were any trends or areas that required specific attention. Whilst there was nothing of significant 
concern, the committee did acknowledge that there were opportunities for Council to explore in 
relation to gender and the number and type of part-time and full-time positions available. For 
example, there are many part time positions available in administrative roles, but less in 
leadership positions.  

Additionally, there are also limited opportunities to work part-time in roles that are typically 
occupied by males, such as outdoor roles at the Operations Centre and roles in the Infrastructure 
area.  

The Equal Opportunity Committee also plays a pro-active role in planning, implementing and 
monitoring training that supports Council’s commitment to being an equal opportunity employer. 

Upon commencement, all office-based employees are assigned a suite of e-learning courses, 
including a course that relates specifically to Equal Opportunity in the workplace. Our leaders are 
also assigned a similar course relevant to their leadership responsibilities in this area. Course 
completion statistics are then reported on a quarterly basis to the executive management team. 
The completion rate at the end of 2017-2018 was 93 per cent. 

The committee also undertook planning to run a bystander training program for all staff. This 
program included selecting a preferred supplier and working with that supplier to develop a 
suitable course outline for our organisation. A pilot group from the outdoor workforce was 
selected to trial the bystander training. This session took place in late 2017. We anticipate that this 
training will be rolled out across the organisation within the coming year, equipping staff with 
effective strategies for dealing with examples of inappropriate behaviours, both in the workplace 
and in the community. 

With Nillumbik Shire Council being a Child Safe organisation, it is important that all our employees 
have an awareness of the new, increased child safe standards; in particular, their obligations for 
reporting cases of suspected child abuse under the new criminal law reforms. All staff, regardless 
of whether their role involves direct contact with children, are required to participate in 
awareness training on this important subject. Over 400 of our staff have either completed an on-
line awareness course on the new standards or, in the case of our outdoor workforce, a face-to-
face session based around the on-line content. The training covered the new standards, the 
reporting framework, some scenarios based around a local government context and, importantly, 
the support available to staff and/or individuals who either report or are involved in reported 
cases of proven or suspected child abuse. 

Gender equity  

The Nillumbik Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 contains a priority to: “Advance Gender 
Equity and Respectful Relationships”.  

The plan articulates five strategies to achieve this. The development of these strategies has been 
informed by, and is aligned to, other strategies developed at the regional, state, federal and global 
levels, and involved community consultation.  

The five key strategies include: 

 Improve gender equity, safety and respectful relationships in the workplace 

 Ensure our services and facilities are gender equitable, safe and inclusive 
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 Raise community awareness of gender equity and respectful relationships 

 Increase the promotion of gender equitable and non-violence messages through 
communications and social marketing 

 Collaborate with other organisations and community groups to collectively work towards 
preventing violence against women. 

A four-year Gender Equity project plan was subsequently developed in 2017, with the aim of 
implementing and evaluating the gender equity strategies as committed to in the health and 
wellbeing plan. An internal Gender Equity working group met on a regular basis to discuss the 
progression of the action items highlighted in the project plan. 
 
A highlight of 2017 was the ‘16 Days of Activism against Gender based Violence’ campaign, which 
involved a range of coordinated events across the Shire. This successful campaign commenced on 
25 November, which is the International Day for the Elimination of Violence against Women, and 
concluded on International Human Rights Day (10 December 2017). Council offered a series of 
small grants to community groups and organisations to fund activities to support and highlight this 
worthy cause. These grants were awarded to five local organisations. 
 
With orange as the colour theme for the 16 Days of Activism, three of our grant recipients went 
orange to profile the cause. Yarrambat Park Golf Club featured orange flags and tees on their 
greens, a theme that also extended to their food truck event on 10 December 2017. Diamond 
Valley Sports and Fitness Centre went orange for a netball tournament, and the Diamond Valley 
Basketball Association fitted their referees out in orange polo shirts as a show of support.  
The Victoria Skateboarding Association received a grant to hold a girl’s skateboard session, and 
Diamond Valley Secondary College students painted t-shirts in conjunction with the NAPCAN Love 
Bites Program. 
 
The campaign was considered very successful and will be included in Council’s calendar of events 
again in 2018-2019.  

LGBTI  

In September 2017, a lesbian, gay, bi, trans and intersex (LGBTI) working group was established 
within Council to “ensure that the LGBTI community is included and engaged in initiatives that are 
supported by Council” (Action 1.5.7, Council Plan 2017-2021).  

Subsequently, Council has committed to: 

 Understanding and responding to the LGBTI community in greater depth 

 Ensuring relevant plans, policies and services or events (new or existing) are responsive to the 
needs of the LGBTI community 

 Encouraging promotion of, and partnerships with, specialised healthcare and other targeted 
services that support LGBTI individuals.  

Between January and April 2018, Council reached out to twenty service providers to consider ways 
that Council can become more inclusive and explore opportunities for collaboration. Council has 
appointed an Inclusion Officer to further explore these partnerships and to engage with 
Nillumbik’s LGBTI community to identify and explore support and access needs. Once completed, 
an ‘Inclusion Framework’ will be developed to inform Council projects, services and events and 
promote inclusion across the organisation and the wider community. 
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In May 2018, Council celebrated the 2018 International Day Against Homophobia, Biphobia and 
Transphobia (IDAHOBIT) by organising events for staff and hosting/promoting events at the 
region’s libraries. Several Council worksites hosted staff Rainbow morning teas and bake-offs to 
stand in solidarity with LGBTI people across the globe. Eltham library hosted two Rainbow 
Storytime sessions for pre-schoolers and families, which celebrated diversity and anti-homophobia 
themes.  

A Zine Workshop saw teens use collage and art materials to create the library’s IDAHOBIT zine or 
make something personal to take home. Eltham Library also hosted a Zine launch, which was 
attended by a panel of independent artists and creators who discussed their creative projects 
working with LGBTQI topics and inclusivity.  

On 17 May 2018, IDAHOBIT Day, Council launched a community grant program to support 
community-led initiatives that support, promote and celebrate LGBTI inclusion. A grant of up to 
$500 (total pool of $5,000) is available to community groups and local organisations. This is a 
recurring annual grant program and forms part of Council’s ongoing commitment to our diverse 
community. 

Safety, health and wellbeing 

Council is committed to fulfilling both its moral and legal responsibilities under Occupational 
Health and Safety (OHS) laws to provide a safe and healthy work environment for employees, 
volunteers, contractors, customers and visitors. This commitment extends to ensuring that 
operations undertaken by Nillumbik Shire Council do not place the community at undue risk of 
injury or illness. 

With a core commitment to continuous improvement with respect to all areas of occupational 
health and safety, Council sees employee health and wellbeing as a key driver in having an 
engaged, resilient and productive workforce that is capable of performing their roles safely, 
efficiently and effectively in order to achieve organisational outcomes. 

Council recently implemented a new online incident reporting system, QuickSafe. The system 
improved Council’s previous incident management system and offers a large range of benefits 
especially in relation to improved reporting abilities. It is expected that this will lead to better 
incident management, monitoring and reporting, ultimately resulting in reducing and preventing 
the likelihood of injuries. 

SafetyMAP (initial level) is the certification level used by Council to ensure continued effectiveness 
and compliance with OHS requirements. Regularly audited externally, two surveillance audits were 
undertaken during the 2017-2018 financial year. Council has met compliance standards with the 
SafetyMAP accreditation. The positive result of the audits demonstrates how the application of a 
continuous improvement approach to safety performance and a commitment to retaining 
SafetyMAP can be important elements of risk management. 

Council’s OHS Committee meets regularly, and health and safety representatives are actively 
involved with resolving occupational health and safety issues that may arise within their 
workplace. 

Our core safety, health and wellbeing strategies are to: 

 Create a workplace that is engaged, resilient and adaptive to change 

 Reduce behaviours in the workplace that can be harmful to the health of workers 

 Foster a culture that is supportive of healthy lifestyle choices 
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 Promote awareness among workers about the benefits of maintaining good health and 
wellbeing. 

Council implements a health and wellbeing program of events annually, which includes targeted 
events and promotions throughout the year focused on our five priority areas of mental health, 
nutrition, physical health, fatigue and smoking, drugs and alcohol. 

Employee support 

Council continued to offer its employees (and members of their immediate families) access to an 
Employee Assistance Program (EAP). The EAP offers a comprehensive counselling service for both 
personal and work-related matters. This service also provides support to managers through a 
‘manager assist’ and a general ‘career assist’ service. 

Informative newsletters and tip sheets have been promoted to all staff throughout the year and 
incorporated into the health and wellbeing program. 

WorkCover 

Council has a strong commitment to the health and safety of its employees and to ensuring that 
the management of claims and return to work programs meet legislative requirements. Based on 
the weighted industry claims cost rating system applied by WorkSafe, where zero is the best 
possible score on a scale from zero to two, Council’s WorkCover claims performance score of 1.1 is 
slightly above the industry average of 1.0. 

Volunteers 

Volunteering is at the heart of community-building. It encourages people to be active citizens and 
provides them with an environment where they can be engaged and make a difference. 

Each year, through the thousands of hours Council volunteers contribute to the Nillumbik 
community, we know that social connectedness is enhanced and quality of life outcomes are 
improved. 

Council currently has over 500 volunteers contributing more than 30,000 hours a year to Council 
programs and services. 

Volunteer activities include: maintaining Council land, supporting elderly members of the 
community, working with young people, supporting families, teaching new skills and advising 
Council on specific projects and plans. 

Council continues to deliver on the actions of the Nillumbik Volunteering Development Strategy 
2015-2020. The Strategy represents a shared commitment by Council to achieve best practice 
outcomes across all Council volunteer programs.  

Third year actions have focussed on best practice in volunteer management within the 
organisation and increased promotion of volunteering opportunities across the Shire.  

Highlights include: 

 Continued development of the ‘Volunteering Opportunities and Information’ page on the 

Council website 

 Online volunteer recruitment enabled for six volunteer programs 

 Production of the Nillumbik Volunteering Program promotional film 

 First draft of the Nillumbik Volunteer Online Induction Program. 
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The Volunteering Development Strategy 2015-2020 will continue to: 

 Promote volunteering – create a sustainable volunteering sector by enhancing promotion and 
awareness across the Shire 

 Increase volunteer participation – create meaningful and diverse volunteer opportunities 
through innovation and expansion of existing volunteer programs 

 Recognise, value & celebrate volunteers – understand and celebrate the power of volunteers 
and their contribution to the social fabric of the Nillumbik community 

 Strengthen volunteer management – focused support and training for volunteer managers, so 
they are able to effectively deliver Council volunteer programs and support Council volunteers. 
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Annual community survey 

The Annual Community Survey, which was conducted on Council’s behalf by Metropolis Research 
in January 2018, is designed to measure community satisfaction with a range of Council services 
and facilities and to measure community sentiment on a range of additional concerns in the 
community. 

Community satisfaction with Council’s overall performance was rated at 6.46 out of 10, a 
substantial increase of five percent compared to the 6.15 result in 2017. This overall performance 
rating is comparable with the satisfaction levels of other councils, with northern region councils 
and metropolitan Melbourne councils recording overall satisfaction scores of 6.47 and 6.53 
respectively. This level of performance is categorised by Metropolis Research as ‘solid’. 

Consistent with the increased satisfaction with Council’s overall performance, satisfaction with the 
six aspects of governance and leadership – meeting environmental responsibilities; consultation 
and engagement; making decisions in the interests of the community; representation, lobbying 
and advocacy; responsiveness to community needs; and, maintaining trust and confidence – rated 
at 6.4 out of 10, a 6.7 per cent increase on the 2017 average of 6.0. This improvement reflects a 
return to historically normal levels of satisfaction. Council looks forward to building on this result 
in future years. 

The average satisfaction with Council services and facilities increased by 1.8 per cent to a rating of 
7.31. This is categorised by Metropolis Research as ‘very good’ and is an improvement on the 2017 
result of ‘good’. This result is on a par with the metropolitan Melbourne average of 7.37. 

The top five issues that respondents wanted Council to address in the next 12 months were: traffic 
management; roads maintenance; building, housing and development; bushfire 
management/prevention; and, rubbish and waste. 

The survey results are accessible in full on Council’s website. Many of the measures in the survey 
are strategic indicators in the Council Plan 2017-2021 and are reported on in the ‘Our 
performance’ section of this report. Some of the measures in the survey are performance 
measures required by the State Government and will be made public on the ‘Know Your Council’ 
website: https://knowyourcouncil.vic.gov.au/home. 
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Communications and engagement 

Council is committed to improving community trust through better communications and genuine 
engagement. 

Communication 

Nillumbik News is Council’s key publication for the community. It is issued quarterly and 
distributed to more than 22,000 homes, businesses and community venues across the Shire. 

The 16-page publication provides information on projects, programs, activities and services on 
offer from Council. It also provides calendars with information about Council run or supported 
events and activities across the Shire. In the 2018 Annual Community Survey, more than half of 
respondents (51.4 per cent) reported that their household regularly received and read Nillumbik 
News. 

Nillumbik News contains information about how the community can get involved in projects that 
are open for consultation and includes a variety of feature articles. Information about the 
environment, arts projects and opportunities for youngsters to get involved with the wide variety 
of events on offer regularly feature in Nillumbik News. 

Council produces many other publications, including brochures, fact sheets and other material to 
support and promote Council services, programs, events and activities. 

Council values a good relationship with the local media and provides advertising to local 
community publications including Warrandyte Diary, Whittlesea Town Crier and Hurstbridge 
Roundabout. 

Proactive information is provided to the local newspapers, with 97 media releases issued last year. 

In the 2018 community survey, the four most popular methods of receiving information from or 
interacting with Council are direct mail/letterbox drop of information (59.3 per cent); email (39.5 
per cent); Nillumbik News (36.1 per cent); and Council’s website (33.3 per cent). Advertising in the 
local newspapers (24.4 per cent); social media (17.6 per cent); and e-newsletters (14.8 per cent) 
are all important communication methods. 

Digital 

Council’s corporate website and subsites for Edendale Farm, Youth Services, Artisan Hills, 
Hurstbridge Farmers’ Market and Living & Learning attracted 949,210 users last year, with 
1,167,988 pages viewed. 

Residents are engaged and informed about Council decisions and activities via the online ‘Have 
Your Say’ page on Council’s website, and 16 consultation programs were conducted on this 
platform throughout the year. 

A number of hard-copy and electronic newsletters are distributed by Council, including: 

• Arts 

• Leisure 

• Family and Children Services 

• Edendale 

• Environment 

• Aged. 
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More than 77 e-newsletters were issued last year. 

Council increased its presence in the social media sphere in 2017-2018, with an increase in 
Facebook ‘likes’ of 1,254 (3,777 to 5,031) or 33 per cent. Council’s Twitter followers increased only 
slightly from 1,965 to 2,032 – an increase of 67 or 3 per cent. 
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Community engagement 

Council is committed to ensuring that our community has the opportunity to have a say in matters 
that affect them, both at the local level and in projects led by other levels of government. 
 
Some of the many ways in which Council engages with its community are: 

 By hearing submissions at Committee meetings 

 By receiving questions from the public gallery at Council meetings 

 By holding consultation meetings on planning applications 

 By inviting community participation on 10 Advisory Committees and through project-specific 

Community Reference groups 

 Through our Annual Community Survey, which involved 500 face-to-face interviews 

 Via social media, such as Facebook Live 

 By inviting public comment on major projects and strategies via the Participate Nillumbik site 

and submissions to Council 

 By holding public meetings and workshops on major issues which impact local communities. 

Key community engagement initiatives this year included the launch of the online engagement 
portal ‘Participate Nillumbik’, training for 72 staff in IAP2 Essentials, and dedicated community 
engagement officer support for our major projects. 

North East Link 

Council took an active role in encouraging the community to contribute to the State Government 
North East Link Authority (NELA) community survey from May – July 2017. Council also organised 
four community information sessions about the proposed options for North East Link in August, to 
supplement the single drop-in session held by NELA in Nillumbik. These sessions attracted over 
480 local residents, as well as hundreds watching the Facebook Livestream of the first session.  

Building Nillumbik 

Through an extensive community consultation process, over 3,000 submissions were received 
from the community regarding the potential sale of 17 parcels of Council land in order to fund 
community projects. Following extensive consideration of the views of submitters and as a result 
of Council’s successful advocacy efforts to secure State Government funding, Council decided to 
sell only three parcels of land. 

Eltham North Adventure Playground 

A total of 1,204 people shared their thoughts and wishes for the new Eltham North Adventure 
Playground. They were able to contribute in a number of ways, including through online tools 
(stories, memories, recommendations), Council-organised events (art, survey and commentary 
base activities), pop-up events (wishing tree-art based engagement activities) and a toolkit of 
activities designed to engage our youngest cohort. The community identified the most important 
themes and attributes they wanted to see in the new playground, and this information was then 
used to inform the playground design. Feedback was sought through June and July 2018 on the 
final design, with preparatory work underway. 
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Green Wedge Management Plan review 

The community engagement phase of this eighteen-month project was designed in collaboration 
with key community members who shared their knowledge and understanding of the community 
to create activities and communication methods that would be most effective. The engagement 
provided many opportunities for the community to share their thoughts and experiences about 
the Green Wedge, both online and in person. This included surveys, sharing stories and photos, 
community and stakeholder workshops, and ‘Coffee and Chat’ sessions around the Shire. 
Recruitment began in June for an innovative community panel, which will begin meeting in August 
2018. The community panel will be made up of 40 randomly selected members from the 
community who will make recommendations to Council that will inform the draft Green Wedge 
Management Plan.  

Hurstbridge Open Space Precinct Plan 

Over a period of six months, Council worked with the community to develop a vision and a series 
of ideas for the Hurstbridge Open Space Precinct. The top ideas were further explored through 
several community design workshops and input from a community reference group. A draft 
Precinct Plan was developed after consolidating the community designs, demonstrating the 
community’s ideas and the elements they believed should be included in the Precinct. Final 
community feedback will be sought in July/August 2018 to ensure the plan correctly captures the 
needs and priorities of the community. 

 
  



 

58 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Planning and accountability framework 

Council Plan 

The Council Plan 2017-2021 was the key strategic document guiding the direction of the Council 
during 2017-2018. 

Under the Local Government Act 1989, each council is required to develop a council plan within six 
months of the election and to review it annually. 

The Council Plan 2017-2021 is the elected Council’s statement of its priorities for the Nillumbik 
community, in response to the opportunities and challenges facing the Shire. It was adopted by 
the current Council in June 2017. 

The Council Plan includes: 

• Strategic objectives or goals – the outcomes the Councillors want to have achieved within 
their four-year term 

• Strategies – how Council will achieve each goal 
• Strategic Indicators – how progress towards the goals will be evaluated 
• Strategic Resource Plan – a four-year budget outlining how the strategies will be financed 

and resourced. 

The Council Plan 2017-2021 is divided into five goal areas: 

• Engaged, Connected Communities  
• Active and Creative People  
• Safe and Healthy Environments 
• A Prosperous Economy 
• Responsible Leadership. 

Each goal area has a long-term objective and a series of strategies to meet that objective. Our 
progress in implementing these strategies is formally reported to Council on a quarterly basis.  

The 2017-2018 Annual Report reports against the first year of the Council Plan 2017-2021. The 
current Council Plan can be viewed on Council’s website www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au.  

Input for the Council Plan 

The Council Plan 2017-2021 was developed over many months with thorough input from 
Councillors. 

It was also informed by the results of the Annual Community Survey and from the strategic 
directions set out in a large suite of long-term Council plans and strategies, all of which involved 
comprehensive consultation with the community. 

Annual Plan 

Each year, in line with the budget process, Council produces an Annual Plan identifying how 
Council will work towards achieving the goals in the Council Plan. Council priorities, major 
projects, capital works, service improvements, as well as actions in response to Council strategies, 
are set out in the Annual Plan. 

Progress against the Annual Plan is detailed in Council’s Annual Report, with major projects and 
service highlights reported to Council in a quarterly progress report. 

http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/
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Budget 

Council prepares an annual budget each financial year which seeks to balance the demand for 
services and infrastructure with the community’s capacity to pay. 

The budget includes information about the rates and charges to be levied, new initiative funding, 
borrowing, operating result, cash and investments, capital works, financial position and financial 
sustainability. It is prepared alongside the Annual Plan with specific project and service delivery 
requirements balanced against available resources. 

Business Unit Plans 

Business Unit Plans are developed by managers and the staff in their teams alongside the budget 
process to ensure that the activities of the team – including new initiatives and continuous 
improvement in service delivery – can be adequately funded. 

Nillumbik’s Planning Framework 

 

 

Council policies, strategies and plans adopted in 2017-2018 

Policy, Strategy or Plan Date 

Fraud Policy 2017 29 August 2017 

Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-2021 31 October 2017 

Child Safe Policy 31 October 2017 

Health & Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 28 November 2017 

Arts and Cultural Plan 2018-2022 19 December 2017 

Debt Collection Policy – Rates and Charges 19 December 2017 

Procurement Policy 27 March 2018 

Annual Plan 2018-2019 26 June 2018 
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Our performance 

The Council Plan 2017-2021 includes strategic objectives, strategies for achieving these for the 
four-year period, strategic indicators for monitoring achievement of the strategic objectives and a 
strategic resource plan. The following are the five strategic objectives detailed in the Council Plan: 

1. Engaged, Connected Communities – a place where communities and ideas thrive, 
underpinned by trust, confidence and continuous learning. 

2. Active and Creative People – active lifestyles and artistic expression are fostered through 
participation and innovation. 

3. Safe and Healthy Environments – healthy and safe communities enjoy living in our iconic 
Green Wedge environment. 

4. A Prosperous Economy – a strong local economy that supports business growth, jobs and 
community wealth. 

5. Responsible Leadership – collaborative and consultative leadership that builds trust and 
makes the best possible use of available resources to the benefit of all in the pursuit of 
excellence. 

 

Council's performance for the 2017-2018 year has been reported against each strategic objective 
to demonstrate how Council is performing in achieving the Council Plan 2017-2021. Performance 
has been measured as follows: 

 Progress towards achieving the strategic objectives in the Council Plan 

 Results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan 

 Progress in relation to the major initiatives identified in the budget 

 Services funded in the budget and the persons or sections of the community who are 
provided those services 

 Results against the prescribed service performance indicators and measures. 
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Engaged, Connected Communities 

A place where communities and ideas thrive, underpinned by trust, confidence and continuous 
learning. 

At a glance 

Operating expenditure: $12.313 million 

Core activities 

 Aged and disability services 

 Community development and planning 

 Family, youth and children's services 

 Learning, arts and culture 

 Libraries 

Interesting facts 

 8,481 delivered meals 

 34,890 hours of HACC PYP (Home and Community Care Program for Younger People) and CHSP 

(Commonwealth Home Support Program) care delivered 

 591 birth notifications 

 3,097 enrolments in Living & Learning Nillumbik courses and activities 

 851,500 loans from the Eltham and Diamond Valley libraries 

 17,720 active library members 

 593 children registered and accepted into Nillumbik preschools 

Achievements 

 Commenced early planning for development of the 2050 Shire/Community Plan. 

 Trained approximately 60 staff in IAP2 Public Participation Spectrum to improve project 
management and community engagement skills. 

 Following the adoption of the Health and Wellbeing Plan 2017-2021 in November 2017, an 
action plan to support its implementation has been developed and implementation of the plan 
has commenced. 

 Commenced a review of Living and Learning Nillumbik to address opportunities for program 
enhancements. 

 Commenced work on the development of a Community Infrastructure Plan which will follow 
industry best practice. 

 Developed an online engagement tool, ‘Participate Nillumbik’ 

 Engaged intensively with the community to develop a design for the Eltham North Adventure 
Playground rebuild, including a major public consultation in February 2018. 

 Completed streetscape works at Panton Hill. 

 Commenced implementation of the St Andrews Township Plan. 

 Commenced planning for landscape improvement works at Hurstbridge War Memorial and 
Kangaroo Ground War Memorial Tower. 

 Completed Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP) future options modelling in 
conjunction with Northern Region Councils, and subsequent public consultation. 

 Completed Stage 2 of the Early Years Infrastructure Review. 
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 The Eltham Community and Reception Centre was re-opened following an extensive internal 
refurbishment. 

 Established the first LGBTI working group, celebrated IDAHOBIT (17 May 2017) and launched a 
grant program to support LGBTI community groups. 

Challenges 

 A high reliance on grants and external funding to resource community programs. 

 Development of an interactive community facility database will progress following the 
development of the policy guiding future community infrastructure – that is, a Community 
Infrastructure Plan. 

 Commonwealth Government is introducing significant reforms to aged care services across the 
country which affect Council service delivery. 

The year ahead 

 Commence preparation of the 2050 Shire/Community Plan, building on the development of 
other key strategies, such as the Green Wedge Management Plan. 

 Scope a Lifelong Learning Plan with key stakeholders. 

 Progress the development of an integrated community infrastructure plan. 

 Deliver the St Andrews pedestrian path. 

 Finalise Hurstbridge streetscape design. 

 Continue to build relationships with the Wurundjeri community and engage and develop a 
Reconciliation Action Plan. 

 Implement the adopted Health & Wellbeing Plan and deliver initiatives in partnership with the 
community that contribute to broader health and wellbeing outcomes. 

 Council will consider feedback from public consultation on options for the future of the home 
support program. 

 Community engagement on the results of the Early Years Infrastructure Review is anticipated 
to occur early in the new financial year. 

 Identify women's networks in Nillumbik and scope communication opportunities for them to 
partner in initiatives which celebrate and acknowledge women within Nillumbik. 

 Review Council’s community transport service so older residents in remote townships and 
rural areas have improved access. 
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How we performed against the Council Plan 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including 
the results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan. 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 

 
2016 2017 2018 

 Community satisfaction with Council's responsiveness to local 
community needs 6.8 5.97 6.32 

Community satisfaction with Council’s consultation and 
engagement 6.62 5.76 6.33 

Community satisfaction with Council making decisions in the 
best interests of the community 6.42 5.74 6.26 

Community satisfaction with Council maintaining trust and 
confidence of the local community 6.6 5.78 6.15 

Community satisfaction with community services 7.52 7.42 7.67 

Source: 2018 Annual Community Survey Scale from 0 (very dissatisfied) to 10 (very satisfied) 

 
Strategic Indicator Year Result 

 
2011 2016 2021 

 Proportion of persons aged 15+ who performed voluntary work 
in past 12 months 21.80% 24% n/a ?
Source: https://profile.id.com.au/nillumbik/volunteering 

    Strategic Indicator Year Result 

 
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

 Percentage of the municipal population that are active library 
members 

23.7% 25.9% 27% 

Source: Yarra Plenty Regional Library 

    
Total enrolments in programs at Living and Learning Centres (1) 

      
3,159  

        
3,737  

 
3,097 

Source: Council records 

    Total number of program participants and visitors at Edendale 
(2) 93,394  

   
109,020  

   
107,837  

Source: Council records 

    Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2016 2017 2018   

Total number of enrolments in pre-schools 610 585 593  

Source: Council records 

     
Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18   

Total number of members in U3A, OMNI, and Men's Shed 
programs 

588 651 713 

Source: Council records 

    Community engagement in risk awareness and resilience 
programs 

n/a n/a 
(see box 

over) ?

 

 Increasing  Decreasing  No change ? Trend unclear 
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Comments: 

(1) In 2017-2018, there was a much larger Vocational Education and Training (VET) program running which 
contributed to the higher numbers in that year. Living and Learning Centres in Nillumbik have averaged 
102,000 hours of learning over the past three financial years. 

(2) Since March 2018, Edendale has undergone major building works that have resulted in limited access 
around the site. Consequently, school holiday activities have not been promoted or offered to the usual 
extent.  There have also been fewer shelters available for public hire.  

 

  

In 2017-2018, Council promoted community engagement in risk awareness through five initiatives: 

 Nillumbik Emergency Management Forum – an all-hazards community forum, which attracted 
around 60 attendees in 2017-2018. 

 Regional Community Disaster Resilience Forum – an Eastern Metro Region forum hosted by Yarra 
Ranges. 

 Nillumbik Odyssey Program (St Andrews Conversations) – a project focused on disaster resilience 
in St Andrews. An ongoing program to develop a preferred method of engaging with communities 
around risk. Six community meetings and one community workshop have been conducted in 
2017-2018. Evaluation shows higher levels of trust and confidence in Council’s role in emergency 
management and risk reduction. 

 Safer Together – a new whole-of-government approach to reducing risk of bushfire in Victoria. 
Council actively informs and supports in terms of strategy and delivery, including local initiatives. 

 Community Fireguard – a CFA community education program, involving 90 CFGs in Nillumbik, this 
being the highest proportionate number of groups in the state. 

 



 

66 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Budget 2017-2018 major initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified 
in the 2017-2018 budget for the year. 

MAJOR INITIATIVES RESULT PROGRESS 

Inclusion and Diversity Plan – development 

Actual $9,516 

Budget $40,000 

Partly 
achieved 

This project has been delayed due to 
changes in personnel. It will be delivered in 
full in 2018-2019. Some elements of the 
draft plan are already being embedded into 
Council policies. 

Community and Medical Transport 

Actual $0 

Budget $40,000 

Achieved 

Funding for this initiative to support the 
community transport program was sourced 
from a $51,526 recurrent grant from the 
Commonwealth Department of Health. 

Community safety awareness campaign 

Actual $2,586 

Budget $20,000 

Achieved 
Campaign was delivered and partly funded 
under other budget items as well as 
additional external funding. 

Positive Ageing Strategy 2013-2018 – 
review and development of new strategy 

Actual $0 

Budget $20,000 

Not 
started 

Due to the Positive Ageing Officer role 
being vacant for most of 2017-2018, this 
allocation was not spent and planned 
actions were not completed. 

 

Budget 2017-2018 funded services 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-2018 
budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service. 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

EXPENDITURE 
REVENUE 
NET COST 

($’000) 

Aged and Disability 
Services 

Aged and Disability Services plans and delivers services for 
our aged and disabled community such as home care, 
home maintenance and delivered meals. 

2,101 
(1,953) 

148 

Children, Family and 
Youth Services 

This function provides services for children, youth and 
families such as preschool, playgroups and youth activities. 

1,165 
(425) 

740 

Community Development 
and Inclusion 

This function provides services for the whole community, 
such as community halls, volunteer programs, festivals and 
events and community development. 

1,638 
(302) 
1,336 

Libraries and Community 
Education 

This service provides facilities and programs for the whole 
community, including libraries, Living & Learning Centres 
and Edendale Farm. 

5,872 
(1,884) 

3,988 

Maternal and Child 
Health 

This service is for new babies and parents in the Shire. 
1,277 
(405) 

872 
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Service performance indicators and measures 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including explanation of material 
variances. 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

LIBRARIES           

Utilisation 
Library collection usage 
[Number of library collection item loans/Number of 
library collection items] 

9.42 10.03 10.25 11.50 

Nillumbik offers library services in partnership with 
Banyule and Whittlesea as the Yarra Plenty 
Regional Library service (YPRL). Two of the nine 
libraries are located in Nillumbik; the Eltham and 
Diamond Valley libraries. YPRL offers eBooks and 
eAudiobooks in partnership with Brisbane City 
Library Service, allowing library members access to 
more than 74,000 titles 

Resource standard 
Standard of library collection 
[Number of library collection items purchased in 
the last 5 years/Number of library collection items] 
x100 

86.00% 87.55% 85.24% 90.40% 

Nillumbik offers library services in partnership with 
Banyule and Whittlesea as the Yarra Plenty 
Regional Library Service (YPRL). YPRL has a robust 
stock maintenance program where items are 
withdrawn from the collection due to age, non-
use, currency and irrelevance. More than 90 per 
cent of the items available for loan are less than 
five years old. 

Service cost 
Cost of library service 
[Direct cost of the library service/Number of visits] 

 $4.40  $5.26  $5.72  $6.29 

Nillumbik offers library services in partnership with 
Banyule and Whittlesea as the Yarra Plenty 
Regional Library Service. Each council contributes 
to the cost of running the library service. The 10% 
increase in the cost of the library service per visit is 
partly due to a 4.7% decline in library visits in 
2017-2018. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

Participation 
Active library members 
[Number of active library members/Municipal 
population] x100 

 
 

25.00% 
 
 

23.71% 
 
 

25.94% 
 
 

27.38% 
 
 

During the year, a total of 17,720 Nillumbik 
residents were active library members. This figure 
does not take into account the number of 
residents who utilise the many services provided 
by the Eltham and Diamond Valley libraries but 
may not be members of the Yarra Plenty Regional 
Library Service. 

MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH           

Satisfaction 
Participation in first Maternal & Child Health (MCH) 
home visit 
[Number of first MCH home visits/Number of birth 
notifications received] x100 

100.00% 101.36% 97.24% 99.49% 

In 2017-2018, the number of birth notifications 
received was closely linked to the number of home 
visits attended. Birth notifications received 
towards the end of the financial year will be 
provided with a home visit in the new financial 
year. 

Service standard 
Infant enrolments in the MCH service 
[Number of infants enrolled in the MCH service 
(from birth notifications received)/Number of birth 
notifications received] x100 

94.00% 102.04% 99.35% 99.32% 

The Maternal and Child Health Service has 
increased the number of infants enrolled from 
birth notifications, potentially demonstrating 
responsive and timely service delivery to new 
families with babies.  However, since 2015 a 
number of Maternal and Child Health service 
providers have migrated to a new record system. 
Difficulties in transitioning to this system have 
affected the reporting of enrolment data in a 
number of Local Government Areas. As such, 
caution should be taken when analysing data for 
this indicator. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

Service cost 
Cost of the MCH service 
[Cost of the MCH service/Hours worked by MCH 
nurses] 

 $0.00 $71.78  $70.02  $75.38 

In 2017-2018, an increase in overall MCH service 
costs occurred due to a number of factors, 
including: the MCH EBA salary increment, the 
employment of a permanent Enhanced Maternal 
and Child Health Nurse at 0.4EFT and resignations 
from three MCH positions and a staff member on 
long term sick leave requiring backfill by MCH 
relievers. 

Participation 
Participation in the MCH service 
[Number of children who attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year)/Number of children 
enrolled in the MCH service] x100 

81.15% 72.88% 77.76% 78.76% 
The Maternal and Child Health Service continues 
to provide a connected and responsive program to 
families with young children in Nillumbik. 

Participation  
Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal 
children 
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the year)/Number of 
Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH service] 
x100 

76.00% 75.76% 68.29% 78.95% 

The overall MCH enrolment of Aboriginal families 
and young children demonstrates a connection to 
and linkages with the MCH service in Nillumbik. A 
small variation in the low raw numbers of this 
client group accounts for what otherwise appears 
to be a significant percentage increase from the 
previous year. 
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ACTIVE AND CREATIVE PEOPLE 

Active lifestyles and artistic expression are fostered through participation and innovation. 

At a glance 

Operating expenditure: $21.750 million 

Core activities 

 Edendale Community Environment Farm 

 Environmental education and events 

 Learning, arts and culture 

 Leisure services and facilities 

Interesting facts 

 1,341,310 visits to five major recreational facilities 

 101,334 people took part in one or more of Council’s arts and culture programs 

 12 opportunities to engage with public and participatory arts through four ‘Living in the 

Landscape’ public art incubator projects, six public programs and workshops, and two major 

creative consultations 

 51 opportunities to recognise community arts and enable access to arts and culture, with 13 

local history groups supported, 11 exhibitions at the Eltham Library Community Gallery, 11 

poetry readings, nine performances of theatre and music, and seven Arts & Cultural 

Development grants to community arts groups 

 113 opportunities to recognise the creative industries, with 64 artists featured in 2018 

Nillumbik Prize exhibition & Artists Open Studios 30th anniversary exhibition, 25 artists 

featured in Artists Open Studios, 11 recipient artists of three major awards, 10 art acquisitions, 

and the publication of the Literary Nillumbik Anthology 

 10,580 participants in environmental education programs at Edendale 

 204 youth participants in Nillumbik Youth Theatre 

Achievements 

 Implementation of the 2011-2018 Recreation Strategy has culminated in substantial external 
investment in recreation infrastructure being secured and significant design planning ready for 
commencement of construction in 2018-2019. Major projects, including the redevelopment of 
the Eltham Leisure Centre, are nearing completion and planning for delivery of future 
recreation facilities and services is well progressed, including facility masterplans. 

 Completed works in the southern precinct of the Civic Drive Open Space Precinct Plan, with a 
new brief prepared to commission development of an art installation within the precinct. 

 Further to the adoption in mid-2017 of a Lifetime Play Strategy Planning Framework, 
completed an audit of all playspaces in Nillumbik. 

 Prepared a draft framework plan for Hurstbridge Open Space Precinct for public consultation. 

 Launched several signature programs for supporting creative industries – namely, ‘The 
Nillumbik Prize’ and ‘Literary Nillumbik’. 

 Supported and promoted two community-led performing arts projects – ‘Shakespeare in the 
Park’ and ‘Come Together Music and Arts Festival’. 
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 Continued implementation of the Recreation Trails Strategy, including: 1) completed 
construction of Cherry Tree Road Trail connecting Panton Hill with Hurstbridge; 2) progressed 
Planning Scheme Amendment C108 for gazetting in December 2017 and secured funding 
towards the construction of the Diamond Creek Trail extension; and, 3) advocated and assisted 
with obtaining State Government funding for the Northern Region Trail. 

 Commenced detailed concept planning for various sports facilities: Diamond Creek netball 
pavilion redevelopment; Eltham Central precinct community/sports hub and sportsground 
lighting; Marngrook Oval pavilion development; and the Diamond Valley Sports and Fitness 
Centre redevelopment. 

 Commenced construction on redevelopment of Research Park pavilion. 

 Progressed delivery of the Eltham Leisure Centre aquatics redevelopment and stadium 
upgrade, and finalised upgrades to the health and fitness facility. 

 Secured funding for the redevelopment of Susan Street Reserve and Eltham Lower Park sports 
pavilions, lighting upgrade at Marngrook Oval and Eltham Central, and the redevelopment of 
Yarrambat Park cricket nets. 

 Developed and adopted Arts and Culture Plan 2018-2022 and implemented first-year actions, 
including project planning for Nillumbik Digital Agora and roll-out of signature major awards 
programs such as the Nillumbik Prize and Literary Nillumbik. 

Challenges 

 Many community infrastructure projects are reliant on being successful in achieving significant 
external funding. 

 Review and update of the Recreation Strategy was deferred to 2018-2019 to allow the 
progression of other major strategy development, such as the Green Wedge Management 
Plan, which have implications for future provision of recreation infrastructure and services. 

 Council was unsuccessful in securing $2.5 million in a Growing Suburbs Fund (GSF) application 
for the Diamond Creek Trail extension in 2017. However, Council has submitted an application 
for the remaining shortfall of $3 million in the 2018 GSF funding round. 

 A Growing Suburbs Fund application to support ongoing implementation of the 2008 Eltham 
Lower Park Masterplan was not successful. 

 The volume of capital works and compressed timeframes due to adhering to grant funding 
obligations. 

 An arson attack on the Eltham North Adventure Playground has required the unplanned use of 
resources and additional funding. 

The year ahead 

 Expected completion of the Eltham North and Research sporting pavilions, Eltham North 
Adventure Playground rebuild, Civic Drive precinct community facilities, as well as progress 
design of the Diamond Valley Sports and Fitness Centre redevelopment. 

 Commence review and update of the Open Space and Recreation Strategy. 

 Complete works for the playspace component of the Civic Drive Open Space Precinct Plan, 
including exercise stations and park amenities, by the end of 2018. 

 Commence works to implement the Plenty Park Masterplan. 

 Develop an implementation plan that forms Stage 3 of the Lifetime Play Strategy planning to 
inform a 10-year capital works program. 

 Complete planning for the Hurstbridge Open Space Precinct. 
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 Seek additional funding for the Diamond Creek Trail extension in the next round of the Building 
Better Regions Fund. More generally, continue to advocate and lobby for funding for broader 
trails network development. 

 Construction is due to commence on the redevelopment of the Eltham North Reserve pavilion 
in August. 

 Open the Eltham Leisure Centre aquatic facilities to the public in September. 

 Undertake a feasibility study for the development of a public art gallery of regional 
significance. 

 Commence public consultation in the third quarter of 2018 on a draft lease agreement with 
Diamond Valley Railway. 
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How we performed against the Council Plan 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including 
the results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators included in the Council Plan. 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 

 
2016 2017 2018   

Community satisfaction with aquatic and leisure 
centres 7.57 7.44 7.7 

Community satisfaction with sports ovals 7.9 7.75 8.17 

Community satisfaction with on and off-road bike 
paths 7.7 7.44 7.72 

Community satisfaction with arts and cultural events, 
programs and activities 7.85 7.83 7.99 

Community satisfaction with provision and 
maintenance of parks and gardens 7.19 7.35 7.34 

Source: 2018 Annual Community Survey Scale from 0 (very dissatisfied) to 10 (very satisfied) 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18   

Attendance at aquatic centres (3) 160,492  50,361  61,152  

Source: Council records       

 
Attendance at leisure centres (non-aquatic) (4) 

   
1,415,307  1,442,010  1,341,310  

Source: Council records 

    Total number of participants in arts and cultural 
programs (5) 

122,749 105,307 101,334 

Source: Council records 

      

 Increasing  Decreasing  No change ? Trend unclear 

 

Comments: 

(3) Due to the closure of the wet component of the Eltham Leisure Centre during refurbishment works, 
overall attendance at aquatic centres has been considerably reduced over the past two years. 

(4) Overall attendance at non-aquatic facilities has also been impacted by the refurbishment works at 
Eltham Leisure Centre as the wet component is an attractor for the dry component as well. 

(5) Participation numbers in arts and cultural programs has been affected by a reduced resource allocation 
for such programs due to financial constraints in recent years. 
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Budget 2017-2018 major initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified 
in the 2017-2018 budget for the year. 

MAJOR INITIATIVES RESULT PROGRESS 

Recreation trail communications tool 

Actual $0 

Budget $30,000 

 
Partly 

achieved 

Existing trails need to be correctly identified 
with levels of service in place prior to the 
online tool being implemented. The 
mapping of existing trails has commenced. 

Arts and Cultural Plan – Stage 2 (Events and 
Festivals) 

Actual $29,155 

Budget $30,000 

Achieved 
The Arts and Culture Plan 2018-2022 was 
adopted in December 2017 and Year 1 
actions have been implemented. 

Plenty Park Master Plan review (Year 1 of 2) 

Actual $0 

Budget $20,000 

Partly 
achieved 

A desktop review was commenced but is 
currently on hold due to resourcing 
constraints. Project scope will be refined so 
that external resources can be utilised to 
ensure completion of the review in 2018-
2019 financial year. 

Nillumbik Shire Council Recreation Strategy 
(Year 1 of 2) 

Actual $0 

Budget $15,000 
Not started 

In early 2018, commencement of the 
review of this strategy was deferred until 
early 2019 on the back of broader Green 
Wedge Management Plan and 
Housing/Population strategies that need to 
progress in advance of the recreation 
strategy, which is also likely to integrate 
with an open space strategy review. 

 

Budget 2017-2018 funded services 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-2018 
budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service. 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

EXPENDITURE 
REVENUE 
NET COST 

($’000) 

Arts and Cultural Services 
Arts and Cultural Services is responsible for the cultural 
vitality and community engagement in the arts across the 
Shire. 

527 
(7) 

520 

Leisure Facilities and 
Services 

This program is responsible for the provision of leisure 

facilities and services – such as leisure centres, 

sportsgrounds, recreation trails and playgrounds – for the 
whole community. 

9,038 
(6,312) 

2,726 
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Service performance indicators and measures 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures including, explanation of material 
variances. 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

AQUATIC FACILITIES           

Service standard 
Health inspections of aquatic facilities 
[Number of authorised officer inspections of Council 
aquatic facilities/Number of Council aquatic 
facilities] 

^0^ 0 0 0 

Council does not carry out routine inspections of 
aquatic facilities. This is undertaken by the 
contracted service providers as part of the 
contract requirements for the facility 

Health and Safety 
Reportable safety incidents at aquatic facilities 
[Number of WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility 
safety incidents] 

^0^ 0 0 0 
There were no reportable WorkSafe incidents 
during the financial year. 

Service cost 
Cost of indoor aquatic facilities 
[Direct cost of indoor aquatic facilities less income 
received/Number of visits to indoor aquatic 
facilities] 

 $1.24  $2.36  $0  $0 
Council's only indoor aquatic facility at the Eltham 
Leisure Centre was closed during 2017-2018 while 
undergoing a $19 million redevelopment. 

Service Cost 
Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities 
[Direct cost of outdoor aquatic facilities less income 
received/Number of visits to outdoor aquatic 
facilities] 

 $6.08  $4.67  $3.69  $3.07 

The closure of Council's indoor pool for 
redevelopment resulted in a significant increase in 
the number of visits to the outdoor pool, which in 
turn decreased the operating costs. 

Utilisation 
Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities/Municipal 
population] 

4.18 2.56 0.80 0.94 

Council's only indoor aquatic facility at the Eltham 
Leisure Centre was closed during 2017-2018 while 
undergoing a $19 million redevelopment. This 
closure significantly affected the number of visits 
to Council's aquatic facilities. Council's only 
outdoor aquatic facility at Diamond Creek is open 
seasonally from November to March. 
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SAFE AND HEALTHY ENVIRONMENTS 

Healthy and safe communities enjoy living in our iconic Green Wedge environment. 

At a glance 

Operating expenditure: $18.821 million 

Core activities 

 Amenity and noise control 

 Biodiversity protection 

 Building permits 

 Building safety and regulation 

 Bus shelters 

 Bushfire recovery 

 Car parking regulation and car parks 

 Collection of waste, hard waste, green waste and recycling 

 Energy efficiency programs 

 Environmental planning and policy 

 Graffiti control 

 Heritage protection and memorials 

 Land erosion and management works 

 Land management advice 

 Landfill rehabilitation 

 Local roads, bridge and footpaths 

 Management of conservation reserves 

 Pedestrian crossings 

 Planning investigations and compliance 

 Property maintenance and fencing 

 Public health protection and regulation 

 Public transport and main roads advocacy 

 School crossing supervisors 

 Septic tank regulation 

 Street lighting 

 Street tree planting 

 Traffic control and road safety 

 Water quality and conservation 

 Weed and pest control 

Interesting facts 

 10,873 dogs registered 

 3,025 cats registered 

 741 Inspections of 431 registered food/health premises 

 3,874 vaccines administered to children under five years 

 1,929 secondary school children were immunised in the school program 

 61 tobacco related inspections undertaken with 121 tobacco test purchases completed 
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 16 ‘Friends of' groups supported at 144 working bees 

 99 bushland and wetland reserves covering 490 hectares maintained 

 More than 4,920 indigenous plants planted within reserves 

 64 per cent of kerbside waste diverted from landfill 

 1,113,008 green waste collections 

 556,504 waste bin collections 

 556,504 recycling bin collections 

 56 septic applications lodged, 118 inspections of septic tanks systems undertaken 

 30 hectares of ovals were mowed at least 34 times 

 537 hectares of open space maintained 

 1,306 trees inspected and maintained 

 403 kilometres of roadsides mowed 

 90 playgrounds maintained 

 309 kilometres unsealed roads and 394 kilometres unsealed shoulders maintained  

 465 kilometres sealed roads  

 409 kilometres constructed drains maintained 

 338 kilometres of footpath inspection and maintained  

 267 kilometres of line-marking maintained 

 12,142 signs maintained  

 Building permits issued: 18 Dwellings, 23 Alterations and additions, 3 Commercial, 72 
Miscellaneous 

 3,632 parking infringement notices issued  

 835 disability parking permits issued 

 Zero bushfire rebuilding site plans issued 

Achievements 

 Endorsed the program and associated timeframes for the Green Wedge Management Plan. 

 Commenced development of a Fire Mitigation Strategy by conducting a workshop in 
September 2017 and consultation with internal and external stakeholders. 

 Continued planning and preparation for emergency events and updating the Municipal 
Emergency Management Plan (MEMP) and Municipal Fire Management Plan (MFMP). 

 Commenced investigation of options for housing and retirement living to enable residents to 
age in place. 

 Adopted Domestic Animal Management Plan (DAMP) 2017-2021 and implemented first year 
actions of the plan. 

 In response to imminent changes in the aged care sector, community transport has been re-
positioned to form part of the Community Programs department. Additional grant funding 
from the Commonwealth Government was secured this financial year to better support the 



 

78 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

community transport service in the short term, in the lead-up to implementation of the Aged 
Care Reforms in 2018-2019. 

 Support has been provided to the Diamond Creek Men’s Shed to construct accessible toilets at 
their building. These works were completed in March. Eltham Men’s Shed (EMS) was 
successful in securing funding from the State Government to construct a shed. The EMS moved 
into their new home located at the previous Wattletree Road Pre-school site in March 2018. 

 The State of the Environment Report has been provided to the Environment and Sustainability 
Advisory Committee for consideration and review. 

 Initial detailed design for integrated water management has been completed to inform the 
Operations Centre Masterplan. 

 Documentation associated with the provision of a graffiti management service has been 
completed, and the tender process is currently underway. 

 Completed a box clearance program along roadsides, with the exception of one road in 
Dunmoochin where further consultation is required. 

 Applied and received approval from VicRoads to lower the speed limit of the rural section of 
Broad Gully Road to 60 km/hour. 

 Delivered new footpaths along Ironbark Road (Yarrambat), Kangaroo Ground-Wattle Glen 
Road (Wattle Glen), Research Park (Research), Heidelberg-Kinglake Road (Wattle Glen) and 
Cherry Tree Road (Hurstbridge). 

 Advocated for improved public transport, traffic management and reduced road congestion. 

Challenges 

 Answering the key question in developing a new Green Wedge Management Plan: ‘What is the 
best way for us to manage Nillumbik’s Green Wedge, now and into the future?’ 

 Ensuring that the Fire Mitigation Strategy in development reflects a truly comprehensive 
approach to fire mitigation and allows for community consultation. 

 Ensuring community readiness in the face of high potential for bushfires in summer 2018-
2019. 

 Addressing the issue of food accessibility and affordability. 

 Reducing violence against women and children. 

 An ageing population and a lack of housing diversity in the Shire. 

 Developing men’s sheds in remote communities. 

 Further development of the detailed design for the Operations Centre Masterplan is on hold 
until clarification regarding the access point into the Operations Centre is provided by 
VicRoads as part of the Yan Yean Road duplication. 

 Drainage system did not cope very well during flooding events in summer 2017-2018. 

 Advocacy is underway in response to Yarra Valley Water's planned rollout of reticulated sewer 
in Eltham South. This is to specifically address the need for the inclusion of additional 
properties to be connected as part of the rollout and/or for provision to be made for all 
properties within the project area to be connected at a later date as part of the scheme. The 
community sewerage scheme, as currently proposed, only seeks to connect approximately 60 
per cent of properties. 

 The rehabilitation of Plenty Landfill has been delayed and works are scheduled to be 
completed by the end of 2019. Kangaroo Ground is scheduled to commence shortly 
afterwards. 
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The year ahead 

 Appoint a 40-member community panel to sit from August to October 2018 to respond to the 
question of ‘What is the best way for us to manage Nillumbik’s Green Wedge, now and into 
the future?’ A panel report with recommendations will be presented to Council in late October 
2018. Following wider community engagement and consultation, a new Green Wedge 
Management Plan will be adopted by Council. 

 Review results of community consultation and present a draft Fire Mitigation Strategy to 
Council for endorsement. Implement bushfire mitigation, awareness and resilience actions 
from the adopted Fire Mitigation Strategy. 

 Continue emergency management planning and updating of emergency management plans. 

 Review of Council's Shire-wide Housing Strategy along with the review of the Activity Centre 
Structure Plans in Diamond Creek and Eltham to consider options for ageing in place. 

 Discuss and review the purpose and scope of the State of the Environment report. This will be 
a priority action for Council’s new Environment Lead Coordinator role. 

 Complete detailed design for the Operations Centre Masterplan in the second half of 2018. 

 Review and update the Domestic Wastewater Management Plan and continue to advocate to 
Yarra Valley Water for prioritisation and extensions to the sewer network, including Eltham 
South. 

 Review the graffiti management removal policy and service contract. 

 Complete an open space maintenance program schedule for all Category 1 priority 
sites/locations by the end of September 2018. 

 

  



 

80 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

   

6.89 

6.52 

7.41 

7.36 

7.61 

8 

6.78 

6.33 

6.01 

6.42 

7.22 

7.94 

7.3 

6.8 

6.53 

6.88 

7.43 

7.91 

8.14 

6.22 

6.39 

6.1 

6.12 

7.31 

8.2 

7.11 

7.1 

6.44 

7.06 

7.58 

8 

8.13 

6.31 

6.44 

5.98 

5.99 

7.26 

8.36 

7.1 

0 2 4 6 8 10

Community satisfaction with fire prevention
works

Community satisfaction with maintenance
and repair of local sealed roads

Community satisfaction with Council
meeting responsibilities to the environment

Community satisfaction with fortnightly
garbage collection

Community satisfaction with fortnightly
recycling collection

Community satisfaction with weekly green
waste collection

Community satisfaction with drains
maintenance and repairs

Community satisfaction with footpath
maintenance and repairs

Community satisfaction with local traffic
management

Community satisfaction with parking
enforcement

Community satisfaction with maintenance
and cleaning of shopping strips

Community satisfaction with environmental
programs and facilities

Community satisfaction with animal
management

Satisfaction with aspects of Council's 
performance 

2018

2017

2016



 

81 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

How we performed against the Council Plan 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including 
results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan. 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 
  2016 2017 2018   

Community satisfaction with fire prevention works 6.89 6.8 7.1 

Community satisfaction with maintenance and repair of 
local sealed roads 6.52 6.53 6.44 

Community satisfaction with Council meeting 
responsibilities to the environment 7.41 6.88 7.06 

Community satisfaction with fortnightly garbage 
collection 7.36 7.43 7.58 

Community satisfaction with fortnightly recycling 
collection 7.61 7.91 8 

Community satisfaction with weekly green waste 
collection 8 8.14 8.13 

Community satisfaction with drains maintenance and 
repairs 6.78 6.22 6.31 

Community satisfaction with footpath maintenance and 
repairs 6.33 6.39 6.44 

Community satisfaction with local traffic management 6.01 6.1 5.98 

Community satisfaction with parking enforcement (6) 6.42 6.12 5.99 

Community satisfaction with maintenance and cleaning 
of shopping strips 7.22 7.31 7.26 

Community satisfaction with environmental programs 
and facilities 7.94 8.2 8.36 

Community satisfaction with animal management 7.3 7.11 7.1 

Source: 2018 Annual Community Survey Scale from 0 (very dissatisfied) to 10 (very satisfied) 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 
  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18   

Remove more than 90% of reported graffiti within 
target time (7)  n/a n/a n/a ? 
Source: Council records         
Percentage of kerbside waste collections diverted from 
landfill (8) 69% 66% 64% 

Source: Council records         
Annual immunisation coverage rate for age cohorts 12 

– <63 months 92.3 93.8 94.3 

Source: Nillumbik Health, Immunisation Annual Report 2015-16; 
Nillumbik Immunisation Service Annual Report 2017-2018; Banyule 
City Council Immunisation Service Data Report 2017-18; Banyule City 
Council advice on final 2017-2018 immunisation coverage rates. 

   
  

     Total number of 'Key Ages & Stages Activities' 
completed by MCH Service 5,459 5,596 5,668 

Source: Nillumbik Maternal & Child Health Annual Report 

         Number of requests for new footpaths not responded 
to within 14 days n/a n/a 0 ?
Source: Council records 

   
  

Number of requests for tree works not actioned within 
12 months as at 30th June n/a n/a 20 ?
Source: Council records 
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 Increasing  Decreasing  No change ? Trend unclear 

 

Comments: 

(6) Over the past three years, there has been a gradual decline in satisfaction with parking enforcement. 
However, parking enforcement is rated relatively low in importance by community satisfaction survey 
respondents. 

(7) Accurate data for this measure is not available. As part of the current tender process for this service, 
new processes and measures will be put in place to ensure this service can be accurately measured.  

(8) Nillumbik residents diverted 13,640 tonnes of kerbside waste from landfill during FY 2017-2018, 739 
tonnes less than FY 2016-2017. However, Nillumbik continues to be well above the state diversion 
targets. 
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Budget 2017-2018 major initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified 
in the 2017-2018 budget for the year. 

MAJOR INITIATIVES RESULT PROGRESS 

Proactive tree management in high public 
use areas 

Actual $ 49,379 

Budget $ 300,000 

Partly 
achieved 

The first stage of this initiative entailed 
tree assessments by a contractor. The 
assessment report was not received until 
May 2018. Council is now arranging for the 
works to be performed in 2018-2019. 

Corporate Asset Register 

Actual $0 

Budget $100,000 

 
Achieved 

The first year of the project plan was 
completed. OPEX funds were used instead 
of New Initiative funding. 

Yarrambat Township Plan 

Actual $18,519 

Budget $80,000 

 
Partly 

achieved 

As of 31 July 2018, this project has been re-
scoped. The original intent could not be 
realised under current State Government 
policy objectives. 

Eltham Activity Centre Review 

Actual $35,701 

Budget $60,000 

 
Partly 

achieved 

A review of the urban design guidelines for 
the Eltham Activity Centre has 
commenced. Community engagement for 
this review will begin in late July/August.  

Eltham Precinct 4 – site planning 

Actual $8,484 

Budget $30,000 
Achieved 

The master plan for the civic spaces in 
Precincts 3 & 4 has been completed and is 
being incorporated into the review of the 
Eltham Activity Centre. 

Housing – Neighbourhood character 
analysis (Year 1 of 2) 

Actual $0 

Budget $30,000 

 
Not 

started 

This project was put on hold during 2017 
due to resourcing constraints.  Currently 
being re-scoped for 2018-2019. 

Heritage investigations (Year 3 of 5) 

Actual $0 

Budget $30,000 

Not 
started  

Budget for this project was withdrawn at 
the mid-year review due to heritage 
amendments being considered a lower 
priority item. 

Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-
2021 

Actual $14,814 

Budget $25,000 

Achieved  

The DAMP was adopted in October 2017. A 
number of first-year actions were 
implemented in-house without incurring 
consultancy costs. 

Equine Industry Strategy 

Actual $20,000 

Budget $20,000 

Achieved  
Development of this strategy in 
partnership with the community and 
industry has been initiated. 
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Budget 2017-2018 funded services 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-2018 
budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service. 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

EXPENDITURE 
REVENUE 
NET COST 

($’000) 

Animal Management 
The Animal Management service works under the required 
legislative framework to protect the welfare of animals and 
the community. 

809 
(904) 

(95) 

Building Regulation 
This service provides building permits, safety and 
regulation for the whole Nillumbik community. 

584 
(307) 

277 

Emergency Management 

This program implements, monitors and evaluates the Fire 
Prevention Program and Emergency Management Plan to 
ensure plans are in place to protect the Nillumbik 
community. 

1,214 
(3) 

1,211 

Environment and 
Conservation 

This function provides environment and conservation 
services and programs for the whole Nillumbik community, 
such as planning and policy; education and events; water 
quality and conservation; biodiversity protection; and 
energy efficiency programs. 

569 
(13) 
556 

Food Safety, Public 
Health and Immunisation 

This service works towards improving public health for the 
whole community through food safety and health premises 
regulation; public health protection and education; 
immunisation services; and noise regulation. 

923 
(346) 

577 

Infrastructure Design, 
Construction and 
Transport 

This service provides services for the whole community 
including design for capital works projects, including roads, 
bridges, drainage, landscape, traffic treatments; 
coordination of capital works; procurement and 
construction; engineering assessment of planning 
applications and approval of subdivision works; traffic 
control; road safety; advocacy on public transport and 
main roads and street lighting. 

2,604 
(1,515) 

1,089 

Parking and Local Laws 
This function provides car parking regulation, amenity 
protection and local laws permits for the whole Nillumbik 
community. 

 
630 

(432) 
198 

Parks and Reserves 
Maintenance 

This service maintains parks, sportsgrounds, conservation 
reserves, street trees and roadsides for the whole 
Nillumbik community. 

6,100 
(53) 

6,047 

Planning Investigations 
and Compliance 

This service conducts planning investigations and promotes 
compliance with the Nillumbik Planning Scheme and 
permit conditions for the whole Nillumbik community. 

234 
(15) 
219 

Property, Fleet and Asset 
Management 

This service provides infrastructure asset management and 
planning, building maintenance and fencing, property 
management and fleet management. 

2,007 
(5,526) 
(3,519) 

Recycling and Waste 
Services 

This service provides collection of household waste, 
recycling, green waste, hard waste, waste education and 
landfill rehabilitation for the whole Nillumbik community. 

7,539 
(881) 
6,658 

Road and Drainage This service provides maintenance of local roads and 4,555 
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SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

EXPENDITURE 
REVENUE 
NET COST 

($’000) 
Maintenance bridges, pedestrian bridges, footpaths, trails, drains and 

bus shelters for the whole community. 
(17) 

4,538 

School Crossings 
This service funds school crossing supervisors for school 
children across the Shire. 

860 
(248) 

612 
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Service performance indicators and measures 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures, including explanation of material 
variances. 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

ANIMAL MANAGEMENT           

Timeliness 
Time taken to action animal management requests 
[Number of days between receipt and first response 
action for all animal management requests/Number 
of animal management requests] 

0 1 1 1 

The majority of requests, including dog attacks and 
collection of wandering dogs, are actioned within 
one hour of receiving the request. Other requests, 
including nuisance barking dogs, are responded to 
within one business day. 

Service standard 
Animals reclaimed 
[Number of animals reclaimed/Number of animals 
collected] x100 

70.00% 68.80% 61.02% 92.17% 

Service provision has been more accurately 
calculated this year following a service review. This 
has resulted in a significant improvement in our 
animal return rate. 

Service cost 
Cost of animal management service 
[Direct cost of the animal management 
service/Number of registered animals] 

 $39.19  $37.64  $38.62  $49.52 

Service costs have been more accurately calculated 
this year following a service review. Calculation 
does not include income which more than offset 
cost of service. 

Health and safety 
Animal management prosecutions 
[Number of successful animal management 
prosecutions] 

5.00 8.00 8.00 5.00 

All prosecutions were as a result of dog attacks or a 
dog rush. The annual results recorded are 
independent year on year, reflective of isolated 
incidents occurring within the Shire. 

FOOD SAFETY           

Timeliness 
Time taken to action food complaints 
[Number of days between receipt and first response 
action for all food complaints/Number of food 
complaints] 
 

0.00 3.20 3.63 2.31 
A review of internal procedures resulted in a 
decrease in the time taken to action food-related 
complaints from previous years. 

Service standard 
Food safety assessments 
[Number of registered Class 1 food premises and 
Class 2 food premises that receive an annual food 

120% 100% 100% 100% 
All 252 registered Class 1 and 2 premises received a 
food safety assessment in the 2017 reporting 
period. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 
safety assessment in accordance with the Food Act 
1984/Number of registered Class 1 food premises and 
Class 2 food premises that require an annual food 
safety assessment in accordance with the Food Act 
1984] x100 

Service cost 
Cost of food safety service 
[Direct cost of the food safety service/Number of food 
premises registered or notified in accordance with the 
Food Act 1984] 

 $896.03   $603.66   $547.20   $628.60  

A moderate increase in the cost of service was due 
to increased costs associated with staff turnover 
and market and festival inspections. However, the 
cost is 100% offset by income. 

Health and safety 
Critical and major non-compliance outcome 
notifications 
[Number of critical non-compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-compliance notifications 
about a food premises followed up/Number of critical 
non-compliance outcome notifications and major 
non-compliance notifications about a food premises] 
x100 

92.00% 100.00% 100.00% 95.24% 

120 out 126 were followed up in 2017.  Six premises 
received follow-ups outside of the reporting period 
due to the time allowed to meet the compliance 
requirements. 

ROADS           

Satisfaction of use 
Sealed local road requests 
[Number of sealed local road requests/Kilometres of 
sealed local roads] x100 

26.63 27.65 29.21 21.80 

Council received 97 requests relating to 445 
kilometres of sealed local roads. This is down on 
figures in previous years of 116 in 2014-2015, 121 in 
2015-2016 and 130 in 2016-2017. 

Condition 
Sealed local roads maintained to condition standards 
[Number of kilometres of sealed local roads below the 
renewal intervention level set by Council/Kilometres 
of sealed local roads] x100 

78.00% 95.83% 94.16% 93.71% 
The percentage of sealed local roads maintained at 
the adopted condition standard remained stable in 
2017-2018. 

Service cost 
Cost of sealed local road reconstruction 
[Direct cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction/Square metres of sealed local roads 

 $0.00  $0.00  $ 0.00  $61.78 
This is the first year we have had road 
reconstruction to report. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 
reconstructed] 

Service Cost 
Cost of sealed local road resealing 
[Direct cost of sealed local road resealing/Square 
metres of sealed local roads resealed] 

 $9.34  $14.57  $9.41  $9.40 

This year's cost of resealing local roads is similar to 
last year's result. This year's result is in line with the 
result for 2014-15 as well. As an interface council, 
we have a higher proportion of roads with spray 
seals rather than the more expensive asphalt 
overlays required on local roads in metropolitan 
and inner-city municipalities. 

Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with sealed local roads 
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed on the condition of sealed local 
roads] 

65.60 65.20 65.00 64.40 

In the 2018 Annual Community Survey, satisfaction 
with the maintenance and repairs of sealed local 
roads remained stable at 64.4 out of 100, compared 
to 65 out of 100 in 2017. This level of satisfaction 
remains categorised as 'good'. 

WASTE COLLECTION           

Satisfaction 
Kerbside bin collection requests 
[Number of kerbside garbage and recycling bin 
collection requests/Number of kerbside bin collection 
households] x1000 

166.50 149.14 197.91 216.08 
The increase relates to a significantly higher number 
of bin repair requests which may be related to the 
quality of bin stock and/or ageing bin stock. 

Service standard 
Kerbside collection bins missed 
[Number of kerbside garbage and recycling collection 
bins missed/Number of scheduled kerbside garbage 
and recycling collection bin lifts] x10,000 

14.55 15.62 17.42 9.25 

The number of missed bins reported has decreased. 
The reported data for 2017-2018 is only for missed 
bins that have been completely missed by the 
collection crew. 

Service cost 
Cost of kerbside garbage bin collection service 
[Direct cost of the kerbside garbage bin collection 
service/Number of kerbside garbage collection bins] 

 $64.56  $66.83  $63.47  $69.81 

The number of bins provided to residents 
(particularly additional bins) has increased and the 
cost to provide the service has remained 
approximately the same, resulting in an overall 
increase in service costs. 

Service cost 
Cost of kerbside recyclables collection service 
[Direct cost of the kerbside recyclables bin collection 

 $35.08  $35.99  $30.85  $28.06 
The cost of providing the recyclables collection 
service decreased due to increased income from the 
contractor which accepts recyclables from Council. 



 

89 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 
service/Number of kerbside recyclables collection 
bins] 

Waste diversion 
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 
[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected 
from kerbside bins/Weight of garbage, recyclables 
and green organics collected from kerbside bins] x100 

70.00% 69.30% 66.17% 63.66% 

Nillumbik residents diverted 13,640 tonnes of 
kerbside waste from landfill during FY 2017-2018, 
739 tonnes less than FY 2016-2017, ensuring 
Nillumbik continues to be well above the State 
diversion targets. 
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A PROSPEROUS ECONOMY 

A strong local economy that supports business growth, jobs and community wealth. 

At a glance 

Operating expenditure: $1.099 million 

Core activities 

 Activity Centre planning 

 Land use planning and policy 

 Local business networks 

 Local business training and seminars 

 Local community and farmers’ markets and festivals 

 Planning permits and regulation 

 Subdivision regulation and supervision 

 Tourism funding and support 

 Township marketing schemes 

Interesting facts 

 622 decisions made on planning applications 

 1,039 total planning decisions made 

 98 per cent of applications approved 

 80 per cent of Council decisions upheld at VCAT 

 Took part in 4 regional business breakfasts with Northern Melbourne Business Achievement 
Awards 

 22 business mentoring sessions delivered over five days of quarterly small business clinics  

 24 business mentoring sessions delivered over six days of quarterly small business clinics, as 
well as15 mentoring sessions held on the Small Business Bus across three locations 

 Six Small Business Victoria workshops held with over 65 participants 

 Six networking seminars/workshops delivered with Nillumbik Tourism Business with average 
attendance of 30 micro businesses per session 

 One business breakfast attended by over 150 members of the local business community 

 12 Hurstbridge Farmers' Markets held with estimated average of 750 patrons and 19 
stallholders at each market 

 5,770 visitors to 35 artists from 25 studios as part of Nillumbik Artists’ Open Studios over three 
weekends. A 30th anniversary exhibition attracted 1,925 visitors. 

 7,250 visitors to 16 wineries as part of The Artisan Hills Open Cellars over two weekends 
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Achievements 

 Commenced development of a new Nillumbik Economic Development Strategy. Currently in 
the research and development phase. 

 The Small Business Development Program continues to be implemented with the provision of 
the Small Business Bus, the Business Mentoring Program and workshop series, including 
marketing, social media, business basics and mentoring sessions. 

 Commenced development of an Equine Industry Strategy, with scoping and initial community 
consultation completed. 

 A technology strategy has been developed with a focus on modernising local infrastructure 
and systems that will position council for future technology, including a smart cities agenda.  
The development of a smart cities agenda is underway, identifying problems and opportunities 
and areas of focus for smart initiatives. This will culminate in a five year plan. 

 Research into relevant visitor markets and state opportunities is now complete, and 
recommendations have been made to move forward on destination management and 
marketing. 

 Progressed the review of Eltham & Diamond Creek Structure Plans. 

 A review of the urban design guidelines for both Diamond Creek and Eltham Activity Centres 
has commenced. 

 A master plan for Precincts 3 and 4 in the Eltham Activity Centre was completed and is being 
incorporated into the review of the Eltham Activity Centre. 

 Adopted and commenced an implementation plan for the St Andrews township. 

 Completed streetscape works in Panton Hill. 

 The Diamond Creek Streetscape Beautification Plan was completed. An improved pedestrian 
path network has been implemented, better connecting the town's key meeting places. 

 New functionality was introduced to Council’s website, enabling planning applications 
currently subject to public notification (advertising) to be viewed online via Council’s website. 

Challenges 

 A project plan is now being prepared for the Eltham Activity Centre Structure Plan area to 
ensure that the Eltham Activity Centre is brought forward in a considered and coordinated 
manner under one planning process, including community engagement and alignment with 
other Council Plan actions and projects, such as the Housing Strategy and Economic 
Development Strategy. 

 Implementation/delivery of many township and strategic plans are contingent on external 
funds. 

 The proposed amendment to the Yarrambat Township Plan was slated for re-scoping following 
advice given by Senior Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) 
Officers and Advisors to the Minister for Planning that the housing components of any plan are 
unlikely to be supported given the land is outside the Urban Growth Boundary. 
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The year ahead 

 Adopt a new Nillumbik Economic Development Strategy and create a set of indicators to 
measure success. 

 Undertake a feasibility study/review of rural activity/industry (including equine) in the Shire to 
identify opportunities for further growth. 

 A Northern Region grant proposal has been submitted to create an Internet of Things (IoT) 
technology network that covers key areas of the seven northern councils. 

 Implement a revised and refreshed Artisan Hills Marketing Plan and explore and make 
recommendations for participation in the wider Victorian tourism framework. 

 Community engagement is beginning in late July/August for both Diamond Creek and Eltham 
Activity Centres review. 

 Council will consider options for the development of the Yarrambat Township Plan. 

 Develop a new Hurstbridge township plan. 

 Explore the development of the former Eltham Shire offices and adjacent land and undertake 
public realm improvements to support the activity centre plans. 
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How we performed against the Council Plan 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan including 
results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan. 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2016 2017 2018   

Percentage of local residents who work within Nillumbik 22.30% n/a n/a ?
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) – Census 2016 – by place 
of work     

Number of commercial/industrial premises in Nillumbik n/a 986 n/a ?
Source: Rates Department, Nillumbik SC 

    
Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2015-16 2016-17 2017-18   

Percentage of planning applications determined within 
required timeframes (9) 80.0% 72.0% 69% 

Source: Planning Permit Activity Reporting System (PPARS) 
    

Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2016 2017 2018   

Nillumbik Shire's SEIFA score (index of advantage and 
disadvantage) 1093 n/a n/a ?

Source: https://economy.id.com.au/nillumbik/business-locations 
    

Number of registered businesses (10) 6,371 6,438 n/a 

Source: https://economy.id.com.au/nillumbik/number-of-businesses-
by-industry?sEndYear=2016 

    
 

 Increasing  Decreasing  No change ? Trend unclear 

 

Comments: 

(9) Resourcing due to staff secondments to other areas of Council and delays in backfilling positions over 
the last financial year has led to a minor decline in the number of applications assessed in statutory 
timeframes. 

(10) This indicator is supplementary to those in the Council Plan 2017-2021. 

 

  

https://economy.id.com.au/nillumbik/number-of-businesses-by-industry?sEndYear=2016
https://economy.id.com.au/nillumbik/number-of-businesses-by-industry?sEndYear=2016
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Budget 2017-2018 major initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified 
in the 2017-2018 budget for the year. 

MAJOR INITIATIVES RESULT PROGRESS 

Economic Development – Investment 
Facilitation 

Actual $0 

Budget $114,511 

Not started 

Due to key positions being vacant, 
compounded by Council reassessing and 
realigning its strategic direction, no funds 
were expended on this initiative. 

Artisan Hills projects including: 

Visiting friends and relatives (Year 2 of 4) 

Promotional campaigns 

Visitor information service review (Year 2 of 
2) 

Actual $886 

Budget $50,000 

Partly 
achieved 

Artisan Hills promotional campaigns were 
put on hold while an audit of visitor 
experiences was undertaken and awareness 
benchmarked in the community satisfaction 
survey. Research into relevant visitor 
markets and state opportunities is now 
complete. 

New Economic Development Strategy 
implementation (Year 2 of 5) 

Actual $8,000 

Budget $40,000 

 
Partly 

achieved 

This project is in the research and 
development phase. The next step will be 
the provision of an Issues and Opportunities 
Paper and alignment and integration with 
other shire-wide projects (e.g. Green Wedge 
Management Plan). 

Artisan Hills - Implementation Resources 

Actual $0 

Budget $36,000 

Achieved 
The Artisan Hills program is being reviewed 
with recommendations made for its future in 
the 2018-2019 financial year. 

 

Budget 2017-2018 funded services 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-2018 
budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service. 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

EXPENDITURE 
REVENUE 
NET COST 

($’000) 

Statutory Planning 
This service processes planning applications and 
subdivision applications. 

2,366 
(799) 
1,567 

Strategic Planning 
This service provides land use planning and policy, Planning 
Scheme management, activity centre planning and 
heritage protection for the whole community. 

1,332 
0 

1,332 

Tourism and Business 
Support 

This service builds tourism funding and support, local 
community and farmers’ markets, local business networks, 
training and seminars. 

885 
(14) 
871 
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Service performance indicators and measures 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures, including explanation of material 
variances. 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

STATUTORY PLANNING           

Timeliness 
Time taken to decide planning applications 
[The median number of days between receipt of a 
planning application and a decision on the application] 

90 92 112 93 

This figure is 19 days less than the last financial year, 
which is in accordance with the service changes that 
were implemented during the previous financial 
year. It was anticipated that, after an initial increase 
in the time taken to process planning applications 

while the changes were implemented, the longer-
term benefits would result in faster processing 
timeframes in future years. 

Service standard 
Planning applications decided within required time 
frames 
[(Number of regular planning application decisions 
made within 60 days) + (Number of VicSmart planning 
application decisions made within 10 days)/Number of 
planning application decisions made] x100 

73.00% 80.00% 71.98% 69.29% 

Resourcing due to staff secondments to other areas 
of Council and delays in backfilling positions over the 
last financial year has led to a minor decline in the 
number of applications assessed within statutory 
timeframes. 

Service cost 
Cost of statutory planning service 
[Direct cost of the statutory planning service/Number 
of planning applications received] 

 $2,789.72  $2,545.67  $2,961.14  $2,981.73 

Slight increase in costs due to decreased volume of 
applications in 2017-2018. The reported number of 
planning applications doesn't accurately reflect the 
true number of applications assessed in 2017-2018, 
due to the number of applications which are not 
reported through this process. 

Decision making 
Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside 
council's decision in relation to a planning 
application/Number of VCAT decisions in relation to 
planning applications] x100 

36.00% 70.00% 63.16% 80.00% 

VCAT upheld more of Council's decisions in the 
2017-2018 financial year. Eight decisions were 
upheld out of 10, compared to 12 out of 19 in 2016-
2017. 
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RESPONSIBLE LEADERSHIP 

Collaborative and consultative leadership that builds trust and makes the best possible use of 
available resources to the benefit of all in the pursuit of excellence. 

At a glance 

Operating expenditure: $26.327 million 

Core activities 

 Consultation processes and advisory committees 

 Council and committee meetings, civic functions, including citizenship ceremonies 

 Customer service and reception 

 Elections 

 Electronic and print communication, including media liaison 

 Finance and procurement 

 Human resource management and training 

 Information technology 

 Legislative compliance 

 Rates and property valuations 

 Risk management 

 Street naming and numbering 

 Website and online services 

Interesting facts 

 Four citizenship ceremonies held including Australia Day 

 97 media releases issued 

 1,151,870 web pages viewed 

 249,632 website users 

 5,031 Facebook likes 

 2,032 Twitter followers 

 70 e-bulletins issued 

 23,383 rates notices issued 

 53,377 phone calls into the customer service queue 

 29,205 visits to the front counter, which included processing 14,776 payments 

 19,958 customer service requests logged 
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Achievements 

 Successfully advocated for Nillumbik to be eligible for Commonwealth funding previously only 
available to rural councils. Council will make applications to this funding stream for local 
projects such as construction of the Diamond Creek Trail missing link. 

 Council delivered a zero rate increase in 2017-2018. 

 A debt reserve continued to be used with a view to working towards a no net debt position. 

 Commenced implementation of a program of surplus asset sales to provide funding for 
additional capital works. Following extensive community consultation, Council decided to sell 
only three of the parcels of land. 

 Council made progress towards having a fleet of low emission vehicles. 

 A continuous improvement framework has been developed and is being embedded across the 
organisation using a Lean Thinking, Agile Delivery and Human Centred Design methodology. 
Using this framework and approach, a number of pilot projects have been delivered which 
have largely focused on improvements to online services to make things easier for our 
customers. 

 The Organisational Culture and Capability Strategy (OCCS) has been reviewed and updated to 
reflect the Council Plan 2017-2021, our new organisational structure and priorities, and ways 
of working. All programs under the OCCS have commenced and are at different stages of 
implementation. 

 A number of key activities have been commenced as part of a Customer Experience Strategy, 
including: 
- Identifying some online payments that could be improved for customers; online bookings 

for hard waste rubbish collections and animal registrations and renewals are now live 

- User feedback was enabled on the Council's website, giving users an opportunity to 

provide opportunities for improvement 

- A customer phone benchmarking survey was conducted with 200 Nillumbik customers who 

provided valuable feedback on their experience dealing with Council 

- Rollout of the organisational Customer Service Training program began. 

 A number of digital technology initiatives are being pursued to improve the customer service 
experience and staff productivity, including linked programs of work in continuous 
improvement and the Customer Experience Strategy, and opportunities for shared services 
being investigated with Northern Region Councils. 

 Northern Regional Councils have identified opportunities to collaborate in the procurement 
and technology portfolio areas. Collaborative procurement opportunities are being developed 
in the following areas: Human Resources Services, Cleaning, Repairs and Maintenance, and 
across specific Council projects. Across technology, the focus has been on an Enterprise 
Services Bus and a Customer Service portal. 

Challenges 

 Contingency planning has commenced around the anticipated introduction of the Local 
Government Bill 2018. If the proposed legislation is introduced, a more detailed 
implementation plan will follow. 

 Advocacy on key issues ahead of the 2018 Victorian state election. For example, Council has 
been active in advocating for essential community infrastructure funding. Council has also 
applied for a number of projects to be funded through the State Government's Growing 
Suburbs Fund. 
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 Pre-budget submissions to the Victorian Government: A formal submission was made seeking 
between $5 and $7 million to construct the missing link on the Diamond Creek Trail between 
Diamond Creek and Hurstbridge. Advocacy activities, including working with Creek Trailblazers 
have also been undertaken. Letters have also been sent to local members and relevant state 
ministers seeking funding for specific projects. Council has also been active in calling on the 
State Government to provide additional funding to help rebuild the Eltham North Adventure 
Playground. 

 The organisational requirements for a new Asset Management System are currently being 
confirmed. 

 Working on problems and improvements: A collaboration, communication and learning space 
for staff supported by visual management practice is now available. Leaders meet weekly in 
these spaces to receive project updates, work collaboratively on problems and improvements, 
and to share information and learnings. These spaces have driven a more collaborative, 
customer-centric and learning organisational culture. 

 Developing a skilled and efficient workforce. 

 Providing better customer service. 

 Development of a Technology Strategy, including mapping Council’s current infrastructure 
landscape to ensure their stability and that they are up to date to meet the organisation’s 
needs. This work is necessary to also move to more integrated and cost-effective solutions in 
the digital space and that allow for movement to cloud-based services. 

The year ahead 

 Ramp up advocacy on key issues ahead of the 2019 Commonwealth election. Council will also 
seek to capitalise on the redistribution of several local federal electorates, which are now seen 
as marginal, to secure additional federal funding and access to programs and services. 

 Regularly update and implement an overarching advocacy strategy and pre-budget submission 
to State and Federal Governments which encompasses policy and funding advocacy for the 
benefit of the Shire's community. 

 Ensure that residential rate increases are at least 0.25 per cent below the legislated rate cap in 
2019-2020. 

 Review and implement Council’s Asset Management Strategy for roads, footpaths, buildings, 
drains and recreational assets, and develop a better system to support delivery. 

 Seek authorisation from the Minister for Planning to commence a planning scheme 
amendment to rezone 14 Council-owned properties to Public Park and Recreation Zone. 

 Implement the concept for ongoing service planning that links strategic service reviews, 
designed service improvements and incremental continuous improvement. 

 Undertake a number of strategic service reviews and commence implementation of developed 
service plans for Maternal and Child Health Services; Building Surveying Services; Statutory 
Planning; Community Transport; Management structure and future direction of Yarrambat 
Golf Course. 

 Progress implementation of service plans for the following completed service reviews: Local 
Laws; Living and Learning Nillumbik; Early Years Infrastructure Plan; and Aged Care Reforms. 

 Continue implementation of key Organisational Culture & Capability Strategy (OCCS) 
programs, including: a review of organisational culture (update agreed values and behaviours); 
further embedding a culture of continuous improvement and innovation; and a developed 
service planning framework which includes workforce planning and is underpinned by a 
targeted learning and development program. 

 Continue the implementation of the Customer Experience Strategy in 2018-2019, including: 



 

99 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

- Continuing roll-out of customer service training across the whole of the organisation 

- Analysing results from the customer benchmarking survey 

- Conducting an internal customer experience survey 

- Introducing Council's first Quality Benchmarking System for customer experience. 

 Implement the first phase of Technology Strategy, including: mapping Council's current 
infrastructure landscape to ensure its stability and capacity to meet organisational and 
community needs; and, developing and commencing a Records Management Plan. 
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How we performed against the Council Plan 

The following statement reviews the performance of Council against the Council Plan, including 
the results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan. 

Strategic Indicator Year Result 

  2016 2017 2018   

Community satisfaction with the overall performance 
of Council 6.69 6.15 6.46 

Community satisfaction with governance and 
leadership 6.72 6 6.4 

Community satisfaction with representation, lobbying 
and advocacy 6.59 5.87 6.26 

Community satisfaction with customer service 7.24 6.81 7.24 

Source: 2018 Annual Community Survey Scale from 0 (very dissatisfied) to 10 (very satisfied) 

Strategic Indicator Year Comments 
  2017-18 

Achieve the Auditor-General’s ‘green light’ target for 
financial sustainability 

n/a 
Results will be released by 
VAGO in October 2018.  

Achieve budgeted asset sales each year  

Budgeted assets intended for 
sale were made available for 
sale during the year. 

Reduce interest costs each year 

Interest costs are reducing; 
this is reflective of the loan 
portfolio reducing in overall 
balance. 

Reduce net debt (outstanding loan principal, less debt 
reduction reserve fund), with a target of zero by 2020-
2021 



Progress is being made with 
overall loan portfolio balance 
reducing and funds being set 
aside in the debt reserve. 

Achieve 100% compliance with the Governance and 
Management checklist required by the Local 
Government Act 1989 

   

Source: Council records 

     
 

 Increasing  Decreasing  No change ? Trend unclear 
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Budget 2017-2018 major initiatives 

The following statement reviews the progress of Council in relation to major initiatives identified 
in the 2017-2018 budget for the year. 

MAJOR INITIATIVES RESULT PROGRESS 

Mobile devices/remote access to network 
for Council field staff 

Actual $66,159 

Budget $70,000 

Achieved 
This project included installation of Wi-Fi 
connectivity at remote sites. 

Community engagement (Implementation 
of Organisation Culture and Capability 
Strategy) 

Actual $30,961 

Budget $41,000 

Achieved 

Key community engagement initiatives in 
2017-2018 included the launch of an 
online engagement portal and training for 
57 staff in IAP2 Essentials. 

Northern region shared services 

Actual $0 

Budget $17,000 

 

Achieved 

The allocated budget was for 
administrative purposes but was not 
required in 2017-2018. Participating 
Councils have identified opportunities to 
collaborate in the procurement and 
technology portfolio areas. 

Customer Service – Mystery shopping 
program  

Actual $10,000 

Budget $10,000 

Partly 
achieved 

The program was planned and paid for in 
2017-2018. However, due to other 
commitments, and delays in the 
appointment of key staff, the 
implementation of the program was 
postponed until August 2018. 

Continuous Improvement 

(Implementation of Organisation Culture 
and Capability Strategy) 

Actual $28,152 

Budget $9,000 

 

Achieved 

Continuous improvement has been a 
priority for the organisation this year. 
Additional investment was required to 
build capability and engender a culture of 
efficiency and innovation. 
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Budget 2017-2018 funded services 

The following statement provides information in relation to the services funded in the 2017-2018 
budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided the service. 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

EXPENDITURE 
REVENUE 
NET COST 

($’000) 

Communications 

The Communications function assists both the Council and 
the organisation to communicate its decisions, services, 
activities and events to Nillumbik residents and the wider 
community through the provision of high-quality 
information via the website, print and electronic 
communication and media liaison. 

862 
0 

862 

Customer Service 
This service provides frontline customer service, cashier 
and reception services for Council for the benefit of all 
residents, ratepayers and visitors. 

548 
0 

548 

Finance 
This function provides internal finance and procurement 
services, rates and property valuations, audit, risk 
management and insurance. 

3,253 
(2,007) 

1,246 

Governance 

This service manages Council's overall governance matters, 
including coordination of council meetings; civic functions 
and citizenship ceremonies; elections; legislative 
requirements; Mayor and Councillor resources and support 
services; local government sector and regional advocacy. 

3,333 
(56) 

3,277 

Information and 
Technology 

This service provides information technology services and 
solutions, records management, on-line services and 
telecommunications. 

3,231 
(10) 

3,221 

Organisation 
Development 

This function provides Council with key service delivery in 
the areas of recruitment and selection, staff learning and 
development, employee and industrial relations, safety, 
health and wellbeing, organisational development and 
performance. 

2,269 
(149) 
2,120 
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Service performance indicators and measures 

The following statement provides the results of the prescribed service performance indicators and measures, including explanation of material 
variations. 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

GOVERNANCE           

Transparency 
Council decisions made at meetings closed to the 
public 
[Number of Council resolutions made at ordinary 
or special meetings of Council, or at meetings of a 
special committee consisting only of Councillors, 
closed to the public/Number of Council 
resolutions made at ordinary or special meetings 
of Council or at meetings of a special committee 
consisting only of Councillors] x100 

15.00% 15.20% 13.28% 14.00% 

Council made 300 resolutions at 30 Council and 
Committee meetings, of which 42 were made in 
a meeting closed to the public under section 
89(2) of the Local Government Act 1989. As 
required by the Act, the reasons why a meeting 
was closed to the public are recorded in the 
public version of the minutes. 

Consultation and engagement 
Satisfaction with community consultation and 
engagement 
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 
how Council has performed on community 
consultation and engagement[ 

68.30 66.20 58.00 63.30 

Satisfaction with Council's community 
consultation and engagement improved 
significantly in 2018 by 5.3 percentage points, 
recovering from the decline in 2017. 

Attendance 
Councillor attendance at Council meetings 
[The sum of the number of Councillors who 
attended each ordinary and special Council 
meeting/(Number of ordinary and special Council 
meetings) × (Number of Councillors elected at the 
last Council general election)] x100 

92.00% 93.33% 97.96% 94.90% 

Council held 12 Ordinary meetings and two 
Special meetings in 2017-2018. Only five 
absences were recorded throughout the year 
against a possible 98 attendances. 

Service cost 
Cost of governance 
[Direct cost of the governance service/Number of 
Councillors elected at the last Council general 
election] 

 
$49,536.80  

 
$51,874.20  

 
$54,858.83  

 
$39,726.43  

The cost of governance includes training, 
conference and seminar costs, travel, mobile, 
internet, Councillor allowances and other 
miscellaneous expenditure. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 
Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with Council decisions 
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 
how Council has performed in making decisions in 
the interest of the community] 
 

66.70 64.20 57.00 62.60 

Satisfaction with Council decisions improved 
significantly in 2018 by six percentage points, 
returning to the level of satisfaction in earlier 
years. 
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Corporate governance 

Governance 

The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) defines the purposes and functions of local government 
and provides the legislative framework where councils must be responsible and accountable to 
the local community in the performance of their functions, the exercise of their powers and use of 
resources. The Act is a key piece of legislation that governs how councils operate and requires that 
councils ensure transparency and accountability in council decision making. 

Council is committed to effective and sustainable forms of democratic and corporate governance 
as the key to ensuring that Council and its administration meet the community’s priorities. 

The community has many opportunities to provide input into Council’s decision-making processes 
including community consultation, public forums, and the ability to make submissions to special 
committees of Council. 

Decision-making 

Councils have a significant function in the law-making process as they make decisions on many 
matters of importance to their local communities. They are empowered by the Act and council 
local laws to make decisions in formally constituted council meetings, or under delegations 
approved by the council. 

Council meetings are all led by elected councillors who set the vision and direction of the council. 
Section 91(1) outlines the obligations of councils to make local laws governing the conduct of 
council meetings and special committees. 

At Nillumbik Shire Council, decisions are made in one of two ways: 

1. By resolution at Council meetings and special committees of Council. 
2. By Council officers under delegated authority. 

Council is empowered under a number of pieces of legislation to undertake a range of duties and 
functions. 

To enable Council to actually undertake these duties and functions, it is necessary for Council to 
delegate many of its relevant powers to the CEO. 

The power to delegate is conferred on Council by section 98(1) of the Act which enables Council, 
by instrument of delegation, to delegate to a member of Council staff any power, duty or function 
of Council under the Act or any other act, other than certain specific powers. 

Meetings of Council 

Council and Committee meetings are generally held on a Tuesday evening in the Council Chamber 
at the Civic Centre, Civic Drive Greensborough, and are advertised in Nillumbik’s local newspaper 
and on Council’s website. 

In addition to Ordinary and Special Meetings, Nillumbik has one Special Committee established 
under section 86 of the Act, the Future Nillumbik Committee. All seven Councillors sit on the 
Committee. 
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Council is committed to open and transparent decision making and generally conducts its business 
through open meetings. Meetings are only closed when reports being considered are deemed by 
the CEO and/or Council to be confidential. During 2017-2018, 42 Council reports were considered 
to be confidential matters. 

The business to be considered by Council and its Committee is set out in the agenda which is 
available on Council’s website and at the Eltham and Diamond Valley libraries on the Friday prior 
to the meeting. Agenda papers are also available at each meeting for interested members of the 
public. 

Council records resolutions carried at each Council and Committee meeting, and publishes them 
as part of the minutes of each meeting. Minutes are confirmed at the following Ordinary or 
Committee meeting. During 2017-2018, Council passed 300 resolutions at Council and Committee 
meetings. 

Minutes are available on Council’s website for the current year and the preceding 12 months, as 
required by the Act. 

In addition to considering reports at Council meetings, the community is invited to submit 
questions and make submissions.  In 2017-2018, 55 questions were submitted during Ordinary 
Meetings of Council, and 347 submissions were heard at Council’s Future Nillumbik Committee. 

 

Meeting Purpose Number of 
meetings 

Resolutions Public 
questions/ 
submissions 
heard 

Future Nillumbik 
Committee 

Considers all matters within the 
seven portfolio areas, submissions 
made under section 223 of the Act 
and invites members of the public to 
speak to an item on the agenda. 

11 55 100 

Special Future 
Nillumbik 
Committee 

Convened for a specific purpose and 
only the matters listed on the agenda 
may be dealt with. The purpose of 
the meetings was for Council to 
consider the details of 17 parcels of 
land (including 2 road 
discontinuances) being proposed for 
future sale and hear submissions 
from the community. 

5 10 247 
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Meeting Purpose Number of 
meetings 

Resolutions Public 
questions/ 
submissions 
heard 

Ordinary 
meetings of 
Council  

Considers the general business of 
Council and provides community 
members with the opportunity to ask 
questions of Council. 

12 226 55 

Special meetings 
of Council  

Convened for a specific purpose and 
only the matters listed on the agenda 
may be dealt with. 

2 9 N/A 

 

Attendance 

The record of Councillor attendance at Ordinary Meetings of Council and Special Council Meetings 
held during 2017-2018 is shown in the table below. 
 

Councillor Ordinary (12) Special (2) Future (11) Special Future (5) 

Cr Jane Ashton 11/12 2/2 10/11 5/5 

Cr Grant Brooker 12/12 2/2 11/11 5/5 

Cr Peter Clarke 10/12 2/2 9/11 5/5 

Cr John Dumaresq 12/12 2/2 11/11 5/5 

Cr Karen Egan 11/12 2/2 10/11 5/5 

Cr Peter Perkins 11/12 2/2 10/11 5/5 

Cr Bruce Ranken 12/12 2/2 10/11 5/5 

 

Councillor code of conduct 

The Act requires Council to have a Councillor Code of Conduct and that it is reviewed within four 
months of each general election. At a Special Council Meeting on 14 February 2017, Council 
adopted a Councillor Code of Conduct that includes: 

 Advice in relation to the roles of Mayor and Councillors 
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 Councillor conduct obligations 

 Use of Council resources 

 Prohibited conduct 

 Misuse of position 

 Confidential information 

 Dispute resolution procedures. 

At the request of Councillors, the revised Code of Conduct was extracted from the broader 
Governance Code to become a separate, stand-alone document. The remaining content of the 
Governance Code, which details principles and practices about key roles and relationships, as well 
as decision-making processes, was adopted on 30 May 2017 as the Good Governance Policy. 

The Act also requires that within one month of amendments to a Councillor Code of Conduct 
being approved, a Councillor must make a declaration that they will abide by the Councillor Code 
of Conduct. The declaration must be in writing and witnessed by the CEO. All Councillors signed a 
declaration to abide by the Code of Conduct on 14 February 2017. 

Conflict of interest 

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1989, Councillors and Council Officers are required 
to disclose conflicts of interest and leave the meeting prior to discussions about those particular 
agenda items. A conflict of interest occurs where a personal or private interest might compromise 
the ability to act in the public interest. 

Council has a comprehensive procedure in place to accommodate the disclosure of a conflict of 
interest. Declaration of a conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for all Council and 
Committee meetings. 

A register is maintained to record all disclosed conflicts of interest. During 2017-2018, there were 
no conflicts of interest declared at Council and Committee meetings. 

The requirement to disclose conflicts of interest extends to Assemblies of Councillors. 

Assemblies of councillors 

In addition to formal meetings of Council, a number of Assembly of Councillors meetings were 
held during the year. 

An Assembly of Councillors is defined by section 80A of the Act as an advisory committee of 
Council at which at least one Councillor, or planned or scheduled meeting of at least half of the 
Councillors and one member of council staff, which considers matters that are intended or likely 
to be the subject of a Council decision or subject to the exercise of a delegated function, duty or 
power. Conflicts of interest must be disclosed at Assemblies of Councillors and are reported to 
Council as part of the written record of the Assembly. 

During 2017-2018, 92 Assemblies of Councillors were reported to Council. 

Allowances and expenses 

Allowances paid to the Mayor and Councillors are established under section 74 of the Local 
Government Act 1989, which includes a superannuation guarantee contribution. The Victorian 
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Government sets the upper and lower limits for allowances. There are three categories of Councils 
(small, medium and large) and the categories are based on population and revenue. Nillumbik is 
included in Category 2 (medium-sized councils). 

Each Council has discretion to determine its position within the relevant limits for its category. 
Once determined by the Council following each annual election, the level of allowances within the 
band is fixed for the balance of that Council’s four-year term.  

The Mayoral and Councillor allowances were set in May 2017 for the four-year term of Council. 
Nillumbik allowances have historically been set at the upper limit and are currently set at that 
level. This reflects the substantial commitment and workload of Councillors. 

As a separate exercise, the Minister for Local Government also conducts an annual adjustment of 
allowances to allow for inflation. The most recent adjustment was in December 2017, when the 
Minister increased allowances by 2 per cent, bringing the Mayoral allowance to $78,051.00 plus a 
superannuation equivalent of 9.5 per cent, and Councillors allowance to $25,225 plus a 
superannuation equivalent of 9.5 per cent. 

Therefore, during the 2017-2018 financial year, the Mayor received a total allowance of $78,938 
and Councillors received $27,396. 

Council reimburses reasonable costs associated with the formal duty of representing Council for 
the Mayor and Councillors and their respective partners, in accordance with Council’s Councillor 
Resources and Expenses Policy 2016 and section 75 of the Act. 

 

Councillor 
Travel & 

car 
mileage 

Mobile 
phone 

Internet 
Conferences, 

training & 
seminars 

Other 
expenses 

Total 

Cr Jane Ashton $2,053 $863 $818 $85 $37 $3,856 

Cr Grant 
Brooker 

$2,001 $660 $994 $55 $32 $3,903 

Cr Peter 
Clarke1 

$657 $660 $740 $1,605 $330 $3,992 

Cr John 
Dumaresq 

- $660 $436 $771 - $1,867 

Cr Karen Egan $9,297 $660 $654 $3,898 $219 $14,728 

Cr Peter 
Perkins 

$346 $1,755 $1,309 $2,074 $32 $5,516 

Cr Bruce - $660 345 $55 - $1,060 
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Councillor 
Travel & 

car 
mileage 

Mobile 
phone 

Internet 
Conferences, 

training & 
seminars 

Other 
expenses 

Total 

Ranken 

Total $14,353 $6,080 $5,296 $8,544 $649 $34,922 

1 
The Mayor is entitled to higher expenditure on conferences, training and seminars in recognition of the additional 

responsibilities of Mayor. 

Advisory committees and external groups 

Councillors also represent Council on a number of advisory committees and external groups. 

Advisory Committee Councillor(s) appointed 

Arts Advisory Committee Cr Egan (Chair) 

Audit Committee Cr Clarke, Cr Ranken 

CEO Employment Matters Committee All Councillors 

Economic Development Advisory Committee Cr Egan (Chair), Cr Ashton, Cr 
Dumaresq 

Environment Advisory Committee Cr Brooker (Chair), Cr Ashton 

Inclusion Advisory Committee Cr Ashton (Chair) 

Living and Learning Advisory Committee Cr Ashton 

Municipal Emergency Management Planning Advisory 
Committee 

Cr Perkins (Chair), Cr Brooker 

Panton Hill Bushland Reserves System Advisory 
Committee 

Cr Brooker (Chair), Cr Ashton 

Recreational Trails Advisory Committee Cr Dumaresq (Chair), Cr Egan, Cr 
Perkins 

 

External Organisation Councillor(s) 

Diamond Creek Traders’ Association Cr Perkins 

Eltham Chamber of Commerce and Industry Cr Clarke, Cr Dumaresq, Cr Ranken 

Hurstbridge Traders’ Association Cr Egan 

Interface Councils Group Cr Clarke (Cr Egan alternate) 
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External Organisation Councillor(s) 

Metropolitan Transport Forum Cr Dumaresq 

Metropolitan Waste Management Group Cr Dumaresq (Cr Perkins alternate) 

Municipal Association of Victoria Cr Perkins (Cr Ashton alternate) 

Nillumbik Tourism Association Cr Egan and Cr Ranken 

Northern Alliance for Greenhouse Action Cr Brooker 

Northern Metro Region Councils group Cr Clarke (Cr Egan alternate) 

Yarra Plenty Regional Library Board Cr Clarke and Cr Egan 
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Management  

Having strong governance and management frameworks leads to better decision-making by 
Council. 

The Act requires Council to undertake an assessment against the prescribed governance and 
management checklist and include this in its report of operations. Council’s Governance and 
Management Checklist results are set out on pages 114-117. 

The following items have been highlighted as important components of the management 
framework. 

Audit committee 

The Audit Committee’s function is to assist Council in the effective conduct of its responsibilities 
for financial reporting, management of risk, maintaining a reliable system of internal controls and 
facilitating good and ethical governance. The Audit Committee consisted of three independent 
members, Linda MacRae (Chair), John Watson and Greg Hollyman, and two Councillors (currently 
Councillors Peter Clarke and Bruce Ranken). Independent members are appointed for up to a 
three-year term. The Chair is elected from among the independent members. 

The Audit Committee meets four times a year. The Internal Auditor, Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Manager Finance attend all Audit Committee meetings. Other management 
representatives attend as required to present reports. The external auditors attend in February 
and August each year to present the audit plan and independent audit report. 

The minutes of each Audit Committee meeting are reported to the next Ordinary Council meeting. 

Internal audit 

The Internal Auditors provide independent and objective assurance that the appropriate processes 
and controls are in place across Council. A risk-based three-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan 
(SIAP) is reviewed annually to ensure it remains focused on appropriate areas. The review process 
considers Council’s risk framework; the Council Plan; the impact of any change on operations; 
systems or the business environment; prior audit coverage and outcomes; and management input. 
The SIAP is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee annually. 

The Internal Auditor attends each Audit Committee meeting to report on the status of the SIAP, to 
provide an update on the implementation of audit recommendations and to present findings of 
completed reviews. All audit issues identified are risk rated. 

Recommendations are assigned to the responsible manager and tracked in Council’s performance 
management system. Managers provide quarterly status updates that are reviewed by the 
Internal Auditor and reported to the Executive Management Team and the Audit Committee. 

The SIAP for 2017-2018 was completed in May 2018. Primary reviews were conducted with the 
CEO and Executive Manager of Finance in consultation with the internal auditors. 
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External audit 

Council is externally audited by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office. For the 2017-2018 year, the 
annual external audit of Council’s Financial Statements and Performance Statements were 
conducted by the Victorian Auditor-General’s representative. 

The external auditors attend the February and August Audit Committee meetings to present the 
annual audit plan and independent Audit Report. The external audit management letter and 
responses are also provided to the Audit Committee.  

Risk management 

In December 2014, Council adopted the Integrated Risk Management Strategy and Risk 
Management Framework in line with current best practice in the management of business 
enterprise risks and current AS/NZS ISO 31000-2009 guidelines. 

Council continues to maintain SafetyMap accreditation to a high standard for the management of 
risks to its employees, contractors and volunteers. Regularly audited externally, two surveillance 
audits were undertaken during the 2017-2018 financial year.  Council has met compliance 
standards with the SafetyMAP accreditation. The positive result of the audits demonstrates how 
the application of a continuous improvement approach to safety performance and a commitment 
to retaining SafetyMAP can be important elements of a risk management strategy. 

Business continuity 

Council draws on the International Business Continuity Standard (ISO22301) to deliver key services 
during an event that has the capacity to create an interruption to business delivery. Council will be 
holistically reviewing its business continuity policy and framework, as well business continuity 
plans, in the coming year. 

  



 

114 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

    

Governance and management checklist 

The following are the results in the prescribed form of Council’s assessment against the prescribed 
governance and management checklist. 

Governance and Management Items Assessment 

1. Community engagement policy (policy 
outlining Council's commitment to 
engaging with the community on matters 
of public interest) 

Policy 

Date of operation of current policy: 28 July 2015 

2. Community engagement guidelines 
(guidelines to assist staff to determine 
when and how to engage with the 
community) 

Guidelines 

Date of operation of current policy: 1 March 
2017 

3. Strategic Resource Plan (plan under 
section 126 of the Act outlining the 
financial and non-financial resources 
required for at least the next four financial 
years)  

Adopted in accordance with section 126 of the 
Act 

Date of adoption: 26 June 2018 

4. Annual budget (plan under section 130 of 
the Act setting out the services to be 
provided and initiatives to be undertaken 
over the next 12 months and the funding 
and other resources required)  

Adopted in accordance with section 130 of the 
Act 

Date of adoption: 26 June 2018 

5. Asset management plans (plans that set 
out the asset maintenance and renewal 
needs for key infrastructure asset classes 
for at least the next 10 years)  

Plans 

Date of adoption of current plans: 24 February 
2015 and 27 June 2017 

6. Rating strategy (strategy setting out the 
rating structure of Council to levy rates and 
charges) 

Strategy 

Date of adoption of current plan: 26 June 2018 

7. Risk policy (policy outlining Council's 
commitment and approach to minimising 
the risks to Council's operations) 

Policy 

Date of adoption of current policy: 16 December 
2014 

8. Fraud policy (policy outlining Council's 
commitment and approach to minimising 
the risk of fraud) 

Policy 

Date of adoption: 17 July 2017 
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Governance and Management Items Assessment 

9. Municipal emergency management plan 
(plan under section 20 of the Emergency 
Management Act 1986 for emergency 
prevention, response and recovery) 

Plan prepared and maintained in accordance 
with section 20 of the Emergency Management 
Act 1986 

Date of adoption: 28 March 2017 

10. Procurement policy (policy under section 
186A of the Local Government Act 1989 
outlining the matters, practices and 
procedures that will apply to all purchases 
of goods, services and works) 

Policy 

Date of adoption: 27 March 2018 

11. Business continuity plan (plan setting out 
the actions that will be taken to ensure 
that key services continue to operate in the 
event of a disaster) 

Plan 

Date of operation: 22 January 2014 

12. Disaster recovery plan (plan setting out 
the actions that will be undertaken to 
recover and restore business capability in 
the event of a disaster) 

Plan 

Date of operation: 1 May 2015 

Updated in July 2017 

13. Risk management framework (framework 
outlining Council's approach to managing 
risks to the Council's operations) 

Framework 

Date of operation: 16 December 2014 

14. Audit Committee (advisory committee of 
Council under section 139 of the Act whose 
role is to oversee the integrity of a 
Council's financial reporting, processes to 
manage risks to the Council's operations 
and for compliance with applicable legal, 
ethical, and regulatory requirements)  

Committee established: 21 June 2005 

15. Internal audit (independent accounting 
professionals engaged by the Council to 
provide analyses and recommendations 
aimed at improving Council's governance, 
risk and management controls)  

Internal auditor engaged: 1 July 2014 
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Governance and Management Items Assessment 

16. Performance reporting framework (a set 
of indicators measuring financial and non-
financial performance, including the 
performance indicators referred to in 
section 131 of the Act) 

Framework 

Date of operation: 27 June 2017 

17. Council Plan reporting (report reviewing 
the performance of the Council against the 
Council Plan, including the results in 
relation to the strategic indicators, for the 
first six months of the financial year) 

Report 

Date of reports: 1 August 2017, 28 November 
2017, 27 February 2018, and 1 May 2018 

18. Financial reporting (quarterly statements 
to Council under section 138 of the Act 
comparing budgeted revenue and 
expenditure with actual revenue and 
expenditure) 

Reports 

Date of reports: 1 August 2017, 31 October 
2017, 30 January 2018 and 1 May 2018 

19. Risk reporting (six-monthly reports of 
strategic risks to Council's operations, their 
likelihood and consequences of occurring 
and risk minimisation strategies) 

Reports 

Date of reports: 29 August 2017, 28 November 
2017, 27 February 2018 and 29 May 2018 

20. Performance reporting (six-monthly 
reports of indicators measuring the results 
against financial and non-financial 
performance, including performance 
indicators referred to in section 131 of the 
Act) 

Reports 

Date of reports: 1 August 2017, 28 November 
2017, 27 February 2018 and 1 May 2018 

21. Annual report (annual report under 
sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act to the 
community containing a report of 
operations and audited financial 
performance statements) 

Report presented: 30 October 2017 

22. Councillor Code of Conduct (Code under 
section 76C of the Act setting out the 
conduct principles and the dispute 
resolution processes to be followed by 
Councillors) 

Code of Conduct reviewed and adopted: 14 
February 2017 
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Governance and Management Items Assessment 

23. Delegations (a document setting out the 
powers, duties and functions of Council 
and the Chief Executive Officer that have 
been delegated to members of staff)  

Delegations reviewed and adopted: 28 
November 2017 

24. Meeting procedures (a local law governing 
the conduct of meetings of Council and 
special committees)  

Local law adopted: 27 June 2017 
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Certification of Governance and Management Checklist 
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Statutory information 

The following information is provided in accordance with legislative and other requirements 
applying to Council.  

1. Documents available for public inspection 

In accordance with regulation 12 of the Local Government (General) Regulations 2015, the 
following are prescribed documents that are available for public inspection during office hours or 
copies of the documents can be obtained for the purposes of section 222 of the Local Government 
Act 1989 at Civic Drive, Greensborough: 

 A document containing details of overseas or interstate travel (other than interstate travel by 

land for less than three days) undertaken in an official capacity by any Councillor or member of 

Council staff in the previous 12 months. 

 The agendas for, and minutes of, Ordinary and Special Meetings held in the previous 12 

months, which are kept under section 93 of the Act, other than those agendas and minutes 

relating to a part of a meeting that was closed to members of the public under section 89 of 

the Act and are confidential information within the meaning of section 77(2) of the Act. 

 The minutes of meetings of special committees established under section 86 of the Act and 

held in the previous 12 months, other than those minutes relating to a part of a meeting that 

was closed to members of the public under section 89 of the Act and are confidential 

information within the meaning of section 77(2) of the Act. 

 A register of delegations kept under sections 87(1) and 98(4) of the Act, including the date on 

which the last review took place under section 86(6) and 98(6), respectively, of the Act. 

 A document containing details of all leases involving land which was entered into by the 

Council as lessor, including lessee and the terms and the value of the lease. 

 A register maintained under section 224(1A) of the Act of authorised officers appointed under 

that section. 

 A list of donations and grants made by Council in the previous 12 months, including the 

names of persons who, or bodies which, have received a donation or grant and the amount of 

each donation or grant. 

2. Best value 

Council continues to apply best value principles to its services in accordance with section 208A of 
the Local Government Act 1989. The principles are based on: 

 Quality and cost standards 

 Responsiveness to community needs 

 Accessibility 

 Continuous improvement 

 Community consultation 

 Reporting to the community. 
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Best value is being practised through initiatives under the Organisational Capability and Culture 
Strategy (OCCS). Programs being delivered under the OCCS include: 

 Community engagement 

 Continuous improvement and innovation 

 Improving services 

 Improving performance  

 The ‘modern office’ (improvements in technology and ways of working to improve service 
delivery). 

Community engagement 

Council is committed to ensuring that our community has the opportunity to have a say in matters 
that affect them, both at the local level and in projects led by other levels of government. Key 
community engagement initiatives this year included the launch of the online engagement portal 
‘Participate Nillumbik’, training for 72 staff in IAP2 Community Engagement Essentials, and 
dedicated community engagement officer support for our major projects. 

Continuous improvement and innovation 

This year, a continuous improvement and innovation (CI&I) program was developed which sought 
to embed CI&I into our business by: 

 Building a culture of collaboration, proactive problem solving and innovation across the 
organisation 

 Building organisational capability in improvement and innovation 

 Improving our services to make them easier for our customers. 
 
Our CI&I program involves a methodology underpinned by Lean Thinking, Agile Delivery and 
Human Centred Design principles and practices. The principles are intended to ensure that 
structured problem solving is undertaken (as opposed to ‘scattergun change’) and that Council’s 
service delivery is better, easier, faster and/or cheaper for our customers. A number of pilot 
projects were delivered using this methodology which focussed on improving our online services 
and online information. Some achievements were: 

 Redesign of the animal registration, animal renewal and rates instalment forms 

 Streamlining of online payment information for rates, animal registrations/renewals 

 The ability to update animal details via our website; in 2017-2018, 759 residents used this new 
process to update their details, making things quicker and easier 

 Online advertising of planning applications 

 Residents are now able to request hard waste collections online. 

Improving services 

Although Council’s Service Planning Framework is still under development, a number of strategic 
service reviews have been undertaken this year. These include: 

 A review of the Living and Learning Nillumbik service has been completed in readiness for 
Council's consideration in September 2018. The purpose of the review is to identify service 
enhancements.  
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 Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP) future options modelling has been completed 
in conjunction with Northern Region Councils. Community engagement was undertaken over 
April and May with feedback being presented to Council for consideration early in 2018-2019. 
The feedback will help inform Council's future role in service provision and shape Council's 
approach and role in positive ageing. 

 Early Years Infrastructure Stage 2 of review is now complete with community engagement 
anticipated to occur early in the new financial year. This has been delayed due to difficulty in 
appointing a project manager. 

 The term of the new management contract for Diamond Creek Community Centre has been 
structured to align with the term of other major leisure facilities, allowing for review of future 
management options across all leisure facilities. 

 A service review of the Community Safety/Local Laws service, Living Landscapes (public open 
space and roadside maintenance) service and Waste service has commenced. 

 
Drivers for the strategic service reviews can be varied, and can include performance of the service, 
opportunities for service enhancements and alternative ways for the service to be delivered, 
procurement and changes to funding arrangements. 

Improving performance 

A new Key Results Area (KRA) Framework was developed throughout the year. This framework is 
based on the balanced scorecard model and will ensure that both business performance and 
individual staff performance are measured through the KRAs of Community and Council Plans and 
Projects; Customer and Stakeholder Outcomes; Business Processes and Delivery; People and 
Culture; and Effectiveness and Value to the Community. Annual Department Business Plans and 
Individual Performance Dashboards will contain Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) within the KRA 
framework. Both business and individual performance will be tracked and measured on a 
quarterly basis. 

The modern office 

Through technological improvements, this program looks at ‘new ways of working’ that aim to 
drive efficiency outcomes and bring the workforce into a modern way of working. This includes 
applications and mobile computing devices that allow staff to access information when and where 
they need it, enabling staff productivity improvements and more timely outcomes to customers. 
Another objective of the program is to align technology with our employees’ digital expectations 
and to reduce costs and increase efficiency whilst addressing our ageing technology infrastructure 
and systems. Some 25 employees tested new computer devices over a two month period. These 
employees provided feedback on their experience with the devices and were consulted on future 
training needs. They were also asked to consider how their new computer devices could shape 
future service delivery and enhancements. 
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3. Carers recognition 

In accordance with the Carers Recognition Act 2012, Council is required to report annually on its 
care measurement obligations under section 11 of that Act. In recognising its obligations under 
the Carers Recognition Act 2012, Council has: 

• Promoted the principles of the Act to people in care relationships who receive Council 
services and to the wider community 

• Ensured staff, Council agents and volunteers working for Council are informed of the 
principles and obligations of the Act 

• Taken the Act into consideration when reviewing and modifying relevant policies, 
procedures and supports. 

4. Contracts 

The Local Government Act 1989 requires Council to prepare and approve a procurement policy 
and, at least once in each financial year, review and amend the policy. The Act defines 
procurement policy to mean the principles, processes and procedures that will apply to the 
purchases of goods, services and works by the Council.  

Council reviewed and adopted its Procurement Policy and Guidelines on 27 March 2018 in 
accordance with the Act. The policy applies to all procurement and contracting activities of Council 
and is binding on Council officers, outsourced contractors and consultants while engaged by 
and/or representing Council. 

During the year, Council did not enter into any contract valued at $150,000 or more for services or 
$200,000 or more for works or more of works of a kind specified in section 186(5)(a) and (c) of the 
Act. It also did not enter into any other contracts valued at $150,000 or more for goods or services 
or $200,000 or more for works without first engaging in a competitive process. 

5. Disability action plan 

In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 2006, Council adopted its Disability Action Plan 
2013-2017 in September 2013. The Plan provides the framework for Council to address disability 
and other access issues across all areas of the organisation’s planning and operations, ensuring 
Council meets its requirements under federal, state and local government legislation. 

The Disability Action Plan has four priorities for action: 

 Reducing barriers to people with a disability accessing Council goods, services and facilities 

 Reducing barriers to people with a disability in the area of employment 

 Promoting inclusion and participation in the community 

 Achieving tangible changes in attitude and practices that discriminate against people with a 
disability. 

Highlights from 2017-2018 include: 

 Work Education and Training Forum for people with disability (held at the Greensborough 
Polytechnic for Disability Networks and service providers from the North Eastern Metropolitan 
Area). Over 100 individuals/organisations attended, many registering on a waiting list as 
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bookings were at capacity. Polytechnic staff received five new enrolments for their courses on 
the day, with particular interest from parents of younger school students. 

 Twenty volunteers and staff from a local gaming store, five on the Autism Spectrum, engaged 
in an Autism Awareness session, and have volunteered to be mentors and trainers to their 
colleagues. Twelve people from the local table top gaming store, most with ASD (Autism 
Spectrum Disorder), all with permanent and significant disability, are also volunteering as 
mentors to create a welcoming and inclusive social group. These mentors are connecting with 
local services such as Headspace to build an understanding of the supports available to a group 
who often experience high rates of unemployment, as well as anxiety and depression, but who 
often fall between the gaps and are not connected to supports. 

 Event organisers, businesses and key local community support organisations have gained a 
better understanding of the small adjustments and the welcoming attitudes that reduce 
barriers to participation. 

 People with ASD and their carers have been increasingly welcomed into mainstream 
community activities and have worked with Council across all the activities to provide support 
and mentoring to other families and people with disability. 

 Nillumbik Shire Council, in partnership with Whittlesea and Banyule Councils, successfully 

secured funding to build a portable Changing Places facility. Changing Places are accessible 

toilets with adult-sized change tables and tracking hoists in major public spaces to meet the 

needs of people with high support needs. The facility will be made available at festivals and 

events, so they are more inclusive of people with disability and their families. 

 A new grant program was established in 2017 to promote inclusive, innovative community-led 

events or activities to celebrate International Day of People with Disability. Council awarded 

grants to four local organisations and supported these organisations with event planning and 

delivery (grant pool of $5,000). 

 Over 100 students actively supported a shire-wide campaign to nominate inclusive businesses. 

The education and awareness program has been running across two Victorian Certificate of 

Applied Learning (VCAL) classes with a total of 47 students, 25 Year 9 students, and is about to 

roll out to more students as part of the health curriculum. 

 Council received federal grant funding to build a bike storage facility along the Diamond Creek 

Trail for people who need adaptive bikes (often these bikes are too heavy and bulky to 

transport, which means people with disability do not get to enjoy our trails). 

 This storage facility for adaptive bikes is believed to be the first of its kind in Victoria. There are 
already five families keen to store adaptive bikes in the shed and means they will finally enjoy 
access to the trail and the nearby local ‘learn to ride area’ at the netball courts in Diamond 
Creek. This project is a partnership initiative between Council, the Australian Government and 
the Brotherhood of St Laurence. 
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6. Domestic animal management plan 

In accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 1994, Council must develop and adopt a Domestic 
Animal Management Plan (DAMP) every four years. Council is required to review the Plan annually 
and report achievements to the community through the annual report. 

Nillumbik adopted the DAMP 2017-2021 in October 2017. 

In the first year of the DAMP, key achievements included: 

 Maintaining Council’s high animal registration compliance through the registration program 
and targeted ‘door knock’ program. In all, 14,190 animal renewals were sent in 2018. 

 Implementation of a new registration form and the ability to register and pay for renewals 
online through Council’s website. 

 The implementation of an emergency housing program for pets associated with family 
violence incidents. 

 In excess of 98 per cent of impounded dogs were returned to their owners or rehomed. 

7. Food Act Ministerial directions 

In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, Council is required to publish a summary of 
any ministerial directions received during the financial year in its annual report.  

No such ministerial directions were received by Council during the 2017-18 financial year.  

8. Freedom of information  

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) provides the community with a general right of 
access to information held by Council. Access may be limited by exceptions and exemptions that 
have been prescribed to protect public interests, and the private and business affairs of people 
about whom Council holds information. 

Requests for access to information under the FOI Act should be made in writing, specifying the 
particular document(s) being sought, to the Freedom of Information Officer and accompanied by 
the appropriate fee. 

In September 2017, there were important reforms to Victoria’s FOI regime; in particular, the 
reduction from 45 to 30 days within which to make a decision on an FOI request, the new 
mandatory consultation requirements and automatic 15-day extension and the establishment of 
the Victorian Information Commissioner. 

The Information Commissioner plays an important role in promoting the operation of the FOI Act. 
A request can be made to the Information Commissioner to have a decision reviewed if an 
applicant is refused access to documents or is not satisfied with the action or decision taken by 
Council in relation to their request. 

For further information visit Council’s website http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/Council/Council-
publications/Freedom-of-information. 

REED 
  

http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/Council/Council-publications/Freedom-of-information
http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/Council/Council-publications/Freedom-of-information
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Freedom of 
Information 

2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15 2013-14 

Total number of 
requests 

12 24 12 8 8 

Access granted in full 1 16 4 3 4 

Access granted in part 8 3 3 5 2 

No documents 
available 

1 1 0 0 2 

Access denied in full 0 2 2 0 0 

Requests withdrawn or 
not proceeded with 

0 1 1 0 0 

Requests in progress at 
end of financial year 

2 1 2 0 0 

Total application fees 
collected 

$335.10 $666.10 $326 $212 $204 

Total other charges 
collected 

$255.30 - $52 $716 $1,365 

9. Information privacy and health records 

Council believes the responsible handling of personal information is a key aspect of democratic 
governance and is strongly committed to protecting an individual’s right to privacy. Accordingly, 
Council is committed to full compliance with its obligations under the Privacy and Data Protection 
Act 2014 (PDPA) and the Health Records Act 2001. 

Council has implemented policies and procedures to ensure responsible collection, handling and 
disposal of all personal and health information. Copies of Council’s Privacy Policy are available 
from the Civic Centre and Council’s website.  

Access to personal information held by Council may be made by applying in writing with proof of 
identity to Council’s Privacy Officer. Any person who feels aggrieved by Council’s handling of their 
personal information may make a complaint to Council’s Privacy Officer on 9433 3271. The 
complaint will be investigated within five business days and a written response provided. 

On 1 September 2017, the Office for the Commissioner for Privacy and Data Protection (OCPDP) 
was amalgamated with the Office of the Freedom of Information Commissioner to create a 
combined Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC). Under OVIC, the functions and 
powers of the former OCPDP remain largely the same and as a result our obligations under the 
Information Privacy Principles or the Victorian Protective Data Security Standards remain 
unchanged. 

The Privacy and Data Protection Deputy Commissioner may receive complaints about possible 
breaches of the Information Privacy Principles; however, the Deputy Commissioner may decline to 
hear the complaint if you have not first made a complaint to Council. 
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For further information on Council’s Privacy policy visit http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/Privacy-
Statement. 

No complaints were received by Council during 2017-2018. 

10.  Protected disclosure procedures 

Nillumbik Shire Council supports the Protected Disclosures Act 2012 (PDA) and encourages 
employees, contractors and members of the public to report known or suspected instances of 
corrupt or improper conduct. Council does not tolerate corrupt or improper conduct by its 
employees, officers or contractors, nor reprisals against those who come forward to disclose such 
conduct.  

The PDA facilitates disclosures of improper conduct by the Council or its employees and provides 
protection for people who make disclosures. Council encourages the disclosure of wrongdoing 
within the organisation and where a potential disclosure under the PDA is identified, ensures 
effective action is taken, including investigation by the appropriate entities. 

Council has developed procedures for reporting disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental 
action. These procedures enable disclosures to be made to Council’s Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator, the IBAC or to the Victorian Ombudsman. 

From 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 there were no protected disclosures reported. 

11.  Road Management Act Ministerial directions 

Council is responsible for the management of approximately 790 kilometres of road (of which 325 
kilometres are unsealed), 350 kilometres of underground drainage, approximately 17,000 
stormwater pits and 250 kilometres of footpaths. 

The Road Management Plan forms the basis of Council’s management of its road-based assets and 
provides details of how Council will inspect, maintain and respond to road based asset issues. 

The Road Management Plan was reviewed and amended in June 2017, in accordance with the 
Road Management Act 2004. 

Council, as a road authority, is required under section 22 of the Act to publish a copy or summary 
of any direction received from the Minister in its annual report. No directions were received from 
the Minister in 2017-2018.

http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/Privacy-Statement.
http://www.nillumbik.vic.gov.au/Privacy-Statement.


 

127 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 

    

12.  Infrastructure and development contributions 

In accordance with section 46GM and 46QD of the Planning and Environment Act 1987, a council that is a collecting or development agency must 
prepare and give a report to the Minister for Planning on infrastructure and development contributions including levies and works in kind. The report 
must be published in a council’s annual report. 

For the 2017-2018 year, the following information about infrastructure and development contributions is disclosed. 

Table 1 – Total DCP levies received in 2017-2018 

DCP name and year approved Levies received in 2017-2018 financial year ($) 

DCPO1 - Development Contributions Plan for Area A DPO 1, August 2003 $36,630.60 

DCPO2 - Area B: Diamond Creek North Development Contributions Plan 
– Area 2, February 2012 

$1,005,315.75 

Total $1,041,946.35 

Table 2 – DCP land, works, services or facilities accepted as works-in-kind in 2017-2018 

DCP name and year approved Project ID Project description Item purpose Project value ($) 

DCPO2 - Area B: Diamond Creek 
North Development 
Contributions Plan 
– Area 2, February 2012 

R009 Collard Drive upgrade Part of road construction works $1,470,976.50 

DCP02 – AREA B: 
DIAMOND CREEK 
NORTH 
 

R008 Herberts Lane 
Upgrade 

Part of road construction works     $318,359.90 

Total    $1,789,336.40 
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Table 3 – Total DCP contributions received and expended to date (for DCPs approved after 1 June 2016) 

DCP name and 

year approved 

Total levies received 

($) 

Total levies expended 

 ($) 

Total works-in-kind accepted  

($) 

Total DCP contributions received 

(levies and works-in-kind) ($) 

     

Total Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable 

 

Table 4 – Land, works, services or facilities delivered in 2017-2018 from DCP levies collected 

Project 

description 

Project 

ID 

DCP name and 

year approved 

DCP fund  

expended ($) 

Works-in-kind 

accepted  

($) 

Council’s 

contribution  

($) 

Other 

contributions  

($) 

Total project 

expenditure  

($) 

Percentage 

of item 

delivered 

Collard Drive  
Upgrade 
 

R004 DCPO2 - Area B: 
Diamond Creek 
North 
Development 
Contributions 
Plan 
– Area 2, 
February 2012 

$733,937.75 $701,404.53 $0 $0 $1,435,342.28  43% 

Herberts Lane 
Upgrade 

R008 DCPO2 - Area B: 
Diamond Creek 
North 
Development 
Contributions 
Plan 
– Area 2, 

$219,301.35 $0 $0 $0 $219,301.35  18% 
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Project 

description 

Project 

ID 

DCP name and 

year approved 

DCP fund  

expended ($) 

Works-in-kind 

accepted  

($) 

Council’s 

contribution  

($) 

Other 

contributions  

($) 

Total project 

expenditure  

($) 

Percentage 

of item 

delivered 

February 2012 

Total   $953,239.10 $701,404.53 $0 $0 $1,654,643.63  
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13.  Charter of human rights 

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 protects the human rights of 
all people in Victoria. All public authorities and their employees are obliged to act in accordance 
with the Charter. 

The Charter seeks to increase transparency in decision making affecting people’s rights and assure 
the public that their rights are being taken into account. It sets out 20 rights which assist all people 
to live with freedom, respect, equality and dignity. 

No human rights complaints were received by Council during 2017-2018. 

14. Legislation impacting Council 

Council undertakes a broad range of activities and services and conducts its activities under a 
highly-regulated environment. In Victoria, councils have responsibilities under more than 120 
different Victorian pieces of legislation, as well as responsibilities under Commonwealth 
legislation. 

Many acts and regulations, including those below, have a direct impact on Council and require 
significant compliance, contain specific provisions relevant to Council, have some form of indirect 
influence, or require specific knowledge by staff carrying out their duties. 

• Australian Citizenship Act 2007 
• Building Act 1993 
• Competition and Consumer Act 2010 
• Country Fire Authority Act 1958 
• Disability Discrimination Act (Commonwealth) 1992 
• Disability Act 2006 
• Domestic Animals Act 1994 
• Emergency Management Act 2013 
• Environment Protection Act 1970 
• Equal Opportunity Act 2010 
• Food Act 1984 
• Freedom of Information Act 1982 
• Geographic Place Names Act 1998 
• Local Government Act 1989 

• Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004  
• Planning and Environment Act 1987 
• Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 

 Protected Disclosures Act 2012 
• Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 
• Public Records Act 1973 
• Road Management Act 2004 
• Road Safety Act 1986 
• Subdivision Act 1988 
• Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 
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15.  Local laws  

Council currently has three local laws in place. 

a) Amenity Local Law 

The purpose of this local law is to provide for the: 

 Safe and fair use and enjoyment of public places 

 Safe and fair use of roads 

 Regulation of street activities 

 Keeping and control of animals 

 Fair and reasonable use and enjoyment of private land 

 Uniform and fair administration of this Local Law 

 Peace, order and good government of the municipality. 

b) Infrastructure Assets Local Law 

The purpose of this local law is to: 

 Provide for the peace, order and good government of the municipal district 

 Protect public assets vested in council from damage, accelerated deterioration or abuse during 
the building works process 

 Provide a physical environment which aims to minimise hazards to the health and safety of 
persons attending building sites and those adjacent, opposite or passing building sites 

 Prohibit, regulate and control the presence and disposal of refuse, rubbish and soil on and 
from building sites within the municipal district to reduce hazards to the environment and 
promote an environment where residents can enjoy a quality of life that meets the general 
expectation of the community 

 Define the standards to which persons engaged in building works should adhere to  

 Educate and induce persons involved in building works to act responsibly to reduce the extent 
and cost of infrastructure damage for the benefit of the wider community. 

The Amenity Local Law and the Infrastructure Assets Local Law both commenced operation on 6 
December 2013. 

c) Meeting Procedure Local Law 

The purpose of this local law is to: 

 Regulate proceedings at Council Meetings, Special Committee Meetings and other meetings 
conducted by or on behalf of Council where Council has resolved that the provisions of this 
local law are to apply 

 Regulate proceedings for the election of the Mayor, Deputy Mayor and Chairpersons 

 Facilitate community engagement by providing opportunities at meetings for community 
members to express their views 

 Ensure the efficient and orderly conduct of meetings 

 Regulate the use and keeping of the common seal 

 Ensure the peace, order and good government of the municipal district. 

The Meeting Procedure Local Law was reviewed and adopted by Council on 27 June 2017 and 
commenced operation on 7 July 2017. 
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16.  Council memberships 

Council is a member of a number of groups and organisations, including the following key 
memberships: 

 Australian Local Government Women’s Association  

 Metropolitan Transport Forum 

 Municipal Association of Victoria  

 Victorian Local Governance Association. 

17.  National competition policy 

Council has in place the necessary procurement processes and controls to ensure that Council’s 
commercial dealings are honest and comply with the requirements of the Competition & 
Consumer Act (2010). Furthermore, Councillors and Council officers are covered by a Councillors 
and Officers Liability Policy. 
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Community grants 

 Value of grant ($) 

Community Festivals / Fairs 
 Eltham Town Festival               $57,432 

Eltham Jazz, Food & Wine Festival  $31,816 
Diamond Creek Town Fair $35,572 
Hurstbridge Traders – Wattle Festival            $28,457 
Warrandyte Festival $14,239 
On The Hill Festival, Panton Hill  $15,994 
Eltham Mudbrick House Tour $5,000 

 
$188,510 

  Community Group Support Grants 
 Araluen $3,636 

St Andrews Festival $2,000 
Incredible Edible Eltham $2,000 
Eltham Fishing Club $2,000 
Eltham Authors Collective Inc $2,000 
The Soothsayers $2,000 
Hang Together $2,000 
Plenty Valley Community Radio $1,990 
Proactive Landowners (PALs) $1,811 
Boomerang Bags $1,642 
Clean Energy Nillumbik $1,700 
Christmas Hills Orchestral Players $1,600 
Catholic Care $1,553 
Little Drop of Poison $2,000 
Thrive Community Garden $1,353 
Older Men New Ideas (OM:NI) $1,258 
Eltham District Historical Society $1,000 
Hurstbridge Sow and Grow Garden Club $963 
Diamond Creek Parkrun $624 

 
$33,130 

  Cultural Development Grants 
 Shakespeare In The Park $5,000 

Poetry @ Chrissy Hills  $630 
Baching Mad $1,600 
Ceramics Collective $1,018 
Boite World Harmonies $4,545 
Art 4 Refugees $1,615 
Diamond Creek Legends Mural $2,000 

 
$16,408 

  Business and Tourism Development Grants 
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Nillumbik Tourism Association  $18,600 

 
$18,600 

  Arts related 
 Montsalvat $25,000 

Artists Open Studios $24,400 
Living in the Landscape Public Art Incubator $12,000 
St Andrews Men’s Shed $1,013 

Eltham Courthouse Poetry Readings $6,865 
Nillumbik Prize $6,000 
Literary Nillumbik – Alan Marshall Short Story Award $4,318 
Literary Nillumbik – Nillumbik Ekphrasis Poetry Award $1,000 

 
$80,596 

  Fire Brigades 
 Arthurs Creek Fire Brigade     $2,722 

Christmas Hills Fire Brigade   $2,722 
Diamond Creek Fire Brigade     $2,722 
District 14 Headquarters Brigade East    $2,722 
Doreen Fire Brigade            $2,722 
Eltham Fire Brigade            $2,722 
Hurstbridge Fire Brigade       $2,722 
Kangaroo Ground Fire Brigade   $2,722 
Kinglake Fire Brigade          $2,722 
Nillumbik Group Fire Brigade   $2,722 

North Warrandyte Fire Brigade  $2,722 
Panton Hill Fire Brigade       $2,722 
Plenty Fire Brigade            $2,722 
Research Fire Brigade          $2,722 
St Andrews Fire Brigade        $2,722 
Wattle Glen Fire Brigade       $2,722 
Whittlesea/Diamond Valley Group Fire Brigade $2,722 
Yarrambat Fire Brigade         $2,722 

 
$49,000 

  Heritage Grants 
 Friends of Kangaroo Ground War Memorial Park Inc $600 

Eltham District Historical Society  $600 
St Andrews Queenstown Historical Society  $600 
Queenstown Cemetery Trust  $600 
Allwood Neighbourhood House Inc. $600 
Nillumbik Historical Society  $600 
Plenty Historical Society  $600 
Greensborough Historical Society  $600 
Andrew Ross Museum  $600 
Yarrambat Historical Society $600 
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Nillumbik Reconciliation Group  $600 
Warrandyte Historical Society  $600 

Arthurs Creek Mechanics Institute $600 

 
$7,800 

 
 Occasional Childcare Centres 
 Hohnes Road Playhouse Inc. $14,994 

 
$14,994 

  Sports and Recreational Achievements 
 19 achievement grants $3,100 

 
$3,100 

  Youth Support Grants 
 Squish Art Collective auspiced by Rotary Club of Eltham Inc. $990 

Headspace Greensborough auspiced by MIND Australia $1,901 

UN Youth Australia $2,000 

 
$4,891 

  Total value of grants allocated in 2017-2018 $417,029 
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Comprehensive Income Statement 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
Income 

Rates and charges 

Note 
 

 
 

2.1 

2018 

$'000 

 
63,131 

 2017 

$'000 

 
62,811 

Statutory fees and fines 2.2 1,558  1,506 

User fees 2.3 8,961  9,628 

Grants - operating 2.4 7,170  8,613 

Grants - capital 2.4 4,138  5,742 

Contributions - monetary 2.5 2,589  2,620 

Contributions - non-monetary 2.5 5,100  372 

Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2.6 1,351  - 

Share of net profits/(losses) of associate 5.3 40  87 

Other income 2.7 2,824  2,313 

Total income  96,862  93,692 

 
Expenses 

Employee costs 

 

 
 

3.1 

 

 
 

31,984 

 
 

 
 

31,208 

Materials and services 3.2 30,388  27,950 

Depreciation 3.3 11,115  10,415 

Bad and doubtful debts 3.4 53  4 

Borrowing costs 3.5 812  885 

Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2.6 -  896 

Contributions to associate 5.3 2,694  2,690 

Other expenses 3.6 3,264  3,722 

Total expenses  80,310  77,770 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  16,552  15,922 

 
Other comprehensive income 

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods 

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 

 
 
 
 

8.1 

 
 
 
 

158,981 

  
 
 
 

- 

Total comprehensive result  175,533  15,922 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Balance Sheet 

As at 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Assets 

Current assets 

Note 2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 46,670 37,910 

Trade and other receivables 4.1 8,032 8,046 

Other financial assets 4.1 1,000 6,300 

Inventories 4.2 22 23 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 5.1 5,158 3,000 

Other assets 4.2 4,376 1,771 

Total current assets 65,258 57,050 

 
Non-current assets 

Trade and other receivables 4.1 550 830 

Other financial assets 4.1 5 5 

Investments in associate 5.3 1,597 1,557 

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 5.2 921,851 753,235 

Total non-current assets 924,003 755,627 

Total assets 989,261 812,677 

 
Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 4.3 8,904 5,490 

Trust funds and deposits 4.3 1,648 1,509 

Provisions 4.5 6,670 6,947 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4.4 2,121 2,203 

Total current liabilities 19,343 16,149 

 
Non-current liabilities 

Provisions 4.5 7,707 9,208 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4.4 10,615 11,257 

Total non-current liabilities 18,322 20,465 

Total liabilities 37,665 36,614 

 
Net assets 951,596 776,063 

 

 
 

Equity 

Accumulated surplus 388,337 373,053 

Reserves 8.1 563,259 403,010 

Total equity 951,596 776,063 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes In Equity 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 
 

 Note 
 

 
Total 

  

 
Accumulated 

  

 
Asset 

  

 
Other 

 

 
 
2018 

 
 

 
 

$'000 

 Surplus 

 
$'000 

 Revaluation 

Reserve 

$'000 

 Reserves 

 
$'000 

 

Balance at beginning of the financial year   

776,063   

373,053   

365,651   

37,359 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  16,552  16,552  -  - 

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 8.1 158,981  -  158,981  - 

Transfers to other reserves 8.1 -  (25,553)  -  25,553 

Transfers from other reserves 8.1 -  24,285  -  (24,285) 

Balance at end of the financial year  951,596  388,337  524,632  38,627 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
2017 

 Total 
 

 
 

$'000 

 Accumulated 

Surplus 

 
$'000 

 Asset 

Revaluation 

Reserve 

$'000 

 Other 

Reserves 

 
$'000 

 

Balance at beginning of the financial year   

760,141   

360,992   

365,651   

33,498 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 

 
8.1 

15,922 

- 
 15,922 

- 
 - 

- 
 - 

- 

Transfers to other reserves 8.1 -  (20,867)  -  20,867 

Transfers from other reserves 8.1 -  17,006  -  (17,006) 

Balance at end of the financial year  776,063  373,053  365,651  37,359 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of changes in should equity be read with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

2018 2017 

Inflows/  Inflows/ 

(Outflows) (Outflows) 

Note $'000 $'000 

 
Rates and charges                                                                                                                                              63,583                          63,005 

Statutory fees and fines                                                                                                                                        1,558                            1,506 

User fees*                                                                                                                                                             6,722                            9,797 

Grants - operating*                                                                                                                                                7,442                            8,782 

Grants - capital*                                                                                                                                                    4,410                            5,911 

Contributions - monetary*                                                                                                                                     2,861                            2,789 

Interest received                                                                                                                                                      955                            1,403 

Trust funds and deposits taken                                                                                                                                290                               513 

Other receipts                                                                                                                                                       1,758                               641 

Net GST refund/(payment)                                                                                                                                   4,010                            4,450 

Employee costs                                                                                                                                                 (32,406)                        (31,048) 

Materials and services*                                                                                                                                      (31,314)                        (30,849) 

Trust funds and deposits repaid                                                                                                                               (12)                             (239) 

Other payments*                                                                                                                                                  (7,048)                          (8,401) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities                                                                                      22,809                          28,258 

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

 
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment                                            5.2                            (22,285)                        (24,147) 

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment                                                                   5,472                            1,607 

Payments for investments                                                                                                                                   (1,000)                          (6,300) 

Proceeds from investments                                                                                                                                  5,300                            7,000 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities                                                                                     (12,513)                        (21,840) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

 
Finance costs                                                                                                                                                          (812)                             (885) 

Proceeds from borrowings                                                                                                                                            -                                    - 

Repayment of borrowings                                                                                                                                       (724)                             (843) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities                                                                                       (1,536)                          (1,728) 

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                                                                        8,760                            4,690 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year                                                                      37,910                          33,220 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year                                      4.1                             46,670                          37,910 

 
Financing arrangements                                                                                               4.6 

Restrictions on cash assets                                                                                          4.1 

 
*GST Inclusive 

 
 
 
 

The above statement of cash flow should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Capital Works 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Property 

Note 2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Land                                                                                                                                                                    -                                    - 

Land improvements                                                                                                                                            -                                    - 

Playgrounds                                                                                                                                                        -                                    - 

Total land                                                                                                                                                           -                                    - 

Buildings                                                                                                                                                     2,129                            4,513 

Buildings - heritage                                                                                                                                             -                                    - 

Building improvements - disability access works                                                                                                -                                    - 

Total buildings                                                                                                                                          2,129                            4,513 

Total property                                                                                                                                            2,129                            4,513 

 
Plant and equipment 

Plant, machinery and equipment                                                                                                                   642                               878 

Furniture, equipment and computers                                                                                                             109                                    - 

Artwork                                                                                                                                                               -                                    - 

Total plant and equipment                                                                                                                          751                               878 

 
Infrastructure 

Roads                                                                                                                                                         2,272                            4,506 

Bridges                                                                                                                                                           214                               949 

Footpaths and cycleways                                                                                                                           2,375                               817 

Drainage                                                                                                                                                        759                               453 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities                                                                                          12,853                            9,287 

Waste management                                                                                                                                    1,065                            1,016 

Parks, open space and streetscapes                                                                                                             546                               515 

Traffic treatments                                                                                                                                                -                                    - 

Other infrastructure                                                                                                                                        933                               391 

Total infrastructure                                                                                                                                 21,017                          17,934 

 
Total capital works expenditure                                                                                                            23,897                          23,325 

 
Represented by: 

New asset expenditure                                                                                                                                  622                            1,662 

Asset renewal expenditure                                                                                                                         5,301                            7,347 

Asset expansion expenditure                                                                                                                      1,992                            1,762 

Asset upgrade expenditure                                                                                                                       15,982                          12,554 

Total capital works expenditure                                                                                                            23,897                          23,325 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of capital works should be read with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes To The Financial Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

Introduction 

The Nillumbik Shire Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 15 December 1994 and is a 

body corporate. Council's main office is located at Civic Drive, Greensborough, Victoria. 

 
Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are a general-purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income Statement, 

Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and notes 

accompanying these financial statements. The general-purpose financial report complies with Australian Accounting 

Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government 

Act 1989, and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 . 

 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies 

 
(a)  Basis of accounting 

The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets, 

liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when 

cash is received or paid. 

 
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that 

are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on professional 

judgement derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future 

periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of 

AAS's that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 

- the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to note 5.2) 

- the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to note 5.2) 

- the determination of employee provisions (refer to note 4.5) 

- the determination of landfill provisions (refer to note 4.5) 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate, 

comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any 

material changes to comparatives. 
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Notes To The Financial Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

Note 1 Performance against budget 

The performance against budget notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual 

performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances. 

Council has adopted a materiality threshold of 10 percent where further explanation is warranted. Explanations have not been 

provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 

 
The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 27 June 2017. The Budget was based on assumptions that 

were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for revenue and expense targets in this 

budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term. The budget did not 

reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable. 

 
These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and 

Reporting) Regulations 2014. 

 
1.1 Income and expenditure 

 
 
 
 
Income 

Rates and charges 

Budget 

2018 

$'000 

 
62,733 

 Actual 

2018 

$'000 

 
63,131 

 Variance 

2018 

$'000 

 
398 

 

 
 

Ref 

Statutory fees and fines 1,178  1,558  380 1 

User fees 11,500  8,961  (2,539) 2 

Grants - operating 6,094  7,170  1,076 3 

Grants - capital 3,261  4,138  877 4 

Contributions - monetary 520  2,589  2,069 5 

Contributions - non monetary -  5,100  5,100 6 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant 

and equipment 

 
- 

  
1,351 

  
1,351 

 
7 

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures -  40  40  
Other income 1,493  2,824  1,331 8 

Total income 86,779  96,862  10,083  

 
Expenses 

      

Employee costs 32,551  31,984  (567)  
Materials and services 26,842  30,388  3,546 9 

Bad and doubtful debts -  53  53  
Depreciation 10,095  11,115  1,020 10 

Borrowing costs 820  812  (8)  
Contributions to associates 2,788  2,694  (94) 11 

Other expenses 6,525  3,264  (3,261) 12 

Total expenses 79,621  80,310  (689)  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 7,158  16,552  9,394  
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Note 1 Performance against budget (continued) 

 
1.1 Income and expenditure (continued) 

(i) Explanation of material variances 

Ref Explanation 

1 Statutory fees and fines, variance due to increase in fines and permits issued for the year and penalties served on properties in 

the Shire. 
 

2 User fees, variance attributable to Eltham Leisure Centre redevelopment, whereby the partial extended closure of the facility has 

impacted the utilisation for the period decrease in facility use. 
 

3 Grants - operating, variance is due to Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants received in advance. Additional grants not 

budgeted for were also received during the financial year. 
 

4 Grants - capital, variance is due to grants budgeted in prior year received during the period. 
 

5 Contributions - monetary, variance largely due to developer and capital works contributions received in excess of budget 

amounts. 
 

6 Contributions - non-monetary, comprises of infrastructure assets, in particular drainage assets, that were transferred to Council 

during the period. Council does not budget for the receipt of non-monetary contributions. 
 

7 Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment, losses on disposal of plant, infrastructure and equipment 

are not budgeted for. 
 

8 Other income, variance is driven by an increase in interest income attributable to an increase in funds invested. Items of an 

unexpected nature were also received including WorkCover and insurance refunds and non-voter fines received during the 

financial year. 
 

9 Materials and services, variance is largely due to classification of insurance premiums. For budgeting purposes, insurance 

premiums are categorised as other expenses, but are allocated to the materials and services category in the income statement. 
 

10 Depreciation, variance is driven by the capitalisation of newly completed assets. 
 

11 Contributions to associates, reflective of the contributions agreed upon by the board of the Yarra Plenty Regional Library 

Service. 
 

12 Other expenses, variations due to underspends on utilities and lease costs. This is further compounded by insurance premiums 

budgeted as other expenses, but classified as materials and services in the income statement. 
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Notes To The Financial Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

Note 1 Performance against budget (continued) 

 
1.2 Capital Works Budget Actual Variance 

 

 
 
Property 

Land 

Playgrounds 

Land improvements 

2018 

$'000 

 
- 

- 

- 

 2018 

$'000 

 
- 

- 

- 

 2018 

$'000 

 
- 

- 

- 

 
Ref 

Total land -  -  - 

Buildings 3,739  2,129  (1,610) 1 

Buildings - heritage -  -  -  
Building improvements -  -  -  
Total buildings 3,739  2,129  (1,610)  
Total property 3,739  2,129  (1,610)  
 
Plant and equipment 

      

Plant, machinery and equipment 1,871  642  (1,229) 2 

Fixtures, fittings and furniture -  109  109  
Computers and telecommunications -  -  -  
Artwork -  -  -  
Total plant and equipment 1,871  751  (1,120)  
 
Infrastructure 

      

Roads 2,164  3,673  1,509 3 

Bridges 1,014  214  (800) 4 

Footpaths, trails and cycleways 790  974  184 5 

Drainage 625  759  134  
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 7,878  12,853  4,975 6 

Kerb and channel -  -  -  
Waste management 853  1,065  212  
Parks, open space and streetscapes 1,739  546  (1,193) 7 

Traffic treatments -  -  -  
Other infrastructure 668  933  265  
Total infrastructure 15,731  21,017  5,286  
Total capital works expenditure 21,341  23,897  2,556  
 
Represented by: 

      

New asset expenditure 2,920  622  (2,298)  
Asset renewal expenditure 6,556  5,301  (1,255)  
Asset expansion expenditure 2,947  1,992  (955)  
Asset upgrade expenditure 8,918  15,982  7,064  
Total capital works expenditure 21,341  23,897  2,556  
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Note 1 Performance against budget (continued) 

 
1.2 Capital works (continued) 

 
(i) Explanation of material variances 

 
Ref Explanation 

 

 

1 Buildings, variance due to anticipated land purchases which were budgeted for, that did not take place during the period. 
 

2 Plant, machinery and equipment, variance due to a reduction in fleet vehicles and further compounded by a delay in budgeted 

spend. 

3 Roads, variance driven by works at Collard Drive, Herberts Lane and the Civic Drive precinct and the Hillmartin Lane special 

charge scheme works completed during the period, budgeted for in the prior year. 
 

4 Bridges, variance largely driven by the Gibson Street bridge rehabilitation works, which will be completed in the 2018-19 financial 

year. 

5 Footpaths, trails and cycleways, variance due to works undertaken in 2017-18 that were budgeted for in 2016-17. 
 

6 Recreation, Leisure and Community, variance due to Eltham Leisure Centre works carried forward from prior years, offset by 

works carried forward to 2018-19 on Research Park Sports Pavilion, Wattleglen Soccer Facilities and Diamond Valley Sports and 

Recreation Centre. 

7 Parks, open space and streetscapes, variance due to works on open space, including Civic Drive precinct, carried forward to 

2018-19. 



Notes To The Financial Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services 2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

2.1 Rates and charges 

Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district. The Capital 

Improved Value of a property is the market value of land and all improvements at a given point in time. 
 

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2017-18 was $15.99 billion (2016-17 $15.85 billion). The rate in the 

dollar for each type of rate to be levied was: 
 

General rates 51,820  51,412 

Municipal charge 2,238  2,228 

Waste management charge 8,329  8,257 

Special rates and charges 188  290 

Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 103  189 

Interest on rates 453  435 

Total rates and charges 63,131  62,811 

 
The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2018, and 

the valuation will be first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2018. 
 

Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary rates are 

recognised when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued. 

 

2.2 Statutory fees and fines 

Infringements and costs 469  580 

Court recoveries 15  34 

Town planning fees 769  577 

Land information certificates 42  45 

Animal infringements 56  83 

Permits 207  187 

Total statutory fees and fines 1,558  1,506 
 

Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, 

the payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs. 
 

2.3 User fees 

Aged services 184  227 

Leisure centre and recreation 5,204  5,997 

Child care/children's programs 355  320 

Registration and other permits 737  705 

Building services 27  28 

Waste management services 580  613 

Subdivision supervision 283  189 

Pound release 48  51 

Adult education 353  381 

Edendale farm 280  259 

Environmental health 245  260 

Hall and sport ground hire 493  381 

Other fees and charges 172  217 

Total user fees 8,961  9,628 
 

User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or Council has otherwise earned the income. 
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services (continued) 2018 

$'000 

2017 

$'000 

 

149 
 

2.4 Funding from other levels of government 

Grants were received in respect of the following:  
Summary of grants 

Commonwealth funded grants 5,691  5,647 

State funded grants 5,617  8,708 

Total grants received 11,308  14,355 

 

(a) Operating Grants 

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Aged care 

 
1,054 

  
- 

Community health 8  - 

Community planning 50  - 

Family and children 97  - 

Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants 3,066  4,732 

Other 

Recurrent - State Government 

Adult education 

5 

 
514 

 - 

 
433 

Aged care, senior citizens centres 

Arts 

- 

2 
 1,567 

- 

Community health 61  82 

Community planning 14  100 

Disability support 

Economic development 

427 

- 
 - 

15 

Environment 15  45 

Family and children 666  725 

Metro access 139  133 

Recreation 10  15 

School crossing supervisors 226  153 

Waste 57  - 

Total recurrent operating grants 6,411  8,000 

Non-recurrent - State Government 

Adult education 

 
40 

  
- 

Community planning 53  51 

Emergency management 115  122 

Environment 379  287 

Family and children 95  108 

Planning 5  12 

Recreation -  17 

Waste -  9 

Other 72  7 

Total non-recurrent operating grants 759  613 

Total operating grants 7,170  8,613 
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services (continued) 2018 

$'000 

2017 

$'000 
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2.4 Funding from other levels of government (continued) 

(b) Capital Grants 

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Playgrounds 

 
- 

  
- 

Recreation 

Bridges 

- 

683 
 - 

749 

Roads 328  52 

Roads to recovery 

Non-recurrent - State Government 

Buildings 

400 

 
- 

 114 

 
63 

Community facilities 

Community planning 

Emergency management 

- 

- 

35 

 950 

- 

25 

Environment 

Family and children 

Footpaths 

2 

- 

- 

 500 

- 

30 

Playgrounds 50  29 

Recreation 2,640  2,710 

Roads -  520 

Total non-recurrent capital grants 4,138  5,742 

Total capital grants 4,138  5,742 

 
Unspent grants received on condition that they be spend in a specific manner 

Balance at start of year 

 

 
2,167 

  

 
5,767 

Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 5,772  3,785 

Received in prior years and spent during the financial year (2,162)  (7,385) 

Balance at year end 5,777  2,167 

 

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. Control is normally obtained upon their receipt 

(or acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured. 

 
2.5 Contributions 

Monetary 2,589  2,620 

Non-monetary 5,100  372 

Total contributions 7,689  2,992 

 
Contributions of non-monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset 

   

classes: 

Infrastructure 
 

5,100 
  

372 

Total non-monetary contributions 5,100  372 

 

Monetary and non-monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed 

 
2.6 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

Proceeds of sale 5,473  1,608 

Written down value of assets disposed (4,122)  (2,504) 

Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,351  (896) 

 

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer. 
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Wages and salaries 28,912  27,516 

WorkCover 317  490 

Superannuation 2,437  2,545 

Fringe benefits tax 136  219 

Other 182  438 

Total employee costs 31,984  31,208 

 
Superannuation 

Council made contributions to the following funds: 

   

 

Defined benefit fund 

Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 

 
 

129 

  
 

209 

Employer contributions - other funds -  - 

 129  209 

Employer contributions payable at reporting date. -  - 

 

Accumulation funds 

Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 

 
 

1,531 

  
 

1,489 

Employer contributions -  other funds 906  847 

 2,437  2,336 

Employer contributions payable at reporting date. 98  65 

 
Refer to note 8.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations. 

   

 

2.7 Other income 

Interest 955  968 

Other rent 319  301 

Reimbursements 778  152 

Sale of valuations 18  195 

WorkCover insurance recoveries 168  173 

Planning 57  74 

Other 529  450 

Total other income 2,824  2,313 

 
Interest is recognised as it is earned. 

   

 

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council gains 

control over the right to receive the income. 

 
Note 3 The cost of delivering services 

 
3.1 Employee costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(b) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Employee benefits disclosed in the comprehensive income statement are marginally lower than those disclosed within the 

cash flow statement, reflecting the movement in the employee benefits provision during the financial year. 
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$'000 
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Parking fine debtors* 52  3 

Bad debts 1  1 

Total bad and doubtful debts 53  4 

 

3.2 Materials and services 

Contract payments 11,535  10,816 

Building maintenance 296  277 

Materials, maintenance and equipment 9,544  8,495 

Utilities 1,113  888 

Office administration 817  949 

Information technology and telephone 1,765  1,788 

Insurance premiums 967  878 

Consultants 2,428  2,028 

Emergency management 309  383 

Waste management 1,266  1,107 

Other 348  341 

Total materials and services 30,388  27,950 

 

3.3 Depreciation 

Property 114  112 

Buildings 1,220  1,301 

Plant and equipment 1,028  1,102 

Infrastructure 8,753  7,900 

Total depreciation 11,115  10,415 
Refer to note 5.2 for a detailed breakdown of depreciation    

 

3.4 Bad and doubtful debts 
 
 
 
 

* Bad and doubtful debts for parking debtors relate to provisions raised regarding amounts in excess of 12 months old which have been referred to 

Infringements Court for collection plus associated costs. 
 

 

Provision for doubtful debt is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred. Bad debts 

are written off when identified. 

 

3.5 Borrowing costs 

Interest on borrowings 812  885 

Total borrowing costs 812  885 

 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised as 

part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. 

 

3.6 Other expenses 

Auditors'  remuneration  -  VAGO   -  audit  of  the  financial 

statement 

statements, performance  
62 

  
71 

Auditors' remuneration - internal and grant acquittals   99  86 

Councillors' allowances   244  234 

Operating lease rentals   951  900 

Assets written off/ impaired   -  - 

Other   1,908  2,431 

Total other expenses   3,264  3,722 
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Trust funds and deposits (note 4.3) 1,648  1,509 

Net increase/(decrease) in restricted assets resulting from grant revenues 5,777  2,167 

Statutory cash backed and capital works reserves 29,065  25,553 

Total restricted funds 36,490  29,229 

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 10,180  8,681 

 

4.1 Financial Assets 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand 7  7 

Cash at bank 3,278  903 

Term deposits 43,385  37,000 

Total cash and cash equivalents 46,670  37,910 

 

(b) Other financial assets 

Current 

Term deposits 1,000  6,300 

Non-current 

Investment - MAPS 

 
5 

  
5 

Total other financial assets 1,005  6,305 

 
Total financial assets 

 
47,675 

  
44,215 

 

Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary use, 

these include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Intended allocations 

Although not externally restricted, the following amounts have been allocated for specific 

future purposes by Council: 

Cash held to fund long service leave (other financial assets)   5,300      5,300   

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities 

of ninety days/three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 
Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised 

gains and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense. 

 
Investments in MAPS and the Local Government Health Plan are valued at cost. Any dividends paid are taken up as 

revenue. 
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4.1 Financial Assets (continued) 

(c) Trade and other receivables 

Current 

Statutory receivables 

Rates debtors 

 

 
 

5,821 

  

 
 

5,882 

Special charge scheme debtors 674  793 

Parking infringement debtors 541  516 

Provision for doubtful debts - parking infringements 

Non-statutory receivables 

Other debtors 

(342) 

 
694 

 (290) 

 
659 

Net GST receivable 644  486 

Total current trade and other receivables 8,032  8,046 

Non-current 

Statutory receivables 

Special rate scheme 

 

 
 

550 

 
 

 
 

830 

Total non-current trade and other receivables 550  830 

Total trade and other receivables 8,582  8,876 

 

Short-term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective 

evidence that an impairment has occurred. Long-term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method. 

 
a) Ageing of Receivables 

The ageing of the Council's trade and other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) that are not impaired was: 

Current (not yet due) 1,281 1,053 

Past due by up to 30 days 21  22 

Past due between 31 and 180 days 1  7 

Past due between 181 and 365 days -  36 

Past due by more than 1 year 35  27 

Total trade & other receivables 1,338  1,145 

 
b) Movement in provisions for doubtful debts 

Balance at the beginning of the year 

 

 
 

290 

 
 

 
 

287 

New provisions recognised during the year 53  4 

Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (1)  (1) 

Balance at end of year 342  290 

 

4.2 Non-financial assets 

(a) Inventories 

Fuel 22  23 

Total inventories 22  23 

 

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. All other 

inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where Inventories are 

acquired for no cost or nominal consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition. 
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4.2 Non-financial assets 

(b) Other assets 

Current  
Prepayments 1,699  1,605 

Accrued income 2,677  166 

Total current other assets 4,376  1,771 

 

4.3 Payables 

(a) Trade and other payables 

Trade payables 2,663  2,043 

Accrued expenses 6,176  3,420 

Prepaid income 65  27 

Net GST payable -  - 

Total trade and other payables 8,904  5,490 

 

(b) Trust funds and deposits 

Refundable deposits 337  266 

Fire services levy -  - 

Retention amounts 525  469 

Other refundable deposits 786  774 

 1,648  1,509 

 

Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are 

returned, transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in 

council gaining control of the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit. 

 
Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to 

building works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities. 

 
Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government. Council remits 

amounts received on a quarterly basis, after each instalment date. Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state 

government in line with that process. 

 
Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements 

or a related warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the 

elapsing of time, these amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations. 
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4.4 Interest-bearing liabilities 
 

Current 

Borrowings - secured 

 

 
2,121 

  

 
2,203 

 2,121  2,203 

Non-current 

Borrowings - secured 

 
10,615 

  
11,257 

 10,615  11,257 

Total 12,736  13,460 

 
a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is: 

Not later than one year 

 

 
 

2,121 

 
 

 
 

2,203 

Later than one year and not later than five years 5,792  7,084 

Later than five years 4,823  4,173 

Total 12,736  13,460 

 

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest-bearing liabilities, net of transaction costs. The 

measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its interest-bearing 

liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or financial liabilities at amortised 

cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised in net result over the 

period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. 

 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the 

classification of its interest-bearing liabilities at initial recognition. 

 
All borrowings taken out by Council can be secured through two avenues, against Council's fixed asset portfolio or the rates 

levied by Council. The overall balance of secured borrowings accounts for 0.138 percent of the total fixed asset portfolio, or 

24 percent of general rates and municipal charge levied in the 2017-18 financial year. 
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4.5 Provisions Employee Landfill Total 

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 

2018 

Balance at beginning of the financial year 7,661 8,494 16,155 

Additional provisions 3,027 - 3,027 

Amounts used (3,449) - (3,449) 

Increase in the discounted amount arising because of time and 

the effect of any change in the discount rate - (1,356) (1,356) 

Balance at the end of the financial year 7,239 7,138 14,377 

 
2017 

Balance at beginning of the financial year 7,501 8,507 16,008 

Additional provisions 3,417 - 3,417 

Amounts used (3,257) - (3,257) 

Increase in the discounted amount arising because of time and 

the effect of any change in the discount rate - (13) (13) 

Balance at the end of the financial year 7,661 8,494 16,155 

 
 

 
 

(a) Employee provisions 

2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months 

Redundancies 

 
- 

  
422 

Annual leave 718  681 

Long service leave 899  892 

 1,617  1,995 

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months 

Annual leave 

 
1,458 

  
1,382 

Long service leave 3,595  3,570 

 5,053  4,952 

Total current provisions 6,670  6,947 

 
Non-current 

Long service leave 

 

 
569 

  

 
714 

Total non-current provisions 569  714 

 
Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions 

Current 

 

 
6,670 

  

 
6,947 

Non-current 569  714 

Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions 7,239  7,661 

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at 

reporting date. 
 

Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave 

expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee 

benefits in respect of employee services up to the reporting date, classified as current liabilities and measured at 

their nominal values. 

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the 

provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, measured at present value of the amounts expected to be paid 

when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
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Current 6,670  6,947 

Non-current 7,707  9,208 

Total 14,377  16,155 

 
Financing arrangements 

Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June 2018. 

Bank overdraft and drawdown available 

 
 
 
 

- 

  
 
 
 

- 

Credit card facilities 

Other facilities 

153 

- 
 153 

- 

Total facilities 153  153 

 
Used facilities 

 
32 

  
21 

Unused facilities 121  132 

Total 153  153 

 

 
4.5 Provisions (continued) 

(a) Employee provisions (continued) 

Long service leave 

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured at 

present value. Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where 

an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of employment, is disclosed as a non-current liability. 

 
Key assumptions: 

- Weighted average increase in employee costs 3.70% 3.10% 

- Weighted average discount rates 2.31% 2.20% 

 
 

 
 

(b) Land fill restoration 

2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Current  -  - 

Non-current 7,138 8,494 

Total land fill restoration 7,138 8,494 

 
Council is obligated to restore the former landfill sites at Plenty and Kangaroo Ground to a particular standard. The 

provision for landfill restoration has been calculated based on the present value of expected cost of works to be 

undertaken. The expected cost of works has been estimated based on current understanding of work required to 

reinstate the site to a suitable standard as reviewed by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Accordingly, 

the estimation of the provision required is dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, work 

required and related costs. 
Key assumptions: 

- Discount rate 2.65% 2.61% 

 
2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 
 

- Estimated cost to rehabilitate (per contract) 9,913 9,913 
 

The estimated cost to rehabilitate both landfill sites reflects the contracted rehabilitation cost of the Plenty Landfill 

site, with the same costing assumed for Kangaroo Ground based on all known rehabilitation requirements. 

Rehabilitation of both landfill sites is underpinned by EPA requirements which are reflected in rehabilitation contract. 

 
(c) Aggregate carrying amount of provisions 

 
 
 
 
 

4.6 



Notes To The Financial Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 

159 
 

 
Note 4 Our Financial Position (continued) 

 
4.7 Commitments 

The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the balance sheet. 

Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and presented exclusive of the GST payable. 
 

 Not later than 

1 year 

 Later than 1 

year and not 

later than 2 

years 

 Later than 2 

years and not 

later than 5 

years 

 Later than 5 

years 

 Total 

2018 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Operating          
Buildings 12  -  -  -   
Business and tourism 8  -  -  -   
Community 1,091  103  -  -  1,194 
Fleet 1,005  715  582  -  2,302 
Infrastructure maintenance 599  651  37  -  1,287 
Integrated strategy 122  -  -  -   
Open space 312  -  -  -   
Organisational support 555  370  601  -  1,526 
Sport and leisure 255  251  -  -                  506 
Waste 106  33  -  -                  139 

Total 4,065  2,123  1,220  -  6,954 

 
Capital 

         

Land 3,570  -  -  -  3,570 
Buildings 9,178  433  26  9  9,646 
Plant and equipment -  -  -  -  - 
Infrastructure 1,257  -  -  -  1,257 

Total 14,005  433  26  9  14,473 

  
Not later than 

  
Later than 1 

  
Later than 2 

  
Later than 5 

  
Total 

 1 year  year and not  years and not  years   
   later than 2  later than 5     
 
2017 

 
$'000 

 years 

$'000 
 years 

$'000 
  

$'000 
  

$'000 
Operating          
Community programs 1,017  855  -  -  1,872 
Economic development 51  -  -  -  51 
Environment 10  10  10  -  30 
Fleet 305  153  -  -  458 
Infrastructure maintenance 329  457  352  -  1,138 
Organisational support 762  370  358  -  1,490 
Sport and leisure 1,361  188  197  -  1,746 
Waste 33  33  33  -  99 

Total 3,868  2,066  950  -  6,884 

 
Capital 

         

Land 2,671  1,315  -  -  3,986 
Buildings 13,454  15  -  -  13,469 
Plant and equipment -  -  -  -  - 
Infrastructure 221  -  -  -  221 

Total 16,346  1,330  -  -  17,676 
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Note 4 Our Financial Position (continued) 

 
4.7 Commitments (continued) 

Operating lease commitments 

2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the lease of 

equipment and land and buildings for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities): 
 

Not later than one year 688  816 

Later than one year and not later 1,006  1,371 

than five years 
Later than five years 

 
92 

  
246 

 1,786  2,433 

 
Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight-line basis, 

rather than expensed in the years in which they are incurred. 
 

Note 5 Assets we manage 

 
5.1 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 

Opening balance 3,000  3,172 

Written down value of non-current assets classified as held for sale - sold -  (810) 

Transfers out to Property (Land - non-specialised) -  (2,362) 

Transfers in from Property (Land - non-specialised) 2,158  3,000 

Total non-current assets classified as held for resale 5,158  3,000 

 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) are measured at the lower of its carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities 

and assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and 

the asset's sale (or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification. 
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5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

At fair value 

 
 

 
Acquisitions Contributions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Transfers 

 

 
 
At fair value 

30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

 
Land 

$'000 

297,495 

$'000 

370 

$'000 

- 

$'000 

130,562 

$'000 

(114) 

$'000 

(2,920) 

$'000 

(2,158) 

$'000 

423,235 

Buildings 41,971 1,487 - (10,037) (1,220) - 3,807 36,008 

Plant and equipment 6,456 936 - - (1,028) (347) - 6,017 

Infrastructure 387,576 6,742 5,100 38,456 (8,753) (855) 4,259 432,525 

Work in progress 19,737 13,600 - - - (7) (9,264) 24,066 

Total 753,235 23,135 5,100 158,981 (11,115) (4,129) (3,356) 921,851 

 
Summary of work in progress 

 

 
 

Opening WIP 

 

 
 

Additions 

 

 
 

Write Offs 

 

 
 

Transfers 

 

 
 

Closing WIP 

   

 
Land 

$'000 

4,522 

$'000 

504 

$'000 

- 

$'000 

(3,012) 

$'000 

2,014 
   

Buildings 6,309 1,525 - (5,315) 2,519    
Plant and equipment - - - - -    
Infrastructure 8,906 11,571 (7) (937) 19,533    
Total 19,737 13,600 (7) (9,264) 24,066    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Notes To The Financial Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 

162 
 

 
Note 5 Assets we manage (continued) 

 
Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods Useful life Threshold 

 Years $ 

Property   
Land Indefinite Nil 

Playgrounds 10-15 1,000 

Land improvements 50 5,000 

Buildings 50-100 5,000 

Plant and Equipment   
Plant and machinery 6-7 1,000 

Motor vehicles 6-7 Nil 

Furniture, fittings and computers 6-7 1,000 

Artwork 100 500 

Infrastructure   
Road surface 12-30 5,000 

Road pavement 50-80 5,000 

Road formation and earthworks - 5,000 

Road kerb, channel and minor culverts 50 5,000 

Traffic treatments/ calming 5-50 5,000 

Major bridge culverts 50-100 5,000 

Bridges - concrete/steel 100 5,000 

Bridges - timber 50 5,000 

Footpaths, trails and cycleways 10-50 5,000 

Drainage 50-100 5,000 

Waste management 5-15 1,000 

Guard fence 10 1,000 

Fire hydrants 50 1,000 

Bus shelters 20 1,000 

Reserves furniture 17 1,000 

Water treatment devices 15-20 5,000 
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued) 

 
5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued) 

(a) Property 

Land - Land - Land Total Buildings - Buildings - Buildings - Total Work in Total 

 
Land and buildings 

At fair value 1 July 2017 

specialised 

$'000 

180 

non-specialised 

$'000 

291,991 

improvements 

$'000 

5,662 

land 

$'000 
297,833 

heritage 

$'000 

13,481 

specialised 

$'000 

59,159 

non-specialised 

$'000 

289 

buildings 

$'000 
72,929 

progress 

$'000 
10,831 

property 

$'000 
381,593 

At deemed cost 320 - - 320 - - - - - 320 

At anticipated restoration cost 11,401 - - 11,401 - - - - - 11,401 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (11,401) - (658) (12,059) (6,390) (24,320) (248) (30,958) - (43,017) 

 500 291,991 5,004 297,495 7,091 34,839 41 41,971 10,831 350,297 

Movements in fair value           
Acquisition of assets at fair value - 298 72 370 - 1,487 - 1,487 2,029 3,886 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 1,204 129,358 - 130,562 (3,189) (5,246) 24 (8,411) - 122,151 

Fair value of assets disposed - (2,920) - (2,920)  - - - - (2,920) 

Transfers - (2,158) - (2,158) - 3,807 - 3,807 (8,327) (6,678) 

 1,204 124,578 72 125,854 (3,189) 48 24 (3,117) (6,298) 116,439 

Movements in accumulated depreciation           
Depreciation and amortisation - - (114) (114) (107) (1,110) (3) (1,220)  (1,334) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) - - - - 2,603 (4,208) (21) (1,626)  (1,626) 

Accumulated depreciation of disposals - - - -  - - -  - 

Transfers - - - - - - - -  - 

 - - (114) (114) 2,496 (5,318) (24) (2,846) - (2,960) 

Land and buildings           
At fair value 30 June 2018 1,704 416,569 5,734 424,007 10,292 59,207 313 69,812 4,533 498,352 

At anticipated restoration cost 11,401 - - 11,401 - - - - - 11,401 

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (11,401) - (772) (12,173) (3,894) (29,638) (272) (33,804) - (45,977) 

 1,704 416,569 4,962 423,235 6,398 29,569 41 36,008 4,533 463,776 
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued) 

 
5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued) 

(b) Plant and equipment 

Plant machinery, 

equipment and 

motor vehicles 

 
Fixtures, fittings 

and furniture 

 
Computers and 

telecomms 

 
Artwork   Total plant and 

equipment 

Plant and equipment                                                                                        $'000                $'000                $'000                $'000                $'000 

At fair value 1 July 2017                                                                                     9,531                   2,209                   2,256                   2,432                 16,428 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017                                                          (6,053)                 (1,911)                 (2,008)                          -                  (9,972) 

3,478 298 248 2,432 6,456 
 

 
Movements in fair value 

Acquisition of assets at fair value                                                                          640                        52                      201                        43                      936 

Contributed assets                                                                                                      -                           -                           -                         -                           - 

Fair value of assets disposed                                                                          (1,209)                          -                     (281)                          -                  (1,490) 

Impairment losses recognised in operating result                                                      -                           -                           -                           -                           - 

(569) 52 (80) 43 (554) 

Movements in accumulated depreciation 

Depreciation and amortisation                                                                            (807)                    (139)                      (82)                          -                  (1,028) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements)                                                                        -                           -                           -                           -                           - 

Accumulated depreciation of disposals                                                                 862                           -                      281                           -                   1,143 

Impairment losses recognised in operating result                                                      -                           -                           -                           -                           - 

55 (139) 199 - 115 

Plant and equipment 

At fair value 30 June 2018 8,962 2,261 2,176 2,475 15,874 

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (5,998) (2,050) (1,809) - (9,857) 

2,964 211 367 2,475 6,017 
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued) 

 
5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued) 

(c) Infrastructure 

Roads Bridges Footpaths, Drainage    Recreational, Kerb and Waste Parks, open Other Work in Total 

trails and 

cycleways 

leisure and 

community 

channel management spaces and 

streetscapes 

infrastructure progress  infrastructure 

 

Infrastructure 

At fair value 1 July 2017 

$'000 

261,243 

$'000 

15,096 

$'000 

26,755 

$'000 

124,950 

$'000 

60,073 

$'000 

24,800 

$'000 

1,287 

$'000 

11,342 

$'000 

10,732 

$'000 

8,906 

$'000 

545,184 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (43,843) (5,185) (10,670) (41,885) (27,786) (8,283) (1,116) (3,160) (6,774) - (148,702) 

 217,400 9,911 16,085 83,065 32,287 16,517 171 8,182 3,958 8,906 396,482 

Movements in fair value 

Acquisition of assets at fair value 

 
2,639 

 
202 

 
1,345 

 
758 

 
1,046 

 
68 

 
- 

 
515 

 
169 

 
11,571 

 
18,313 

Contributed assets 129 - 80 4,863 - 28 - - - - 5,100 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) (6,043) (602) (1,701) - 55,684 534 - (50) - - 47,822 

Fair value of assets disposed (967) - (12) - - (3) - (429) - (7) (1,418) 

Transfers 2,664 784 292 - 440 - - 39 40 (937) 3,322 

 (1,578) 384 4 5,621 57,170 627 - 75 209 10,627 73,139 

Movements in accumulated depreciation 

Depreciation and amortisation 

 
(2,883) 

 
(173) 

 
(878) 

 
(1,390) 

 
(2,049) 

 
(525) 

 
(86) 

 
(374) 

 
(395) 

 
- 

 
(8,753) 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 5,195 102 (277) 1,959 (15,995) (368) - 18 - - (9,366) 

Accumulated depreciation of disposals 181 - 3 - - 1 - 371 - - 556 

Transfers - - - - - - - - - - - 

 2,493 (71) (1,152) 569 (18,044) (892) (86) 15 (395) - (17,563) 

Infrastructure            
At fair value 30 June 2018 259,665 15,480 26,759 130,571 117,243 25,427 1,287 11,417 10,941 19,533 618,323 

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (41,350) (5,256) (11,822) (41,316) (45,830) (9,175) (1,202) (3,145) (7,169) - (166,265) 

 218,315 10,224 14,937 89,255 71,413 16,252 85 8,272 3,772 19,533 452,058 
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Acquisition 

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as 

consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the price that 

would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date. 

 
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs 

incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed overheads. 

 
In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have been applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset 

class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year. 

 
Land under roads 

Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair value. 

 
Depreciation and amortisation 

Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are 

systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential 

embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major 

asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually. 

 
Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned 

distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component. 
 

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life. 

Artworks are not depreciated. 

Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. 
 

Depreciation periods used are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated. 

 
Repairs and maintenance 

Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair relates to the 

replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised and 

depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 
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Valuation of land and buildings 

Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer, Ms B Stephen of Matheson Stephen 

Valuations, valuer registration no. 63034. The valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on 

highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted through existing planning 

provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The 

adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement. 

 
Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) characteristics, 

access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services. This adjustment is 

an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement. 

 
Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant impact on the fair 

value of these assets. These unobservable inputs are not significant to the entire measurement. 

 
The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table. 

 
Details of Council’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are as follows: 

 

 Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 DoV 

$'000 $'000  $'000  
Land - specialised - 1,704  - Jun-18 

Land - non-specialised - 416,569  - Jun-18 

Land improvements - -  4,962 Jun-18 

Buildings - heritage - -  6,398 Jun-18 

Buildings - specialised - -  29,569 Jun-18 

Buildings - non-specialised - -  41 Jun-18 

Total - 418,273  40,970  
 

Valuation of infrastructure 

Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with a valuation undertaken by Council's Director 

Sustainability and Place Mr Hjalmar Philipp, Bachelor of Engineering (Civil), Graduate Diploma in Municipal Engineering, and 

MBA (Technology Management). 
 

The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table. 
 

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation. 

Details of Council's infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 DoV 

$'000 $'000 $'000  
Roads - - 218,315 Jun-18 

Bridges - - 10,224 Jun-18 

Footpaths and cycleways - - 14,937 Jun-18 

Drainage - - 89,255 Jun-18 

Recreational, leisure and community - - 71,413 Jun-18 

Kerb and channel - - 16,252 Jun-18 

Waste management - - 85 Jun-18 

Parks, open spaces and streetscapes - - 8,272 Jun-18 

Other infrastructure - - 3,772 Jun-18 

Total - - 432,525  
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Land under roads acquired after 30 June 2008 is brought to account using the deemed cost basis. Council does not recognise 

land under roads that it controlled prior to 30 June 2008 in its financial report. 

 
Land held at anticipated restoration cost , being the Plenty and Kangaroo Ground landfill sites, is recognised at cost to restore 

the site to the standard set out by the EPA and all applicable regulations. 

 
Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs include the 

current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs are calculated on a square metre 

basis and ranges from $230 to $3,500 per square metre. The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the 

current condition of buildings and vary from 50 years to 100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market 

conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to 

changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings. 

 
Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs include the current 

replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure asses are determined 

on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 1 year to 100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in 

market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure assets are 

sensitive to changes in use, expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure 

assets. 
 
 

 
 

Reconciliation of specialised land 

2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Land under roads 1,704 500 

Land held at anticipated restoration cost (Plenty / Kangaroo Ground Landfill 

Closure) 

11,401 11,401 

Less: accumulated depreciation (11,401) (11,401) 

Total specialised land 1,704 500 
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued) 2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

5.3 Investment in associate 

Investments in associate accounted for by the equity method is: 

-  Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 1,597 1,557 
 

Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 

Background 

 

The Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service consists of nine locations and a mobile 

library service. Responsibility for the provision and management of the Library Service 

rests with the Regional Library Board, which comprises two representatives from each 

of the three member councils. The Regional Library service operates as an 

independent legal entity and is audited annually by the Auditor General. 

 

Council's investment in the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service was increased by 

$39,619 (increase of $86,524 in 2016/17) due to the increase in the net assets position 

of the Corporation (audited at 30 June 2018). Council's equity interest based on 

contributions is 21.07 percent. 

Fair value of Council's investment in Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service 1,597  1,557 

 
Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit) 

   

Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at start of year 654  567 

Share of net profits/(losses) of associate 148  87 

Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at end of year 802  654 

 
Movement in carrying value of specific investment 

   

Carrying value of investment at start of year 1,557  1,470 

Share of surplus/(deficit) for year 40  87 

Carrying value of investment at end of year 1,597  1,557 

 
Council's share of expenditure commitments 

   

Operating commitments 74  81 

Capital commitments 65  110 

Council's share of expenditure commitments 139  191 

 
Council's share of contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

 
- 

  
- 

 
Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service Contributions 

   

Contributions to associate 2,694  2,690 

 
 

Associates are all entities over which Council has significant influence but not control or joint control. Investments in 

associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 

 
Council is not involved in any joint arrangements at balance date. 
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Note 6 People and relationships 2018 2017 

No. No. 

6.1 Council and key management remuneration 

(a) Related parties 

Subsidiaries and associates 

Interests in subsidiaries and associates are detailed in note 5.3. 

 
(b) Key management personnel 

Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at any time during 

the year are: 
 

Councillors Cr Peter Clarke (Mayor 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2018) 

Cr Jane Ashton (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Cr Grant Brooker (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Cr John Dumaresq (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Cr Karen Egan (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Cr Peter Perkins (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Cr Bruce Ranken (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

 
Chief Executive Mr Mark Stoermer (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 
Officer 

 
Key Management 

Personnel 

reporting directly 

to the CEO 

Mr Conal Creedon, General Manager Infrastructure Services (01/07/2017 - 03/07/2017) 

Mr Andrew Port, General Manager Corporate Services (01/07/2017 - 03/07/2017) 

Mr Hjalmar Philipp, Director Sustainability and Place (14/08/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Ms Lisa Pittle, Acting Director Sustainability and Place (01/07/2017 - 11/08/2017) 

Mr Matthew Kelleher, Director Services and Planning (17/08/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Mr Jeremy Livingston, Acting Director Services and Planning (01/07/2017 - 16/08/2017) 

Mr Adrian Cully, Director Business and Strategy (02/01/2018 - 30/06/2018) 

MS Rachel Cooper, Director Business and Strategy (24/07/2017 - 13/11/2017) 

Ms Naomi Paton, Acting Director Business and Strategy (01/07/2017 - 21/07/2017) 

Mr Jeremy Livingston, Manager Business Performance and Transformation (17/08/2017-04/02/2018) 

Mr Jeremy Livingston, Executive Manager Organisation Performance (05/02/2018 - 30/06/2018) 

Ms Suzy Ellingsen, Executive Manager People, Culture and Innovation (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Mr Vincenzo Lombardi, Executive Manager Finance (01/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 

Ms Blaga Naumoski, Executive Manager Governance (26/02/2018 - 30/06/2018) 

Ms Allison Watt, Executive Manager Governance (01/07/2017 - 05/01/2018) 

Mr Mitchell Grayson, Chief of Staff to Mayor and Councillors (04/07/2017 - 30/06/2018) 
 

 2018 

No. 

 2017 

No. 

 

Total number of Councillors 
 

7  
 

13 

Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel 15  12 

Total key management personnel 22  25 
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6.1 Council and key management remuneration 

(c) Remuneration of key management personnel 

Total remuneration of key management personnel paid in 2017-18 was as follows:  
Short-term benefits 2,124  2,326 

Long-term benefits 144  161 

Termination benefits 210  171 

Total 2,478  2,658 

 

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any related entities, fall within the 

following bands: 

 2018  2017 

No.  No. 

$1 - $9,999 -  5 

$10,000 - $19,999 1  5 

$20,000 - $29,999 8  2 

$30,000 - $39,999 1  - 

$50,000 - $59,999 1  1 

$70,000 - $79,999 2  - 

$100,000 - $109,999 1  - 

$110,000 - $119,000 1  - 

$120,000 - $129,999 1  - 

$150,000 - $159,999 -  2 

$160,000 - $169,999 -  3 

$170,000 - $179,999 1  1 

$180,000 - $189,999 2  - 

$210,000 - $219,999 2  4 

$320,000 - $329,999 1  2 

 22  25 
 

(d) Senior officer remuneration 

A senior officer is an officer of Council, other than key management personnel, who: 

a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or 

b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $145,000 2018 2017 

No. No. 

The number of senior officers are shown below in their relevant income bands: 

$145,000 - $149,999 7 2 

$160,000 - $169,999 - 3 

$170,000 - $179,999 2 1 

9 6 
 
 

 
 

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for senior officers included above, 

amounted to: 

2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

 
1,308 1,101 
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6.2 Related party disclosure 

 
(a) Transactions with related parties 

During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related 

parties: 

Purchase of property at public auction 

Payment of invoices to related party supplier for services rendered 

 
 
 
 
- 320 

- 10 

Total transactions with related parties - 330 

 
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties 

There were no outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties. 

 
(c) Loans to/from related parties 

There were no loans made, guaranteed or secured by Council to a related party during the reporting period and no loans 

to or from related parties outstanding as at the end of the reporting period. 
 

(d) Commitments to/from related parties 

There were no commitments in existence at balance date that were made, guaranteed or secured by Council. 
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7.1 Contingent assets and liabilities 

(a) Contingent assets 

From time to time Council receives gifted infrastructure assets from property developers. The nature and timing of these assets 

is conditional upon subdivisional requirements being completed. Once received by Council, ongoing maintenance costs become 

the responsibility of the Council. 
 

Total contributions – non-monetary received by Council 5,100 372 

 
(b) Contingent liabilities 

Superannuation 

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional 

contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below. As a result of the volatility in 

financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists. 

 
Future superannuation contributions 

Council has paid no unfunded liability payments to Vision Super. There were contributions outstanding of $82,806 ($18,388 as 

at 30 June 2017) and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2018. The expected contributions to be paid 

to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June 2018 is $0.128 million ($0.209 million as at 30 June 

2017). 
 

Legal Matters 

The Council is not presently involved in any significant legal matters. No allowance has been made in the financial report for 

contingencies of a legal nature. 

 
(c) Guarantees for loans to other entities 2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

 
Total guarantees for loans to other entities 974 1,077 

 
The amount disclosed for financial guarantee in this note is the nominal amount of the underlying loan that is guaranteed by the 

Council, not the fair value of the financial guarantee. 

 
Financial guarantee contracts are not recognised as a liability in the balance sheet unless the lender has exercised their right to 

call on the guarantee or Council has other reasons to believe that it is probably that that right will be exercised. 
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Note 7 Managing uncertainties 

 
7.2 Change in accounting standards 

The following new Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 

reporting period. Council has assessed these pending standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow 

from the application of these 

standards in future reporting periods. 

 
Financial Instruments - Disclosures (AASB 7) (applies 2018/19) 

This Standard requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate: (a) the 

significance of financial instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks 

arising from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed. 

 
Financial Instruments (AASB 9) (applies 2018/19) 

The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging 

accounting model and a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed to the current 

approach that recognises impairment only when incurred. 

 
Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for LG sector) 

The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is determined based on what 

the customer expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the 

amount expected to be entitled for performing under the contract. The full impact of this standard is not known. However, it is 

most likely to impact where contracts extend over time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or 

amount of the consideration, or where there are multiple performance elements. This has the potential to impact on the 

recognition of certain grant income. 

 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 2016-7) (applies 

2019/20) 

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2019. 

 
Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20) 

The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will be recognised in 

the Balance Sheet by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while 

future lease payments will be recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or loss will 

change. Rather than being shown as rent, or as leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, 

and an interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will be calculated using the effective interest method, which will 

result in a gradual reduction of interest expense over the lease term. 

 
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058 ) (applies 2019/20) 

This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for transactions where the 

consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value to enable to not-for-profit entity to further its objectives. 
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7.3 Financial Instruments 

(a) Objectives and policies 

The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables), 

payables (excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings. Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, 

including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in 

respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the notes of the financial statements. 

Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include 

identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation. 

 
(b) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of our financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in 

market prices. The Council's exposures to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to 

other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. 

 
Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate 

due to changes in market interest rates. Council's interest rate liability risk arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at 

fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest rate risk / Council does not hold any interest-bearing financial instruments that 

are measured at fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that 

the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal 

exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits that are at floating rate. 

 
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989. We manage 

interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures: 

- diversification of investment product; 

- monitoring of return on investment; and 

- benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget. 

 
There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing interest 

rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period. 

 
Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year-end result. 

 
(c) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause us to make a 

financial loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in our balance sheet. To help manage this 

risk: 

- Council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities we deal with; 

- Council may require collateral where appropriate; and 

- Council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in our investment 

policy. 

 
Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. Credit risk 

associated with the Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable 

property. 

 
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. 

 
Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when we provide a 

guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 7.1. 
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7.3 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(c) Credit risk (continued) 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any 

provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council does 

not hold any collateral. 

 
(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of our operational liquidity requirements or we will not have sufficient funds to settle 

a transaction when required, we will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a 

financial asset. 

 
To help reduce these risks Council: 

- have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained; 

- have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place; 

- have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments; 

- monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and 

- set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal repayments to 

rate revenue. 

 
The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face of the 

balance sheet and the amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 7.1(c), and is deemed insignificant based on 

prior periods' data and current assessment of risk. 

 

There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or 

the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period. 

 
With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade. Details of the 

maturity profile for borrowings are disclosed at note 4.4. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amount of financial instruments reflect their fair value. 

Fair value hierarchy 

Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, Council's financial assets and 

liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

 
(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis 

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of 

the financial markets, Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months: 
 

- A parallel shift of + 1 percent and -1 percent in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.65 percent. 
 

These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a 

material impact on the results of Council's operations. 
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7.4 Fair value measurement 

Fair value hierarchy 

Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy , Council's financial assets 

and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

 
Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards . 

AASB 13 Fair value measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value 

and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards. 

 
AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of 

whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 

 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair 

value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
 

 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 

 indirectly observable; and 

 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

 unobservable. 

 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

 
In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 
Revaluation 

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured at their 

fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of 

assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value.  Where the carrying value 

materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued. 

 
Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy.  Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only occur 

if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use on an asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest 

and best use of the asset. 

 
In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis, currently 

every second year.  The valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts. A formal 

revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure assets was undertaken in 2018. 

 
Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to the 

extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which 

case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense.  Revaluation decrements are recognised as an 

expense except where prior increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the 

decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  Within the same class of assets, revaluation 

increments and decrements within the year are offset. 
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7.4 Fair value measurement (continued) 

Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that these 

assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its 

recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount 

in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to 

the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset. 

 
7.5 Events occurring after balance date 

No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report. 
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Note 8 Other matters 

 
8.1 Reserves 

(a) Asset revaluation reserve Balance at Increment/ Balance at 

beginning of 

reporting period 

(decrement) end of reporting 

period 

 
2018 

Property 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Land, land improvements and playgrounds 191,818 130,531 322,349 

Buildings 13,526 29,654 43,180 

Total property 205,344 160,185 365,529 
 

Plant and Equipment 

Plant, machinery and vehicles 535 - 535 

Furniture, equipment and computers 689 - 689 

Artwork 1,368 - 1,368 

Total plant and equipment 2,592 - 2,592 
 

Infrastructure 

Roads 90,490 844 91,334 

Bridges 3,916 (500) 3,416 

Footpaths and cycleways 2,742 (1,980) 762 

Drainage 43,367 1,959 45,326 

Kerb and channel 8,139 167 8,306 

Traffic treatments 8,659 (1,694) 6,965 

Other infrastructure 401 - 401 

Total infrastructure 157,714 (1,204) 156,511 

Total asset revaluation reserves 365,651 158,981 524,632 

 
2017 

Property 

Land, land improvements and playgrounds 191,818 - 191,818 

Buildings 13,526 - 13,526 

Total property 205,344 - 205,344 
 

Plant and Equipment 

Plant, machinery and vehicles 535 - 535 

Furniture, equipment and computers 689 - 689 

Artwork 1,368 - 1,368 

Total plant and equipment 2,592 - 2,592 
 

Infrastructure 

Roads, earthworks 90,490 - 90,490 

Bridges 3,916 - 3,916 

Footpaths and cycleways 2,742 - 2,742 

Drainage 43,367 - 43,367 

Kerb and channel 8,139 - 8,139 

Traffic treatments 8,659 - 8,659 

Other infrastructure 401 - 401 

Total infrastructure 157,714 - 157,715 

Total asset revaluation reserves 365,651 - 365,651 
 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time. 
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8.1 Reserves (continued) 

(b) Other reserves 

Statutory reserves are those for which Council is required to separately account for by statute. Funds are held for specific 

purposes as described in the reserve account name. 

 
Discretionary Reserves are those for which Council does have discretion over the manner in which funds are expended. Funds 

held in these reserve accounts are held for the purposes describe in the reserve account name. 
 

Balance at Net of transfer Balance at 

beginning of 

reporting period 

to / (from) accum. 

surplus 

end of reporting 

period 

 
2018 

Statutory cash backed reserves 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Car parks 97 - 97 

Development planning overlays: infrastructure 2,810 165 2,975 

Development contribution plans: open space 2,102 341 2,443 

Development contribution construction 186 5 191 

Native vegetation 230 15 245 

Open space 1,015 489 1,504 

Street light contributions 28 - 28 

Street trees 76 - 76 

Yarrambat drainage scheme 424 43 467 

Yarrambat drainage extension area 153 4 157 

Total cash backed statutory reserves 7,121 1,062 8,183 

 
Discretionary reserves 

Bridgeford Estate 50 - 50 

Carried forward projects 12,598 2,069 14,667 

Cricket pitch renewal 2 3 5 

Defined benefit superannuation potential future calls 1,341 - 1,341 

Grants program management 62 (3) 59 

Information technology 987 (1) 986 

Leisure facility improvements 377 35 412 

MAV bond repayment 3,352 1,476 4,828 

Major projects 5,346 (3,579) 1,767 

Plant replacement 2,543 503 3,046 

Plenty and Kangaroo Ground landfill restoration 3,241 (122) 3,119 

Public art program 167 (13) 154 

Rates surplus 162 (162)    - 

Special rates  10  - 10 

Total discretionary reserves 30,238 206 30,444 

Total other reserves 37,359 1,268 38,627 
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8.1 Reserves (continued) Balance at Net of transfer Balance at 

beginning of 

reporting period 

to / (from) accum. 

surplus 

end of reporting 

period 

 
(b) Other reserves (continued) 

2017 

Statutory cash backed reserves 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Car parks 97 - 97 

Development planning overlays: infrastructure 2,643 167 2,810 

Development contribution plans: open space 1,885 217 2,102 

Development contribution construction 181 5 186 

Native vegetation 238 (8) 230 

Open space 937 78 1,015 

Street light contributions 28 - 28 

Street trees 76 - 76 

Yarrambat drainage scheme 401 23 424 

Yarrambat drainage extension area 149 4 153 

Total cash backed statutory reserves 6,635 486 7,121 

 
Discretionary reserves 

Bridgeford Estate 50 - 50 

Carried forward projects 11,449 1,149 12,598 

Cricket pitch renewal - 2 2 

Defined benefit superannuation potential future calls 1,341 - 1,341 

Grants program management 91 (29) 62 

Information technology 820 167 987 

Leisure facility improvements 327 50 377 

MAV bond repayment 1,785 1,567 3,352 

Major projects 5,658 (312) 5,346 

Plant replacement 1,792 751 2,543 

Plenty and Kangaroo Ground landfill restoration 3,236 5 3,241 

Public art program 137 30 167 

Rates surplus 162 - 162 

Special rates 15 (5) 10 

Total discretionary reserves 26,863 3,375 30,238 

Total other reserves 33,498 3,861 37,359 

 
 

 
 

(c) Statutory cash backed and capital works reserves 

2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Statutory cash backed reserves 8,183 7,121 

Discretionary reserves: 

Carried forward projects 14,667 12,598 

Plant replacement 3,046 2,543 

Bridgeford Estate 50 50 

Plenty and Kangaroo Ground landfill restoration 3,119 3,241 

Total externally restricted reserves 29,065 25,553 
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2018 2017 

Note 8 Other matters (continued) $'000 $'000 

 
8.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit) 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 16,552  15,922 

 

Depreciation 
 

11,115  
 

10,415 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (1,351)  896 

Share of net (profits)/losses of associate (40)  (87) 

Contributions - non-monetary assets (5,100)  (372) 

Borrowing cost 812  885 

Change in assets and liabilities:    
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 294  38 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (94)  (628) 

(Increase)/decrease in accrued income (2,511)  113 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3,414  780 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 1  (8) 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (422)  147 

Increase/(decrease) in trust funds 139  157 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 22,809  28,258 
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8.3 Superannuation 

Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local Authorities 

Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of 

which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in Comprehensive Income 

Statement when they are made or due. 

 
Accumulation 

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee contributions 

on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year 

ended 30 June 2018, this was 9.5 percent required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation). 
 

Defined Benefit 

Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's defined benefit category. 

This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a multi-employer sponsored plan. 

 
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as the 

defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the aggregate 

obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of Council in the Fund 

cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to 

allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119. 

 
Funding arrangements 

Council makes employer contributions to the defined benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on the 

advice of the Fund Actuary. 

 
As at 30 June 2017, a full triennial actuarial investigation was completed. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit 

category of which Council is a contributing employer was 103.1%. To determine the VBI, the Fund Actuary used the following 

long-term assumptions: 

 
Net investment return 6.5 percent p.a. 

 
Salary inflation 3.5 percent p.a. 

 
Price inflation (CPI) 2.5 percent p.a. 

 
Vision Super has advised that the actual VBI at 30 June 2018 was 106.0 percent. 

 
The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100 percent, the 30 June 2017 actuarial 

investigation determined the defined benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was necessary 

to the defined benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years. 
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8.3 Superannuation 

(continued) 

Regular contributions 

On the basis of the results of the 2017 triennial actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council makes 
employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. For the year 
ended 30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2016/2017). This rate will increase in line with any 
increases in the SG contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a 
consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit. 

 
Funding calls 

If the defined benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at actuarial investigation or the defined benefit 

category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the defined benefit 

category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is 

fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has 

set its shortfall limit at 97 percent. 
 

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s 
participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall. 

 
Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1 

July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s defined benefit category, together with the employer’s 
payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated. 

 
Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the Fund 

includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up. 

 
If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. 

 
In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to 
that employer’s successor. 

 
2017 triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts 

The Fund’s interim actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2017 identified the following in the defined benefit category of which 

Council is a contributing employer: 

- A VBI surplus of $69.8 million; and 

- A total service liability surplus of $228.8 million. 
 

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the 
vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2017. 

 
The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s defined benefit category plus 

expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses. 
 

Council was notified of the 30 June 2017 VBA during August 2017. 
 

2018 interim actuarial investigation 

An interim actuarial investigation will be conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2018. It is anticipated that this 
actuarial investigation will be completed in December 2018.
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Certification of the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 

 



 

186 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 
 

Auditor-General’s Report on the Financial Report and Standard Statements 
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Performance statement for the year ended 30 June 2018 

 
Description of municipality 

The Shire of Nillumbik covers an area of 432 square kilometres. At its south western gateway, Nillumbik is located less than 25 

kilometres north-east of Melbourne, and has the Yarra River as its southern boundary. It extends 29 kilometres to Kinglake National 

Park in the north/north-east and stretches approximately 20 kilometres from the Plenty River and Yan Yean Road in the west, to 

Christmas Hills and the Yarra escarpment in the east. 

 
Nillumbik has a population of 64,720 people who enjoy a healthy, safe, family-friendly lifestyle within close-knit communities. 

Nillumbik has a relatively healthy and affluent community which lives largely in family units in single dwelling properties. 

 
The Shire of Nillumbik is known as the Green Wedge Shire. The term Green Wedge is used by the State Government to describe 

non-urban areas that surround metropolitan Melbourne, outside the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). The Nillumbik Green Wedge 

covers 91 per cent of the total area of the Shire. 
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators 

Indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

Population 
Expenses per head of municipal population 
[Total expenses/Municipal population] 

$1,220.30 $1,447.43 $1,231.36 $1,240.88 

The current year result is reflective of a marginal 
increase in the municipal population relative to an 
increase in expenditure. The spike in 2016 is 
reflective of a one-off adjustment to the fixed asset 
register to correct ownership of non-council assets. 
The ratio is consistent with prior years.  

Population 
Infrastructure per head of municipal population 
[Value of infrastructure/Municipal population] 

$6,316.21 $7,081.93 $7,215.87 $7,704.20 
The increase is reflective of Council's continued 
investment in infrastructure and a stable population. 
The ratio is comparable to prior years.  

Population 
Population density per length of road 
[Municipal population/Kilometres of local roads] 

82.08 81.09 81.81 81.92 
The movement is reflective of a marginal increase in 
the municipal population. The ratio is consistent with 
prior years.  

Own-source revenue 
Own-source revenue per head of municipal population 
[Own-source revenue/Municipal population] 

$1,194.05 $1,212.10 $1,208.79 $1,203.11 
The ratio is comparable to prior years, with movement 
reflective of a marginal increase in the municipal 
population. 

Recurrent grants 
Recurrent grants per head of municipal population 
[Recurrent grants/Municipal population] 

$135.90 $81.75 $126.67 $99.06 
The decrease is due to the reduction of grants 
received during the current financial year and the 
timing of when grants were received in the prior year. 

Disadvantage 
Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage 
[Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage by decile] 

10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 
Council's relative socio-economic disadvantage 
remains stable and the current result is comparable to 
the previous year. 
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Service Performance Indicators 

Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

AQUATIC FACILITIES           

Utilisation 
Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities/Municipal 
population] 

4.18 2.56 0.80 0.94 

Council's only indoor aquatic facility at the Eltham 
Leisure Centre was closed during 2017-2018 while 
undergoing a $19 million redevelopment. This 
closure significantly impacted on the number of 
visits to Council's aquatic facilities. Council's only 
outdoor aquatic facility at Diamond Creek is open 
seasonally from November to March. 

ANIMAL MANAGEMENT           
Health and safety 
Animal management prosecutions 
[Number of successful animal management 
prosecutions] 

5.00 8.00 8.00 5.00 

All prosecutions were as a result of dog attacks or 
a dog rush. The annual results recorded are 
independent year on year, reflective of isolated 
incidents occurring within the shire. 

FOOD SAFETY           
Health and safety 
Critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications 
[Number of critical non-compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-compliance notifications 
about a food premises followed up / Number of critical 
non-compliance outcome notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a food premises] x100 

92.00% 100.00% 100.00% 95.24% 

120 out 126 were followed up in 2017. Six 
premises received follow-ups outside of the 
reporting period due to the time allowed to meet 
the compliance requirements. 

GOVERNANCE           
Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with council decisions 
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed in making decisions in the 
interest of the community] 

66.70 64.20 57.00 62.60 
Satisfaction with Council decisions improved 
significantly in 2018 by six percentage points, 
returning to the level of satisfaction in earlier years. 

HOME AND COMMUNITY CARE (HACC) 
    

  
Participation 
Participation in HACC service 
[Number of people that received a HACC 

25.00% 23.88% 
Reporting 
Ceased 1 
July 2016 

Reporting 
Ceased 1 
July 2016 

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due to 
the introduction of the Commonwealth 
Government's NDIS and CHSP programs. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 
service/Municipal target population for HACC services] 
x100 

Participation 
Participation in HACC service by CALD people 
[Number of CALD people who receive a HACC 
service/Municipal target population in relation to CALD 
people for HACC services] x100 

24.00% 40.84% 
Reporting 
Ceased 1 
July 2016 

Reporting 
Ceased 1 
July 2016 

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 2016 due to 
the introduction of the Commonwealth 
Government's NDIS and CHSP programs. 

LIBRARIES           

Participation 
Active library members 
[Number of active library members/Municipal population] 
x100 

25.00% 23.71% 25.94% 27.38% 

During the year, 17,720 Nillumbik residents were 
active library members. This figure does not take 
into account the number of residents who utilise 
the many services provided by the Eltham and 
Diamond Valley libraries but may not be members 
of the Yarra Plenty Regional Library Service. 

MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH (MCH)           
Participation 
Participation in the MCH service 
[Number of children who attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year)/Number of children enrolled in 
the MCH service] x100 

81.15% 72.88% 77.76% 78.76% 
The Maternal and Child Health Service continues 
to provide a connected and responsive program to 
families with young children in Nillumbik. 

Participation 
Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal children 
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the year)/Number of Aboriginal 
children enrolled in the MCH service] x100 

76.00% 75.76% 68.29% 78.95% 

The overall  MCH enrolment  of Aborginal families 
and young children demonstrates a connection to 
and linkages with the MCH service in Nillumbik. A 
small variation in the low raw numbers of this client 
group accounts for what otherwise appears to be a 
significant percentage increase from the previous 
year. 

ROADS           
Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with sealed local roads 
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed on the condition of sealed local 
roads] 

65.60 65.20 65.00 64.40 

In the 2018 Annual Community Survey, satisfaction 
with the maintenance and repairs of sealed local 
roads remained stable at 64.4 out of 100, 
compared to 65 out of 100 in 2017. This level of 
satisfaction remains categorised as 'good'. 
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Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations and Comments 

STATUTORY PLANNING           
Decision making 
Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not set aside 
council's decision in relation to a planning 
application/Number of VCAT decisions in relation to 
planning applications] x100 

36.00% 70.00% 63.16% 80.00% 

VCAT upheld more of Council's decisions in the 
2017-2018 financial year. Eight decisions were 
upheld out of 10, compared to 12 out of 19 in 
2016-17. 

WASTE COLLECTION           

Waste diversion 
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 
[Weight of recyclables and green organics collected 
from kerbside bins/Weight of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from kerbside bins] x100 

70.00% 69.30% 66.17% 63.66% 

Nillumbik residents diverted 13,640 tonnes of 
kerbside waste from landfill during FY 2017-2018, 
739 tonnes less than FY 2016-2017, ensuring 
Nillumbik continues to be well above the state 
diversion targets. 
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Financial Performance Indicators 

  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Material Variations 

and Comments 

EFFICIENCY                   

Revenue level 
Average residential rate per residential 
property assessment 
[Residential rate revenue/Number of 
residential property assessments] 

$2,463.03 $2,569.65 $2,617.22 $2,687.64 $2,731.72 $2,802.73 $2,881.73 $2,962.48 

The ongoing increase 
reflects budgeted 
increases in rates and 
charges and the 
anticipated additional 
rateable properties 
created during each 
year throughout the 
Shire.  

Expenditure level 
Expenses per property assessment 
[Total expenses/Number of property 
assessments] 

$3,186.17 $3,329.18 $3,240.42 $3,346.25 $3,565.96 $3,640.46 $3,714.67 $3,788.25 

This result shows the 
positive relationship 
between the growth in 
rateable properties 
across the Shire and 
corresponding growth 
in service expenditure.  



 

194 
 NILLUMBIK SHIRE COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 
 

  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Material Variations 

and Comments 

Workforce turnover 
Resignations and terminations compared to 
average staff 
[Number of permanent staff resignations and 
terminations/Average number of permanent 
staff for the financial year] x100 

5.68% 12.94% 10.31% 17.57% 5.76% 5.76% 5.76% 5.76% 

Due to an organisation 
restructure, the 
number of 
resignations/ 
terminations was 
higher than average. 
This is predicted to 
become stable in the 
outlying years. 

LIQUIDITY                   

Working capital 
Current assets compared to current liabilities 
[Current assets/Current liabilities] x100 

265.70% 351.48% 353.27% 337.37% 183.43% 177.52% 159.45% 151.18% 

This result is driven by 
cash on hand held, 
largely for scheduled 
capital works. In the 
forecast years, the 
decreasing trend is 
reflective of reduced 
cash balances held. 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Material Variations 

and Comments 

Unrestricted cash 
Unrestricted cash compared to current 
liabilities 
[Unrestricted cash/Current liabilities] x100 

71.82% 59.29% 53.74% 84.76% 39.89% 33.73% 35.48% 15.83% 

This result is reflective 
of a marginal increase 
in current liabilities and 
a larger proportion of 
cash being restricted 
for capital works. In the 
forecast years, 
movements in results 
are driven by the long-
term capital works 
program. 

OBLIGATIONS                   

Asset renewal 
Asset renewal compared to depreciation 
[Asset renewal expense/Asset depreciation] 
x100 

52.09% 74.99% 70.54% 47.69% 48.99% 40.23% 56.89% 53.32% 

The variance is 
reflective of Council 
allocating a larger 
proportion of capital 
works funding to 
upgrading facilities as 
opposed to renewal 
works. 

Loans and borrowings 
Loans and borrowings compared to rates 
[Interest bearing loans and borrowings/Rate 
revenue] x100 

26.74% 23.76% 21.53% 20.23% 18.85% 16.37% 14.90% 10.00% 

Council continues to 
reduce its existing 
loans and is not 
projecting to take out 
further loans in the 
future. 
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Material Variations 

and Comments 

Loans and borrowings 
Loans and borrowings repayments 
compared to rates 
[Interest and principal repayments on 
interest bearing loans and borrowings/Rate 
revenue] x100 

4.47% 2.88% 2.76% 2.44% 2.19% 3.04% 1.89% 5.19% 

Council's loan 
balances are reducing, 
while there are 
increases in rates and 
charges. 

Indebtedness 
Non-current liabilities compared to own 
source revenue 
[Non-current liabilities/Own source revenue] 
x100 

27.87% 34.24% 26.81% 23.53% 17.06% 15.73% 11.60% 10.54% 

The current year and 
projections in outer 
years show a declining 
result which is 
reflective of the 
reduction in debt and 
in increase in own 
source revenue. 

OPERATING POSITION                   

Adjusted underlying result 
Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit) 
[Adjusted underlying surplus 
(deficit)/Adjusted underlying revenue] x100 

9.79% -12.92% 8.46% 5.56% 0.66% 1.50% 2.26% 3.03% 

The trend is reflective 
of non-cash 
contributions received 
which are unexpected 
and hence not 
budgeted. 

STABILITY                   
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  Results Results Results Results Forecasts   

Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Material Variations 

and Comments 

Rates concentration 
Rates compared to adjusted underlying 
revenue 
[Rate revenue/Adjusted underlying revenue] 
x100 

66.41% 88.26% 73.59% 74.02% 74.50% 74.24% 74.24% 74.26% 

This result is reflective 
of the current and 
projected stability in 
underlying revenue 
and the projected 
increase in rates and 
charges.  

Rates effort 
Rates compared to property values 
[Rate revenue/Capital improved value of 
rateable properties in the municipality] x100 

0.41% 0.43% 0.39% 0.39% 0.32% 0.31% 0.31% 0.30% 

The consistent trend is 
reflective of projected 
annual property 
revaluations 
forecasting positive 
growth. 
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Note 1 Basis of preparation 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance statement 

includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial performance indicators and 

measures together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the results. This 

statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government 

(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 . 

 
Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases consistent with 

those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn from Council information 

systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics ). 

 
The performance statement presents the actual results for the current and three preceding years and for the 

prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. 

The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the 

results contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and 

measure and explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless 

the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 

 
The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in its strategic resource plan on 

26 June 2018 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key 

assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long 

term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The 

strategic resource plan can be obtained by contacting Council. 
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Certification of the Performance Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 
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Auditor-General’s report on the performance statement 
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Glossary of terms 

Advocacy The act of speaking on the behalf of or in support of another person, 
place, or thing. 

Agile Delivery An effective (rapid and adaptive) response to change; iterating quickly 
to deliver value to customers sooner. 

Artisan Hills Artisan Hills is a combined initiative of Nillumbik Shire Council, the 
Nillumbik Tourism Association, Diamond Creek Traders Association, 
Eltham Chamber of Commerce and Industry and Hurstbridge Traders 
Association. It represents a collective and unified approach to 
marketing and promotion of the Nillumbik Shire region. 

Asset management A systematic process to guide the planning, acquisition, operation and 
maintenance, renewal and disposal of assets. 

Best value Best value principles applicable to local government in Victoria are set 
out in Part 9 of the Local Government Act 1989. The principles relate to 
quality and cost standards, responsiveness to community needs, 
accessibility of services, continuous improvement, community 
consultation, and reporting. 

Business continuity The planning and preparation of an organisation to make sure it 
overcomes serious incidents or disasters and resumes its normal 
operations within a reasonably short period. 

Capital works Building and engineering works that create an asset, as well as 
constructing or installing facilities and fixtures associated with, and 
forming an integral part of, those works. 

Collaboration The process of two or more people or organisations working together 
to complete a task or achieve a goal. 

Community engagement A way of ensuring that community members have access to valued 
social settings and activities, feel that they are able to contribute 
meaningfully to those activities, and develop functional capabilities 
that enable them to participate fully. 

Community panel A decision-making body comprised of community representatives. 
Community panels are used by organisations to listen to their 
customers, members, and stakeholders in a systematic, timely and 
cost-efficient way. 

Continuous improvement An ongoing effort to improve products, services, or processes. 

Corporate governance The mechanisms, processes and relations by which a corporate body is 
controlled and directed. 

Customer experience The ongoing interaction between an organisation and a customer over 
the duration of their relationship. 

Financial performance 
indicators 

A prescribed set of indicators and associated measures in the Local 
Government Performance Reporting Framework that gauge financial 
management performance, including operating position, liquidity, 
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obligations, stability and efficiency. 

Future Nillumbik Committee A Special Committee made up of all seven Nillumbik Councillors. The 
committee agenda is structured on the portfolios assigned to individual 
Councillors, with the relevant portfolio Councillor to chair the section 
of the meeting for those items which relate to their portfolio. The 
Future Nillumbik Committee has delegated authority from Council to 
consider most matters, with some exceptions such as declaring a rate 
or charge and approving and abandoning planning scheme 
amendments. 

Green Wedge The non-urban areas of metropolitan Melbourne that sit outside the 
Urban Growth Boundary and were first identified in the 1960s. 

Human Centred Design Gathering customer insights into solving complex problems to design, 
test, and iterate solutions based on their feedback. 

Initiatives Actions that are one-off in nature and/or lead to improvements in 
service. 

Innovation The application of better solutions that meet new requirements. 

Landcare Landcare is a joint effort between the community, government and 
business to protect and repair the environment. 

Lean Thinking Understanding what the customer values and getting this value to the 
customer in the shortest time, to the best quality, at the cheapest 
price. 

Major initiatives Significant initiatives that directly contribute to the achievement of the 
council plan during the financial year and have a major focus in the 
budget. 

Material variations In the context of the Local Government Performance Reporting 
Framework (LGPRF), a material variation is a year-on-year variation 
exceeding the materiality threshold, as set either by council or taken 
from Local Government Victoria’s Report of Operations and 
Performance Statement Better Practice Guidance. 

Measure How an indicator will be measured and takes the form of a 
computation, often with a numerator and denominator. 

Mystery shopping survey A tool used externally by market research companies, watchdog 
organisations, or internally by companies themselves to measure 
quality of service, or compliance with regulation, or to gather specific 
information about products and services. 

Performance statement A statement that includes the audited results of a selection of service 
performance indicators, financial performance indicators and 
sustainable capacity indicators for the financial year and reported in 
the annual report. 

Report of operations A report containing a description of the operations of council during 
the financial year and included in the annual report. 

Risk management A process in which organisations identify, assess and treat risks that 
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could potentially affect their operations. 

SafetyMap An audit tool designed by WorkSafe to support workplaces in 
improving their ability to manage health and safety. It is the Victorian 
Work Cover Authorities version of AS/NZS 4801 and provides a means 
to undertake an independent audit and review of an organisation's 
health and safety management system. 

Service performance 
indicators 

As defined in the Local Government Performance Reporting 
Framework, these are a prescribed set of indicators measuring the 
effectiveness and efficiency of council services covering 
appropriateness, quality, cost and service outcomes. 

Services Assistance, support, advice and other actions undertaken by a council 
for the benefit of the local community. 

Strategic indicators Indicators developed for the purpose of monitoring the achievement of 
the objectives specified in the council plan. 

Strategic objectives The outcomes a council is seeking to achieve over the next four years 
and included in the council plan. 

Strategies High level actions directed towards achieving the strategic objectives in 
the council plan. 

Sustainability Meeting present day needs without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their needs. 

Sustainable capacity 
indicators 

A prescribed set of indicators in the Local Government Reporting 
Framework that measure whether councils have the capacity to meet 
the agreed service and infrastructure needs of the local community and 
absorb foreseeable changes and unexpected shocks into the future. 

Urban Growth Boundary A regional boundary, set in an attempt to control urban sprawl by 
mandating that the area inside the boundary be used for urban 
development and the area outside be preserved in its natural state or 
used for agriculture. 

Wards Subdivisions of the municipal area into sections with an elected 
Councillor to represent the different sections. 

Zines Self-published materials with short print runs. 
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Abbreviations and acronyms 

ASD Autism Spectrum Disorder 

CAPEX Capital Expenditure 

CBS Community Bank Stadium 

CFA Country Fire Authority 

CFG Community Fire Guard 

CHSP Commonwealth Home Support Program 

CI&I Continuous Improvement and Innovation 

DAMP Domestic Animal Management Plan 

DELWP Department of Environment, Land, Water & Planning 

EAP Employee Assistance Program 

EBA Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 

EEO Equal Employment Opportunity 

EFT Equivalent Full Time 

EMS Eltham Men’s Shed 

FOI Freedom of Information 

GSF Growing Suburbs Fund 

HACC PYP Home and Community Care Program for Younger People 

IAP2 International Association of Public Participation 

IBAC Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission  

KRA Key Result Area 

L2P Learner to Probationary (Learner Driver Mentor Program) 

LGBTI Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Intersex 

LGPRF Local Government Performance Reporting Framework 

MCH Maternal and Child Health 

MEMP Municipal Emergency Management Plan 

MFMP Municipal Fire Management Plan 

NELA North East Link Authority 

OCCS Organisational Culture and Capability Strategy 

OCPDP Office for the Commissioner for Privacy and Data Protection 

OHS Occupational Health and Safety 

OPEX Operating Expenditure 

OVIC Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner 

PDA Protected Disclosures Act 

PPARS Planning Permit Activity Reporting System 

SEIFA Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas 

SES State Emergency Services 

SIAP Strategic Internal Audit Plan 

UGB Urban Growth Boundary 
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VAGO Victorian Auditor-General’s Office 

VCAL Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning 

VCAT Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal 

VEC Victorian Electoral Commission 

VET Vocational Education and Training 

YPRL Yarra Plenty Regional Library 
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